

Doctoral Thesis

Circular bioeconomy applications in chemical engineering

carried out for the purpose of obtaining the degree of **Doctor technicae (Dr. techn.)**

submitted at TU Wien, Faculty of Mechanical and Industrial Engineering,

by

Fernando Ramonet Marqués, MSc.

Matr. Nr.: 12046010

Under the supervision of Ao.Univ.Prof. Dipl.-Ing. Dr.techn. Michael Harasek

and co-supervision of **Dr.techn. Bahram Haddadi, MSc.**

at the Institute of Chemical, Environmental and Bioscience Engineering, E166

Vienna, September 2023

Reviewed by

Prof. Dr. Ir. Steven De Meester Ghent University Sint-Martens-Latemlaan 2B 8500 Courtray Belgium Univ.Prof. Dr. Stavros Papadokonstantakis Technische Universität Wien (TU Wien) Getreidemarkt 9 1060 Vienna Austria





"The author gratefully acknowledges funding from European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement No. 860477 (AgRefine: A Disruptive Innovative Cooperative Entrepreneurial (DICE) education, training and skills development programme rolling out the next generation of Agri Biorefinery and Valorisation Bioeconomy leaders, http://www.agrefine.eu/). This work does not represent the opinion of the European Union, and the European Union is not responsible for any use that might be made of its content."

Going to press

I confirm that going to press of this thesis needs the confirmation of the examination committee.

Affidavit

I declare in lieu of oath that I wrote this thesis and performed the associated research myself, using only literature cited in this volume. If text passages from sources are used literally, they are marked as such.

I confirm that this work is original and has not been submitted elsewhere for examination, nor is it currently under consideration for a thesis elsewhere.

I acknowledge that the submitted work will be checked electronically-technically using suitable and state-of-the-art means (plagiarism detection software). On the one hand, this ensures that the submitted work adheres to the high-quality standards of the current rules for ensuring good scientific practice "Code of Conduct" at the TU Wien. On the other hand, a comparison with other students' theses avoids violations of my personal copyright.

Vienna, September 2023

Fernando Ramonet Marqués

Abstract

The transition to the bioeconomy requires the synergic integration of different technologies and existing industries. This thesis explores various applications of circular bioeconomy in chemical engineering, covering several key areas. Firstly, it presents a circular economy model designed explicitly for arid coastal regions with water scarcity by strategically incorporating existing technologies in these regions. The thesis then explores the potential utilization of unutilized carbon dioxide (CO₂) from biomethane plants for greenhouse crop farming. A growing and essential sector in the bioeconomy is the biorefinery industry, where bioreactors play a critical role as a key technology and essential component.

Computational fluid dynamics (CFD) has emerged as a crucial tool for designing, optimizing, and scaling bioreactors. In this thesis, CFD is employed to study the hydrodynamic behavior of pneumatic-driven bioreactors and the power consumption of mechanical mixing reactors. An emphasis is put on Internal Loop Air Lift Reactors (ILALRs). Global hydrodynamics is studied for different vessel shapes and multi-stage ILALRs with single, double, and triple draft tube configurations. Additionally, the impact of varying double-draft tube configurations on reactor performance and the design of draft tubes are thoroughly explored.

The optimization of microorganism growth and productivity in bioreactors heavily relies on the mixing strategy. In mechanical stirred systems such as the continuously stirred tank reactor (CSTR), power consumption is one of the main industrial concerns. Therefore, the efficient use of power in these systems is crucial for optimizing operational costs and ensuring sustainable operation. To assess energy efficiency, power consumption is compared among different stirring systems in CSTRs. This comparison is based on power numbers derived from both experimental measurements and simulated torque data, providing valuable insights into the performance of the stirring systems.

Continuing the exploration, the thesis advances an innovative concept for a two-stage covered lagoon anaerobic digester that integrates wind energy. This innovative proposition holds the potential to enhance the efficiency of anaerobic digestion processes while concurrently reducing capital expenditures, making it applicable to a wide range of scales, from small to large. Furthermore, a comprehensive safe-by-design framework is introduced, aiming to enhance safety considerations within biorefineries. This proposed framework aims to create a safer working environment while promoting sustainable practices within the industry.

The insights obtained from this thesis, encompassing the design and optimization of bioreactors and various chemical engineering applications for the emerging bioeconomy, hold significant promise for advancing sustainable practices, driving innovation, and fostering economic growth in diverse industries.

Deutsche Kurzfassung

Kurzfassung

Der Übergang zur Bioökonomie erfordert die synergetische Integration verschiedener Technologien und bestehender Industrien. In dieser Arbeit werden verschiedene Anwendungen der Bio-Kreislaufwirtschaft in der chemischen Verfahrenstechnik untersucht, wobei mehrere Schlüsselbereiche abgedeckt werden. Zunächst wird ein Kreislaufwirtschaftsmodell vorgestellt, das speziell für trockene Küstenregionen mit Wasserknappheit entwickelt wurde, indem bestehende Technologien in diesen Regionen strategisch eingebunden werden. Anschließend wird das Potenzial der Nutzung von ungenutztem Kohlendioxid (CO₂) aus Biomethananlagen für den Anbau von Gewächshauspflanzen untersucht. Ein wachsender und wichtiger Sektor der Bioökonomie ist die Bioraffinerie-Industrie, in der Bioreaktoren als Schlüsseltechnologie und wesentliche Komponente eine entscheidende Rolle spielen.

Die numerische Strömungsmechanik (CFD) hat sich als entscheidendes Werkzeug für die Auslegung, Optimierung und Skalierung von Bioreaktoren erwiesen. In dieser Arbeit wird CFD eingesetzt, um das hydrodynamische Verhalten von pneumatisch angetriebenen Bioreaktoren und den Energieverbrauch von mechanischen Mischreaktoren zu untersuchen. Ein Schwerpunkt liegt dabei auf Internal Loop Air Lift Reactors (ILALRs). Die globale Hydrodynamik wird für verschiedene Gefäßformen und mehrstufige ILALRs mit einfacher, doppelter und dreifacher Saugrohrkonfiguration untersucht. Darüber hinaus werden die Auswirkungen unterschiedlicher Doppelzugrohrkonfigurationen auf die Reaktorleistung und die Auslegung der Zugrohre eingehend untersucht.

Die Optimierung des Wachstums und der Produktivität von Mikroorganismen in Bioreaktoren hängt stark von der Mischstrategie ab. Bei mechanisch gerührten Systemen wie dem kontinuierlichen Rührkesselreaktor (CSTR) ist der Stromverbrauch eines der wichtigsten industriellen Anliegen. Daher ist die effiziente Nutzung der Energie in diesen Systemen entscheidend für die Optimierung der Betriebskosten und die Gewährleistung eines nachhaltigen Betriebs. Um die Energieeffizienz zu bewerten, wird der Energieverbrauch verschiedener Rührsysteme in CSTRs miteinander verglichen. Dieser Vergleich basiert auf Leistungszahlen, die sowohl aus experimentellen Messungen als auch aus simulierten Drehmomentdaten abgeleitet wurden und wertvolle Einblicke in die Leistung der Rührsysteme liefern.

Im weiteren Verlauf der Arbeit wird ein innovatives Konzept für einen zweistufigen, überdachten anaeroben Lagunenfermenter vorgestellt, der Windenergie integriert. Dieser innovative Vorschlag birgt das Potenzial, die Effizienz anaerober Vergärungsprozesse zu verbessern und gleichzeitig die Investitionskosten zu senken, so dass er in einem breiten Spektrum von kleinen bis großen Anlagen eingesetzt werden kann. Darüber hinaus wird ein umfassender Rahmen für eine sichere Auslegung eingeführt, der die Sicherheitsaspekte in Bioraffinerien verbessern soll. Der vorgeschlagene Rahmen zielt darauf ab, ein sichereres Arbeitsumfeld zu schaffen und gleichzeitig nachhaltige Praktiken in der Branche zu fördern.

Die in dieser Arbeit gewonnenen Erkenntnisse, die die Konstruktion und Optimierung von Bioreaktoren und verschiedene verfahrenstechnische Anwendungen für die aufstrebende Bioökonomie umfassen,

|||

sind vielversprechend, um nachhaltige Praktiken voranzutreiben, Innovationen voranzutreiben und das Wirtschaftswachstum in verschiedenen Branchen zu fördern.

Acknowledgments

I would like to begin by expressing my heartfelt gratitude to God, as well as to my parents and my wife, for their unwavering love, support, and encouragement throughout my journey in completing this thesis.

I would like to extend my most profound appreciation to Professor Michael Harasek for providing me with the invaluable opportunity to pursue my Ph.D. within his esteemed research group at TU Wien and for including me as a member of the AgRefine project. It has been an honor to work under his guidance and be a part of such a prestigious academic and research community.

Secondly, I express my sincere gratitude to the European Commission, the member states, and the taxpayers for their support in funding this research through the Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation program under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie Actions Scholarship. I would like to acknowledge their contribution to the successful completion of this work. In line with this appreciation, I assure you that the public reports (referred to as project deliverables) have been meticulously prepared, ensuring high quality and readability.

I would like to express my appreciation to all my AgRefine colleagues, especially to Mayuki, who provided invaluable assistance throughout this project.

I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to all my colleagues at TU Wien. Their unwavering support and assistance made the journey much smoother. I am deeply grateful for their collaboration and contributions, which played a significant role in the success of this venture. I would also like to express my gratitude to Micheal Galvin, his family, and Geraldine Butler for their support during my research stay in Ireland.

Lastly, I would like to thank Professor Stavros Papadokonstantakis and Professor Steven De Meester for accepting reviewing my thesis and being part of the examination committee.

Table of contents

Abstract		
Kurzfassung		
Acknowledgments		
Table of contents		
List of figures		
List of tables		
List of appended publications	XII	
Chapter 1. Introduction and motivation	1	
Chapter 2. State-of-the-art	8	
2.1. Circular economy	8	
2.2. Circular bioeconomy	8	
2.3. Biorefineries	9	
2.4. Integrating existing industrial infrastructure into biorefineries	12	
2.5. Anaerobic digestion	13	
2.6. Modeling and simulation	16	
2.7. Computational fluid dynamics	16	
2.8. Designing safe biorefineries	18	
Chapter 3: Problem Statement	19	
Chapter 4. Research Approach	20	
Chapter 5. Results and Discussion	44	
5.1. Circular economy model 44		
5.2. CO ₂ enrichment for greenhouse crop farming 46		
5.3. Hydrodynamic study in air lift bioreactors with computational fluid dynamics	48	
5.4. Power consumption in continuously stirred tank reactors	66	
5.5. Retrofitting existing infrastructure for the bioeconomy	69	
5.6. Safety considerations in biorefinery design and operation	73	
5.7. Summary	74	
Chapter 6. Conclusions and Outlook	76	
References	78	
Appendix A		
Journal Publication 1		
Journal Publication 2		
Journal Publication 3 8		
Journal Publication 4		
Journal Publication 5 8		
Journal Publication 6 90		
Journal Publication 7	106	
Conference Publication 1 112		
Conference Poster 1		

Conference Poster 2	114
Conference Poster 3	115
Public report 1	116
Public report 2	117
Public report 3	118
Curriculum Vitae	119

List of figures

Figure 1. Schematic of Internal Loop Air Lift Reactor. Adopted from Conference Publication 1	_ 11
Figure 2. Biogas Plants in Europe 2020. Adopted from Public Report 2	_ 14
Figure 3. Methodology followed to develop the circular economy model.	_ 22
Figure 4. Schematic of the simplified calculation.	_ 23
Figure 5. Schematic of detailed calculation. Extracted from Ramonet et al. (2022).	_ 24
Figure 6. Meshes utilized in mesh study. Adopted from Public Report 2.	_ 25
Figure 7. Geometries utilized for the study. Adopted from Journal Publication 3.	_ 27
Figure 8. Geometries utilized in the study. Adopted from Journal Publication 4	_ 28
Figure 9. Ten geometries utilized in the study. Adopted from Journal Publication 4	_ 29
Figure 10. Circulation loop and sample points. Adopted from Journal Publication 4.	_ 30
Figure 11. Single, double, and triple draft geometries. Adopted from Conference Publication 1.	_ 31
Figure 12. Probes for measuring. Adapted from (Ramonet et al., 2023)	_ 31
Figure 13. Experimental setup and computational domain. Extracted from Journal Publication 5.	_ 33
Figure 14. Comparison of Computational Geometries and Real Stirrers in Stirred Tank Reactors.	_ 34
Figure 15. Proposed multistage anaerobic digester.	_ 37
Figure 16. Manure flow in the system	_ 38
Figure 17. Existing infrastructure in farm 1	40
Figure 18. Existing infrastructure in farm 2.	41
Figure 19. Circular economy model. Adopted from Journal Publication 1	45
Figure 20. Attribute evaluation of technologies utilized in the circular economy model. Adopted from Journal Publication 1	n _ 45
Figure 21. Process followed to develop new perspective. Adopted from Journal Publication 1.	_ 46
Figure 22. Timeline of works in air lift reactors during the thesis. Adapted from (Ramonet et al., 202	23).
	_ 48
Figure 23. Squared (a), cylindrical (b), and cylindrical conned bottom (c) geometries, (d) circulation loops. Adopted from Journal Publication 3.	49
Figure 24. Riser and downcomer velocity of squared geometry. Adopted from Ramonet et al. (2022	2). 51
Figure 25. Riser and downcomer velocity of cylindric geometry. Adopted from Ramonet et al. (2022	2). 51
Figure 26. Riser and downcomer velocity of cylindrical coned bottom geometry. Adopted from Ramonet et al. (2022).	_ 52
Figure 27. Axial water velocities on the riser of squared, cylindrical, and cylindrical coned bottom geometries. Adopted from Ramonet et al. (2022).	_ 52
Figure 28. Axial water velocities on the downcomer of squared, cylindrical, and cylindrical coned bottom geometries. Adopted from Ramonet et al. (2022).	_ 53
Figure 29. Ten geometries utilized in the study. Extracted from Ramonet et al. 2023.	_ 54
Figure 30. Riser and downcomer velocity for geometries 1 and 2. Adapted from Journal Publication	1 4. _ 55

Figure 31. Riser and downcomer velocity for geometries 3, 4, 5, and 6. Adapted from Jour Publication 4.	mal 5
Figure 32. Riser and downcomer velocity for geometries 7, 8, 9, and 10. Adapted from Jou Publication 4.	urnal 5
Figure 33. Axial water velocities of double-stage internal loop ALRs simulated. A) geometrieb b) geometries 3, 4, 5, and 6, and c) geometries 7, 8, 9, and 10. Adopted from Journal Pub	ries 1 and 2 plication 4.5
Figure 34. Axial water velocity of Geometry 9. Adopted from Journal Publication 4	6
Figure 35. Downcomer velocity of geometries 1, 2, 7, 8, 9 and 10. Adopted from Journal F	ublication 4 6
Figure 36. Streamlines coloring the velocity in m/s of geometries 1, 2, 7, 8, 9, and 10. Ado Journal Publication 4.	pted from 6
Figure 37. Model validation from literature values for 0.01 and 0.02 m/s. Adapted from Jou Publication 4	ırnal 6
Figure 38. Comparison of riser velocity of Single Draft tube Geometry (SDG), Double Draf Geometry (DDG), and Triple Draft tube Geometry (TDG). Adapted from Conference Publi	ft tube cation 1.6
Figure 39. Comparison of riser and downcomer velocity of Single Draft tube Geometry (SI Draft tube Geometry (DDG), and Triple Draft tube Geometry (TDG). Adapted from Confer Publication 1	DG), Double ence 6
Figure 40. a) Water velocity magnitude of single, double, and triple draft tube geometries of maximum velocity of 0.1 m/s. b) Downcomer velocity of single, double, and triple draft tube geometries colored at a maximal downcomer velocity of 0.025 m/s. Adopted from Confere Publication 1.	colored at a e ence 6
Figure 41. Lagrangian particles coupled with the liquid phase (a) at 7 seconds, (b) at 15 s at 33 seconds, and (d) at 75 seconds. Adapted from Conference Publication 1	econds, (c) 6
Figure 42. Particle tracks of 25 particles with particle velocity magnitude (m/s) during 75 so simulation. Adopted from Conference Publication 1.	econds of 6
Figure 43. Velocity profiles of three stirrer types a) pitched blade at 750 RPM, b) 6-cage ir 700 RPM, and c) paddle impeller at 300 RPM. Adopted from Journal Publication 5.	npeller at 6
Figure 44. Velocity profiles stirrer 1 at 550, 650, 750, 850, 950, 1050, 1150, and 1250 RPI from Journal Publication 5.	M. Adopted 6
Figure 45. Velocity profiles stirrer 2 at 400, 450, 500, 600, 700, 800, 900, and 950 RPM. A Journal Publication 5	\dopted from
Figure 46. Velocity profiles stirrer 3 at 130, 150, 175, 200, 225, 250, 300, and 325 RPM. A Journal Publication 5	dopted from
Figure 47. Proposed systematic transition	7
Figure 48. Attribute evaluation of different proposed configurations.	7
Figure 49. Schematic of the proposed system	7
Figure 50. Water and biogas streams in the system.	7
Figure 51. Integrated Framework for Safe by Design in Biorefineries.	7
Figure 52. Comprehensive Framework for Safe by Design in Biorefineries: Layered Appro Safety, Environmental Responsibility, and Reliability	ach for 7
Figure 53. Biological degradation of manure in uncovered anaerobic lagoons. Adapted fro et al., 2006).	m (Hamiltoi 9
Figure 54. Proposed multistage anaerobic digester	9
Figure 55. Manure flow in the system.	g

Figure 56. Attribute evaluation of different proposed configurations.	97
Figure 57. Proposed systematic transition	98
Figure 58. Methodology utilized to determine the dimensions of the systems.	99
Figure 59. Map of Ireland showing the six chosen farms from the Heavy Soils program.	_ 100
Figure 60. Average wind velocity on the six chosen farms at 20- and 30-meter heights. Data extra from the Wind Mapping System from (SEAI, n.d.)	acted _ 100
Figure 61. Existing infrastructure in farm 1	_ 101
Figure 62. Existing infrastructure in farm 2.	_ 101
Figure 63. Average wind velocity of farms 1 and 2 at 20- and 30-meter heights. Data extracted from the Wind Mapping System from (SEAI, n.d.).	от _ 102
Figure 64. Resulting schematic of the proposed system.	_ 103
Figure 65. Water and biogas streams in the system	_ 103

List of tables

Table 1. Air velocity in different meshes. Adopted from Public Report 2	_ 26
Table 2. Mesh convergence error.	26
Table 3. Identification and planification.	36
Table 4. Optative configurations.	37
Table 5. Farm herd by size with an average air and soil temperature in degrees centigrade. Data	
extracted from TEAGASC (2017). Adopted from Journal Publication 6.	_ 39
Table 6: Potential yearly CO ₂ use by month based on sunshine hours at Bruck an der Leitha. Adop	oted
from Journal Publication 2.	_ 47
Table 7: Summary of results. Adopted from Journal Publication 2.	_ 47
Table 8: Mesh properties.	_ 48
Table 9: Summary from computation. Adapted from Journal Publication 3.	_ 49
Table 10: Obtained results. Adopted from Ramonet et al. (2022).	_ 50
Table 11. Mesh properties of double-stage ALR geometries utilized for Journal Publication 4. Adoption	oted
from Journal Publication 4	_ 55
Table 12. Results from the simulations.	_ 58
Table 13. Simulation results from Conference Publication 1. Adapted from Ramonet et al. (2023) _	_ 64
Table 14. Comparison of experimentally measured vs. simulated torque.	_ 67
Table 15: Comparison of experimentally measured vs. simulated power number.	_ 67
Table 16. Identification and planification.	_ 95
Table 17. Optative configurations	_ 96
Table 18. Farm herd by size with an average temperature of air and soil in degrees centigrade. Da	ita
extracted from TEAGASC (2023).	100
Table 19. Potential biogas production per farm.	102

List of appended publications

Journal publications

This Dissertation is grounded on the following publications. Certain specific sections and results from these publications are included in this document to provide context. However, the full description and results can be found in the respective publications for a comprehensive understanding and detailed information. The publications are referenced in the text using the assigned numerals listed below.

Journal Publication 1	Mayuki Cabrera-González, <u>Fernando Ramonet</u> , Michael Harasek. Development of a Model for the Implementation of the Circular Economy in Desert Coastal Regions. Land 2022, 11, 1506. DOI: <u>10.3390/land11091506</u>
Journal Publication 2	<u>Fernando Ramonet</u> , Cristian Jordan, Bahram Haddadi, Michael Harasek. Anaerobic Digestion as a Carbon Capture, Storage, and Utilization Technology, Chemical Engineering Transactions, 96, 49-54, 2022. DOI: <u>10.3303/CET2296009</u>
Journal Publication 3	<u>Fernando Ramonet</u> , Bahram Haddadi, Cristian Jordan, Michael Harasek. Modelling and Design of Optimal Internal Loop Air-Lift Reactor Configurations Through Computational Fluid Dynamics. Chemical Engineering Transactions, 94, 817-822, 2022. DOI: <u>10.3303/CET2294136</u>
Journal Publication 4	<u>Fernando Ramonet</u> , Bahram Haddadi, Michael Harasek. Optimal Design of Double Stage Internal Loop Air-Lift Bioreactor. Energies, 16(7), 3267. DOI: <u>10.3390/en16073267</u>
Journal Publication 5	<u>Fernando Ramonet</u> , Mara Kovacevic, Bahram Haddadi, Cristian Jordan, Michael Harasek. Bioreactor Mixing: A Comparison of Computational Fluid Dynamics and Experimental Approaches in the Pursuit of Sustainable Bioprocessing for the Bioeconomy. Special Issue: E2DT 2023 - Chemical Engineering Transactions. Status: submitted, June 2023

Unpublished Manuscripts

The two manuscripts presented here are an essential component of the thesis and are currently undergoing finalization. While the manuscripts are still being completed, this document provides an overview of the important findings and results.

Journal Publication 6	<u>Fernando Ramonet</u> , Tim Gleeson, Micheal Galvin, Bahram Haddadi, Michael Harasek. Anaerobic Digestion as A Tool to Mitigate Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Animal Slurries. Status: Manuscript, in writing
Journal	Fernando Ramonet, Mayuki Cabrera-González, Michael Harasek. Promoting Safe
Publication	Operations in Biorefineries: A Comprehensive Safe by Design Framework.
7	Status: Manuscript, in writing

Conference publications

The following conference publications served as crucial proof of concept, demonstrating how the scientific community responded to the topics and providing valuable insights and feedback.

Conference Publication 1	<u>Fernando Ramonet</u> , Bahram Haddadi, Markus Bosenhofer, Michael Harasek. Modelling of Multi-Stage Internal Loop Air Lift Bioreactor Utilizing Computational Fluid Dynamics, 7th Minisymposium Verfahrenstechnik and 8th Partikelforum, BOKU, Vienna, April 13th – 14th, 2023, ISBN: 978-3-900397-08-1.
Conference Poster 1	Mayuki Cabrera-González, <u>Fernando Ramonet</u> , Michael Harasek. Development of a Model for the Implementation of the Circular Economy in Desert Coastal Regions. Circular@WUR: Living within planetary boundaries, Wageningen University and Research, Wageningen, 11-13 April, 2022. DOI: <u>10.13140/RG.2.2.21658.11200</u>
Conference Poster 2	<u>Fernando Ramonet</u> , Michael Harasek. Modelling Study on the Co-Digestion of Nopal Cladodes with Farm Manures. 30th European Biomass Conference & Exhibition (EUBCE2022).Paris, France (online), 9-12 May, 2022, ISBN: 978-88-89407-22-6
Conference Poster 3	<u>Fernando Ramonet</u> , Bahram Haddadi, Michael Harasek. Modelling And Characterization Of Internal Loop Air Lift Bioreactor Configurations Through Computational Fluid Dynamics. Biorefine Conference 'The role of biorefineries in European agriculture'. Ghent, Belgium, 30-31 May, 2022. DOI: <u>10.13140/RG.2.2.16383.89765</u>

Public reports

Dissemination to the general public and policy makers played a significant role in sharing the findings and outcomes of the research. The public reports were designed to effectively communicate the key insights, implications, and recommendations to a broader audience, including individuals, organizations, and policy makers involved in shaping and implementing relevant policies and initiatives.

Public Report 1	Srija Balachandran, Mariana Cerca, Rushab Chopda, <u>Fernando Ramonet</u> , Charlene Vance, Steven De Meester, Michael Harasek Erik Meers, Fionnuala Murphy, Ana Robles-Aguilar. State-of-the-art Report on Anaerobic Digestion and Biorefinery Systems Level Design. European Comission. Reference Ares(2021)2235935 - 31/03/2021.
Public Report 2	<u>Fernando Ramonet</u> , Michael Harasek. CFD optimisation and analysis of existing AD and Biorefineries Report. European Comission. Reference Ares(2021)7353824 - 29/11/2021.
Public	Fernando Ramonet, Michael Harasek. Geometry and CFD results for AD retrofit and
Report 3	TPB up scaling Report. European Comission. Submitted on February 7, 2023.

Author's Contributions

Journal publications

Journal Publication 1	Fernando Ramonet: conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualization. Mayuki Cabrera-González: Conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualization. Michael Harasek: supervision, project administration, funding acquisition.
Journal Publication 2	Fernando Ramonet: conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualization. Cristian Jordan: supervision. Bahram Haddadi: supervision. Michael Harasek: supervision, project administration, funding acquisition.
Journal Publication 3	Fernando Ramonet: conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualization. Cristian Jordan: supervision. Bahram Haddadi: supervision. Michael Harasek: conceptualization, supervision, project administration, funding acquisition.
Journal Publication 4	Fernando Ramonet: conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualization. Bahram Haddadi: supervision. Michael Harasek: supervision, project administration, funding acquisition.
Journal Publication 5	Fernando Ramonet: conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualization. Mara Kovacevic: conceptualization, methodology. Cristian Jordan: conceptualization, supervision. Bahram Haddadi: supervision. Michael Harasek: supervision, project administration, funding acquisition.
Journal Publication 6	Fernando Ramonet: conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualization. Tim Gleeson: conceptualization. Micheal Galvin: conceptualization. Bahram Haddadi: supervision. Michael Harasek: supervision, project administration, funding acquisition.
Journal Publication 7	Fernando Ramonet: conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualization. Mayuki Cabrera-González: Conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualization. Michael Harasek: supervision, project administration, funding acquisition.

Conference publications

Conference Publication 1	Fernando Ramonet: conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualization., Markus Bosenhofer: conceptualization, methodology. Bahram Haddadi: supervision. Michael Harasek: supervision, project administration, funding acquisition.
Conference Poster 1	Fernando Ramonet: conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualization. Mayuki Cabrera-González: Conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualization. Michael Harasek: supervision, project administration, funding acquisition.
Conference Poster 2	Fernando Ramonet: conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualization. Michael Harasek: supervision, project administration, funding acquisition.
Conference Poster 3	Fernando Ramonet: conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualization. Bahram Haddadi: supervision. Michael Harasek: supervision, project administration, funding acquisition.

Public reports

Public Report 1	Fernando Ramonet, Srija Balachandran, Mariana Cerca, Rushab Chopda, Charlene Vance: conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualization., Michael Harasek, Steven De Meester, Erik Meers, Fionnuala Murphy, Ana Robles-
	Aguilar: supervision, project administration, funding acquisition.
Public Report 2	Fernando Ramonet: conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualization., Michael Harasek: supervision, project administration, funding acquisition.
Public Report 3	Fernando Ramonet: conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualization., Michael Harasek: supervision, project administration, funding acquisition.

Chapter 1. Introduction and motivation

"Human activities, principally through emissions of Green-House Gases (GHG), have unequivocally caused global warming" (IPCC, 2023). According to the Intergovernmental Panel for Climate Change (IPCC), due to the unsustainable utilization of energy and land, changes in land use, lifestyles, and patterns of consumption of individuals, countries, and regions, the global surface temperature has increased by 1.1 °C in 2011–2020, with respect to the 1850–1900 levels (IPCC, 2023).

The Paris Agreement (United Nations, 2016) has been a steppingstone for international cooperation on climate change as 195 countries (United Nations, 2023) agreed on a global goal of limiting global warming below 2 °C above pre-industrial levels and pursuing efforts to limit the temperature increase to 1.5 °C above pre-industrial levels.

Significant changes are necessary to combat the rising global temperatures, as highlighted by a survey study published in the journal Nature (Tollefson, 2021). According to the survey (Tollefson, 2021), a considerable number of the authors involved in the 2021 IPCC report, 92 out of 233 surveyed anonymously, believe that achieving the 1.5 °C target is unlikely without changes to current norms, practices, and technologies.

To address this issue, the European Union has launched several initiatives, including the Green Deal, European Bioeconomy Strategy, Circular Economy Action Plan, Clean Energy for All Europeans Package, European Climate Law, Farm to Fork Strategy, and the EU Biodiversity Strategy for 2030, among others. These initiatives aim to reduce carbon emissions, promote sustainable agriculture and energy, and encourage a circular economy, all of which are crucial in achieving a more environmentally friendly future.

The Green Deal and the European Bioeconomy Strategy are among the key initiatives that are crucial in achieving the EU's carbon neutrality target by 2050. With the EU Bioeconomy Strategy at the forefront, research is increasingly focused on the potential of biomass as well as the tools used to convert it, including biorefineries and bioreactors, which are considered key technologies in this field. These technologies play a vital role in transforming biomass into a wide range of products. By doing so, they offer immense potential to support the development of a sustainable and circular bioeconomy, while reducing dependence on non-renewable resources and addressing environmental challenges like climate change and resource scarcity.

In order to shift from an economy based on oil to one based on biomass, it is necessary to develop flexible biorefineries that can be integrated with existing industrial infrastructure, such as biogas plants. According to Cherubini et al. (2009), existing industrial infrastructure can be classified for its suitability to be retrofitted into biorefineries according to their type of products, feedstocks, transformation processes, and the platforms they use. Utilizing this classification, biorefineries can be integrated into existing infrastructure.

The circular bioeconomy has emerged as a circular production method based on biomass resources, facilitated by biorefineries and bioreactors. This approach makes carbon sequestration from biomass sources possible, reducing greenhouse gas emissions and decreasing our dependence on oil-based products. In addition, responsible farming practices like sequential cropping (Magnolo et al., 2021) are promoted while taking into account ecosystem protection. As a result, sustainable biomass utilization, carbon sequestration, and responsible farming practices have gained significant importance in the development of the circular bioeconomy, further highlighting its potential to address environmental challenges and promote a sustainable and circular economy.

The European Commission has funded several projects with Horizon 2020 to promote the circular bioeconomy. One of these projects is the AgRefine project, which focuses on developing advanced biorefinery technologies for green and algal biorefineries. The aim is to train the next generation of bioeconomy leaders by creating new and optimizing current agri-resource and agri-waste valorization pathways. The project consists of 15 highly interdisciplinary and inter-sectoral Ph.D. projects, each specializing in specific aspects of the bioeconomy. The researchers were trained in several cross-cutting, multi-disciplinary, and highly interdisciplinary advanced technical subject areas, including chemical and process engineering, biological science, life cycle assessment, and economics. The project also aims to promote sustainable value chain creation and combined evaluation of legislation and policy with industry-led innovation of AgRefine technology. The project's specific objectives include creating a three-phase reactor technology to implement AgRefine's valorization cascade, developing an entire supply chain sustainability plan, and creating economically robust supply chains and sound business models.

The AgRefine project is organized into three distinct work packages (WPs) to achieve its objectives. The first work package (WP1) focuses on developing technology for creating a three-phase reactor system that can optimize the production of high-value products from biomass. This includes the development of a whole-cell biosensor platform to identify key-performance indicators in real-time, as well as the screening, identification, and genetic engineering of microorganisms to remove contaminants in the third phase of the reactor. The second work package (WP2) is focused on systems-level design to ensure the environmental and social sustainability of the AgRefine bioeconomy. This includes the development of supply chain management strategies, retrieving mineral nutrients from processed biomass, and using optimized CFD to improve plant retrofitting and upscaling. Finally, the third work package (WP3) is focused on value chains, including the development of supply chain sustainability plans and the creation of economically robust supply chains and business models. This includes the identification of innovative business models for the AgRefine sector and the design of governance arrangements to encourage responsive innovation and policy frameworks that support the development of AgRefine technology.

Overall, the AgRefine project is an ambitious and innovative initiative to develop advanced biorefinery technologies for the "agri-bioeconomy" industry. By providing Early Stage Researchers (ESRs) with the necessary skills and knowledge, the project aims to train the next generation of bioeconomy leaders and position Europe as a global leader in this field. The project has the potential to create significant

economic, social, and environmental benefits, and its outcomes will be closely watched by industry stakeholders, policymakers, and researchers alike.

This thesis is framed on the AgRefine project's WP2 scope, which, as mentioned above, focuses on system-level design. The sub-project of which this thesis is part is titled "Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD) Analysis and Retrofit of Existing Anaerobic Digestion (AD) and Biorefineries," and the objective is to use optimized CFD to improve the geometric and operational aspects of biogas plants and Three Phase Bioreactor (TPB) systems. The secondary objectives include developing modeling concepts based on the Design of Experiments to improve the geometric design and find optimal operating conditions under design constraints. The project also aims to disseminate an open-source CFD toolbox for the flow investigation of TPB systems.

Several actors will play a key role in the transition to the circular bioeconomy. Some of these actors are chemical engineers who design, operate, and optimize biochemical, chemical, petrochemical, and pharmaceutical plants. Chemical engineers are devoted to their role in developing a sustainable future. In 1997, eighteen professional chemical engineers' societies around the world signed the London Communiqué, promising to use their skills to improve the quality of life, foster employment, advance economic and social development and protect the environment, all with the goal of making the world a better place for future generations (Perkins, 2003).

This thesis proposes developing a new circular bioeconomy model (Journal Publication 1) and analyses the different technologies that can be applied in the bioeconomy. Such as utilizing remaining carbon dioxide (CO₂) from a biomethane upgrading plant for greenhouse crop farming by CO₂ enrichment (Journal Publication 2), proposing a novel bioreactor geometry, and performing a detailed CFD investigation to describe how the system's internal geometry affects the overall reactor's performance through mixing (Journal Publication 3, Journal Publication 4, and Conference Publication 1). CFD was also utilized to characterize different stirrers' performance (Journal Publication 5). A systems perspective was used to retrofit farm-opened anaerobic lagoons to self-sustainable covered lagoons and propose a new scalable two-stage anaerobic digester system that utilizes the kinetic energy from small wind turbines to mix the inside of the digester's contents (Journal Publication 6). Lastly, the thesis explores the concept of safe-by-design for biorefineries (Journal Publication 7), ensuring a holistic and sustainable approach throughout the entire bioeconomy process.

1.1. Paper summary

1.1.1. Journal publication 1

This work proposes a circular economy model for developing arid coastal regions. By combining the environmental know-how of two coastal desert regions on the American continent (the Atacama Desert in Chile and the Sonoran Desert in Mexico) with similar geographical characteristics a general model for a circular economy in stressed environmental conditions is developed. The proposed model includes the use of solar energy for water desalination and energy production, hydroponic farming, microalgae and seaweed for biofuels and biochemicals, anaerobic digestion

for organic waste management and nutrient recovery, and hydrogels for irrigation. The model requires regional policies and governance to incentivize its adoption, and further studies are recommended to ensure its environmental, social, and economic sustainability before pilot testing.

1.1.2. Journal publication 2

This work proposes using unutilized carbon dioxide (CO_2) from biomethane plants for greenhouse crop farming. The study focuses on the Bruck an der Leitha (Austria) biogas plant and determines the number of hectares of greenhouses that can be enriched with CO_2 . The optimal greenhouse designs for completely closed and partially opened greenhouses are calculated using two methodologies, a simplified and a detailed calculation. The study concludes that the optimal greenhouse areas for both methods agree and that using CO_2 for greenhouse crop farming can reduce biogas plant emissions. Additionally, the possibility of using the CO_2 by-product for algae farming is briefly mentioned.

1.1.3. Journal publication 3

This work investigates the use of air-lift reactors (ALRs) in biorefineries, focusing on the design and placement of draft tubes for better flow control and improved mass transfer. The study compares the flow characteristics of three different internal loop ALR geometries using CFD and finds that the squared single and double draft tube reactor had a higher downcomer velocity, higher turbulence kinetic energy, and lower loop circulation time than the other configurations. The study also shows that the ratio of the draft tube-vessel width and the distance between the draft tube and the fluid's surface affects the draft tube's loop circulation time. The paper concludes that further research is needed to determine the impact of different draft tube parameters on flow behavior in ALRs.

1.1.4. Journal publication 4

This work examines the hydrodynamic behavior of a double-stage internal loop air-lift bioreactor using CFD simulations. The study focused on analyzing the impact of different double-draft tube configurations on the hydrodynamics of the reactor. Ten different geometric configurations were investigated, with variations in draft tube placement, liquid height, the distance between draft tubes, and draft tube diameters. Results suggest that the placement of the draft tubes heavily influenced the hydrodynamic behavior of the reactor, with smaller distances between draft tubes and a funnel configuration leading to higher velocities. The study provides valuable insights into the optimal configurations of air-lift bioreactors, which could contribute to developing more efficient biorefining concepts. The findings can be used to forecast the most optimal configurations of airlift bioreactors and have significant value for developing more efficient bioreactor systems in the transition towards a sustainable bioeconomy.

1.1.5. Journal publication 5

This work emphasizes the importance of mechanical mixing in bioreactors for optimizing microorganism growth and productivity. The study utilizes CFD simulations with OpenFOAM® to predict the power number of various stirring devices in a lab-scale reactor. Experimental and simulation results of three different stirring devices were compared, and the study demonstrates

the value of CFD models in optimizing bioreactor design and predicting their performance. The findings are relevant for industries seeking to optimize bioreactor design and enhance productivity through better mixing processes. While some simulation inaccuracies were observed, the study validates the usefulness of CFD models in bioreactor design optimization. Further research is recommended to identify methods for reconciling experimental and simulated values and minimizing any discrepancies.

1.1.6. Journal publication 6

In this work, a novel concept is proposed for a two-stage covered lagoon anaerobic digester that utilizes the wind's kinetic energy to power the stirring systems. The retrofit of opened anaerobic lagoons to covered lagoons is also proposed for reducing biogas emissions of livestock.

1.1.7. Journal publication 7

In this work, a safe-by-design framework for biorefineries is proposed. The framework emphasizes the integration of safety considerations from the conceptual design phase, ensuring secure and sustainable operations.

1.1.8. Conference publication 1

This work uses CFD to compare the hydrodynamics of internal loop air lift bioreactors with different internal configurations. The research integrates an in-house Lagrangian particles coupling utility into an Eulerian solver to evaluate the residence time distribution in each circulation loop. Each configuration showed its own strengths and weaknesses at different reactor heights, and the particle tracking simulations allowed for better flow visualization. The study highlights the potential for future research on multiphase bioreactors, such as comparing the behavior of multiphase systems between the Euler-Euler simulation coupled with Lagrangian particles and a three-phase simulation incorporating solid-liquid-gas phases. Additionally, incorporating heating jackets into the double and triple-stage internal loop air lift bioreactor configurations could be an interesting application. The findings provide valuable insights for optimizing and designing internal loop air lift bioreactors for various biological applications.

1.1.9. Conference poster 1

This work develops a circular economy model for desert coastal regions based on the water cycle. Solar energy is utilized to power a water desalination plant to get fresh water. This freshwater can be used for hydroponic farming in non-arable soil, such as Antofagasta, or irrigation water dosing with hydrogels in semi-arable soil, such as agricultural land in Sonora. Seawater is suitable for microalgae production in raceway ponds, while seaweed can be farmed in the ocean for biochemical production. Microalgae can be used for biofuel production, among other applications. The residue streams from agricultural systems, microalgae, and seaweed can be processed through anaerobic digestion to produce biogas, with the digestate providing nutrients for agriculture. Biogas can be upgraded into biomethane, with CO₂ as feed for the microalgae. At the same time, a combined heat and power (CHP) unit can produce electrical energy for the grid and heat for desalination, capturing the exhaust gas and purifying it, and feeding the CO₂ to the microalgae.

Recovered nutrients from the digestate can be added to the hydroponic system. Additionally, byproducts like glycerol from biofuel production can improve biogas yields in anaerobic digestion.

1.1.10. Conference poster 2

This work uses the Anaerobic Digestion Model Number 1 (ADM1) to determine the biogas yield in the co-digestion of nopal cladodes with cow manure, swine manure, and chicken manure. The nopal cladodes are mixed with each manure on a ratio of 3:1, and the chemical characteristics for each substrate were taken from the literature. The results showed that the combination of cow manure and nopal cladodes performs better than those of swine manure and nopal cladodes and chicken manure and nopal cladodes. The potential benefits of using nopal cladodes in biogas production are highlighted due to their endurance to drought and arid conditions provided by their crassulacean acid metabolism. Research has shown that accurate calibration of the ADM1 requires experimental data to determine the biochemical parameters of the mixtures at different phases of the anaerobic digestion process. Therefore, further research is necessary to achieve a complete stoichiometric characterization of the process.

1.1.11. Conference poster 3

This work uses CFD to simulate the flow of six different internal loop airlift bioreactor geometries with different interior configurations. The simulations were conducted using the open-source software OpenFOAM®, and the results show that varying design parameters can lead to optimal configurations that can lead to more efficient biorefinery concepts. It was found that splitting the draft tube enhances mixing on the upper part of the bioreactor, and the ratio of bioreactor diameter versus draft tube diameter affects the downcomer velocity.

1.1.12. Public report 1

In this report, a state-of-the-art review of anaerobic digestion and biorefinery system levels design focused on supply chain management, scalability, retrofitting, recovery of volatile fatty acids, nutrient recovery, and sustainability assessment methodologies for biorefineries.

1.1.13. Public report 2

In this report, a state-of-the-art review of reactor geometries and operating condition statuses was performed. Computational fluid dynamic simulations were utilized for several anaerobic digester and biorefinery systems. The modeled systems were continuously stirred tank reactor, plug flow digester, bubble column, and air lift reactor.

1.1.14. Public report 3

In this report, an open-source toolbox was disseminated to study bioreactor systems. The toolbox consists of a series of OpenFOAM® tutorials developed for bioreactors. In Chapter 1, the importance of bioreactor modeling is addressed. Chapter 2 is an introduction to the open-source software OpenFOAM®. Chapter 3 is a tutorial on power consumption estimation on CSTRs with CFD. Chapter 4 is a tutorial on multiphase mixing with CSTRs. Chapter 5 is an upscaling tutorial

for pneumatic-driven anaerobic digesters or bubble columns. Chapter 6 is a tutorial on how to perform optimization of airlift reactors based on our previous research.

1.2. Aim of the work

The aim of the thesis is to explore and develop sustainable solutions for various environmental challenges by utilizing circular economy models and optimizing bioreactor designs. The thesis includes seven journal publications, one conference publication, three posters, and three reports that cover a range of topics, such as circular economy models for arid coastal regions, the use of unutilized carbon dioxide for greenhouse crop farming, the hydrodynamic behavior of air-lift bioreactors, the importance of mechanical mixing in bioreactors, and a novel concept for a two-stage covered lagoon anaerobic digester. The thesis aims to provide valuable insights for developing more sustainable solutions for various environmental challenges, such as reducing CO₂ emissions, water scarcity, and organic waste management. Furthermore, it introduces a safe-by-design framework, ensuring the integration of safety considerations within the scope of biorefineries and bioeconomy development.

Chapter 2. State-of-the-art

2.1. Circular economy

The circular economy represents a significant shift away from the current linear production systems. It is a new paradigm that requires a fresh perspective to achieve significant breakthroughs. Boardman and Sauser (2008) suggest that leveraging minor shifts in perspective is crucial to realizing the potential of the Circular Economy (CE). Pearce and Turner (1989) introduced the concept of CE in their book, highlighting the interdependence between the environment and the economy. There are several definitions of the CE, but two of the most cited are the following. CE can be defined "as an economic system that replaces the conventional concept of "end-of-life" with a focus on reducing, reusing, recycling, and recovering materials throughout the production, distribution, and consumption processes" (Kirchherr et al., 2017). This definition emphasizes the importance of reducing waste by effectively managing materials across their life cycle. Another widely cited definition, put forth by the Ellen MacArthur Foundation (2015), characterizes the CE as "a new economic model that is restorative or regenerative by design and focuses on resource-related challenges for economies and businesses." In this context, the CE is centered around designing a life cycle that eliminates waste by using it as a feedstock or recirculating it.

According to Skawińska and Zalewski (2018), CE can be utilized as an effective management model to achieve sustainable development. This model can be applied in various ways, such as establishing and enforcing environmental regulations, developing a circular resource management system, promoting stakeholder cooperation in a collaborative sharing economy, and building social capital.

The main objective of the CE is to minimize waste by adopting a carefully planned life cycle approach that involves using waste streams as feedstock and recycling waste within the system (Balachandran et al., 2021). The European Union has emphasized the importance of achieving circularity through its Circular Economy Action Plan (European Commission, 2020), which prioritizes the transition towards a circular economy.

2.2. Circular bioeconomy

The bioeconomy refers to an economy where the fundamental constituents for materials, chemicals, and energy production are obtained from renewable biological resources (McCormick and Kautto, 2013). The European Bioeconomy Action Plan (European Commission, 2019) defines the bioeconomy as a comprehensive framework encompassing various sectors and systems reliant on biological resources, including animals, plants, micro-organisms, and derived biomass, along with their associated functions and principles. The bioeconomy encompasses the utilization of land and marine ecosystems and their services, primary production sectors such as agriculture, forestry, fisheries, and aquaculture, as well as economic and industrial sectors that leverage biological

resources and processes to generate food, feed, bio-based products, energy, and services (European Commission, 2019).

The circular bioeconomy can be seen as the intersection or merging point between the circular economy and the bioeconomy (Tan and Lamers, 2021). The concept of circular bioeconomy represents the integration of the objectives of the circular economy and the bioeconomy, encompassing different levels of focus on biotechnology (Kershaw et al., 2021).

The successful implementation of the bioeconomy requires collaboration between governments, the private sector, and academia. Academia and the private sector must work together to advance labscale and pilot-scale prototypes to an industrial scale. Governments can incentivize the private sector to invest in biorefinery systems by establishing appropriate regulations (Philp, 2018). Institutions play a crucial role in driving technology development for the bioeconomy (Cabrera-González et al., 2022). To enable the development of the bioeconomy, it is essential to invest in research and infrastructure and bridge the gap between demonstration and industrialization by promoting the development of large-scale biorefineries (Global Bioeconomy Summit, 2020). The bioenergy industry is expected to play a crucial role in realizing a biobased economy by providing the necessary industrial infrastructure for transitioning towards biorefineries (Van Ree, 2017). Recognizing the potential of co-producing bioenergy and biomaterials in biorefineries, the International Renewable Energy Agency has emphasized its significance in reducing carbon emissions across various industrial processes while meeting the increasing demand for sustainable production (IRENA, 2020). Biorefining is considered the optimal solution to achieve large-scale sustainable utilization of biomass in the bioeconomy, which entails addressing the challenges of technology development and scaling up biorefinery operations by adopting best practices (IEA Bioenergy, 2015).

Within the context of the circular bioeconomy, biorefineries, including their essential components such as bioreactors, play a vital role as they provide the necessary infrastructure for the sustainable utilization of biomass, production of bioenergy and biomaterials, thus contributing to the circularity of resources.

2.3. Biorefineries

Biorefineries offer potential pathways for fabricating polymers, organic chemicals, fuels, and electricity from biomass produced with complex processing technologies (Maity, 2015). The biorefinery concept, with its cascading approach of utilizing biomass feedstocks, has emerged as a critical component of the bioeconomy, offering the production of multiple valuable products such as proteins for human food and feed, biofuels, biochemicals, and bioplastics, while seamlessly integrating with established biotechnologies like anaerobic digestion for the generation of bioenergy and fertilizer (Vance et al., 2022). Biorefineries have different classifications depending on the feedstock they process, the processes taking place, and the produced products.

Under the first classification, there are four generations. The first generation includes agricultural crops, the second generation comprises residues, agroindustry residues, and non-edible crops, the third generation includes algae, and the fourth generation includes genetically modified microalgae (Moncada et al., 2014). The International Energy Agency task 42 workgroup proposed the second classification, which consists of a systematic classification system that describes different biorefineries depending on their platforms, products, feedstocks, and processes (Cherubini et al., 2009). The last classification is according to the products and by-products they produce, and they can be classified as energy-based biorefineries (biofuel, biopower, bioheat/cold, and biogas), product-based biorefineries (chemical-based and material-based), and flexible biorefineries, which can change their production from food ingredients to non-food products based on market prices and demand (Moncada et al., 2015; Van Ree, 2017). Different families of products should be integrated with first, second, and third-generation feedstocks to have a flexible biorefinery.

In Europe, there are currently 224 biorefineries operating, with different feedstocks and product types. These include 63 biorefineries running on sugar and starch for bioethanol and other chemicals, 118 biorefineries running on oil and fat feedstocks for biodiesel and oleo-chemistry, 25 biorefineries running on wood, five biorefineries running on lignocellulose, and 13 biorefineries running on biowaste (BBIC, 2017). Several pilot plants have also been tested, such as green biorefinery, lignocellulosic biorefinery based on beech wood, lignocellulose feedstock biorefinery, and microalgae biorefinery (Ecker et al., 2012; Kamm et al., 2010; Laure et al., 2014; Michels and Wagemann, 2010; Nurra et al., 2014).

Biorefinery processes involve pre-treatment, fermentation, and downstream processing, and their efficiency depends on factors such as reaction kinetics, metabolic state, cell physiology, reactor design, instrumentation, control, and separation processes (Cabrera-González et al., 2021).

Bioreactors, also known as fermenters, are crucial in biorefinery operations. They provide a controllable environment for transforming low-value substrates into high-value products using living cells or enzymes (Singh et al., 2014). The main types of bioreactors are continuously stirred tank bioreactors, bubble column bioreactors, airlift bioreactors, fluidized bed bioreactors, packed bed bioreactors, and photobioreactors (Ramonet and Harasek, 2021).

CSTRs are widely used in biorefineries to make liquid concentrations uniform, transfer heat, disperse gas bubbles, and suspend particles and cells in the fluid (Schügerl, 1990). Photobioreactors utilize light energy for photosynthetic processes and can be categorized as open or closed systems (Ho et al., 2011).

Mixing systems in bioreactors can be mechanical or hydraulic (pneumatic). Mechanical mixing employs impellers driven by electric motors, and the power consumption is determined by the dimensionless power number (Ramonet and Harasek, 2021). Different types of impellers, such as turbines and paddles, are used for mechanical mixing in bioreactors (Ramonet and Harasek, 2021).

Among the novel bioreactors, the air lift bioreactor provides low shear forces during mixing, low energy consumption, and adequate heat and mass transfer, as mentioned in **Journal Publication 4**. ILALRs belong to the category of modified bubble column reactors, characterized by a baffle or draft tube that serves to split the internal structure. The ALR is structured into four hydrodynamic sections, including the riser, gas separation, downcomer, and bottom clearance while employing a pressure gradient generated by the average density between the riser and the downcomer as a pneumatic mixing strategy (**Conference Publication 1**). The four hydrodynamic zones of the ILALR can be seen in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Schematic of Internal Loop Air Lift Reactor. Adopted from Conference Publication 1.

During the state-of-the-art review conducted for bioreactors in **Public Report 2**, a relatively unexplored geometry known as the multi-stage internal loop air lift reactor was discovered. It was first proposed by Blenke (1979), where it was found that when dividing the draft tube section into two or three sections, the mixing was enhanced. As a result, multi-stage concentric draft tube geometries were developed, aiming to improve performance. Blenke's divided draft tubes demonstrated significant reductions in mixing time, achieving up to 80 % reduction for double draft tubes and up to 87.50 % for triple draft tubes (Blenke, 1979). In a separate study, Siegel and Merchuk (1988) conducted experimental investigations on an internal loop split ALR by modifying the volume of the gas-liquid separator, a crucial factor influencing the reactor's mass transfer coefficient.

Several experimental studies have investigated the characteristics and behavior of multi-stage internal loop ALRs. Li and Qi (2014) focused on examining the flow patterns and hydrodynamics of such reactors. Li et al. (2018) studied the specifics of bubbles and the hydrodynamics within a two-stage internal loop ALR involving three phases. In a separate study by Tao et al. (2020), the emphasis was placed on hydrodynamics and mass transfer in a three-stage ILALR. Notably, this

research highlighted the differences between gas-liquid bubbly flow and gas-liquid-solid slurry flow, emphasizing the significant implications of these distinctions for the reactor's performance and efficiency.

Regarding simulations with CFD, the only other authors who explored the multistage ILALR with CFD were Shi et al. (2021). In their study, Shi et al. (2021) investigated the effect of a contraction and expansion vane between the draft tubes.

In conclusion, biorefineries and bioreactors offer promising prospects for producing valuable products from biomass. The classification, processes, and design of biorefineries and bioreactors are critical in optimizing bioprocesses and achieving efficient conversion. The integration of already existing industrial infrastructure is explored in the following section.

A more detailed state-of-the-art on Biorefineries can be consulted in Chapter 2, "Biorefineries" of the appended report "CFD Optimization and Analysis of Existing AD and Biorefineries Report" (**Public Report 2**).

2.4. Integrating existing industrial infrastructure into biorefineries

Kromus et al. (2004) suggested incorporating anaerobic digesters into biorefineries as a valorization technique for generating lactic acid, amino acids, fibers, and energy within the green biorefinery framework. Continuing with the current emphasis on fostering a sustainable and circular bioeconomy, the convergence of biorefineries with existing biogas plants emerges as a groundbreaking technology with significant promise. The utilization of anaerobic digesters is a fundamental aspect of biorefineries (Sawatdeenarunat et al., 2016), serving as one of the final steps in the process of product valorization (Hagman et al., 2018). However, the challenge of scaling up biorefineries is a crucial issue to be addressed to facilitate a successful transition toward the bioeconomy, and utilizing existing infrastructure is essential in achieving this goal (Hingsamer and Jungmeier, 2019).

Determining the suitability of existing industrial infrastructure for retrofitting into biorefineries depends on several factors, such as product type, feedstock, transformation processes, and the platforms used (Cherubini et al., 2009). This classification system allows for the integration of biorefineries into these facilities. Biorefineries and existing industrial infrastructure share common features, and the combination of feedstocks and platforms is more critical than the combination of platforms and processes to facilitate integration (Jungmeier and Buchsbaum, 2014).

Utilizing the existing infrastructure of petroleum refineries can present a technically and economically feasible approach for the large-scale advancement of biobased biorefineries (Kumar and Verma, 2021). Additionally, IEA Bioenergy (2015) suggests that integrating biogas systems with other compatible processes, such as aquaculture, alcohol, or biorefinery systems, is another feasible combination.

In the field of biorefineries, the development of novel technologies is vital to ensure higher addedvalue production and stimulate the export of sustainable products and technologies, thereby increasing competitiveness (Hingsamer and Jungmeier, 2019).

By retrofitting existing industrial infrastructure systems into biorefineries, the principles of the circular economy are embraced through the reuse of facilities, resulting in minimized capital investments needed for establishing a biorefinery. Within this integrated framework, anaerobic digestion plays a crucial role in processing the organic residues and by-products generated by biorefineries. This biomass valorization cascading approach prioritizes the extraction of high-value compounds for pharmaceutical applications, followed by their utilization in food and feed production and, subsequently, in the production of bulk chemicals. Finally, anaerobic digestion is employed to generate bioenergy from the remaining biomass, completing the sustainable utilization cycle.

2.5. Anaerobic digestion

Anaerobic digestion (AD) is a widely used technology for treating organic waste, particularly in the context of biogas production. In AD, microorganisms break down organic matter in the absence of oxygen, producing biogas, mainly composed of methane and carbon dioxide.

A biogas facility utilizes biological microorganisms to convert plant and animal-based materials into methane, carbon dioxide, and other gases through anaerobic digestion (Sasse, 1988). The resulting biogas can be utilized to produce electricity and heat through a CHP unit or upgraded into biomethane, serving as a renewable natural gas (Laing et al., 2020).

According to the European Biogas Association (EBA) statistical report of 2020, Europe had 18,943 biogas plants by the end of 2019, of which 725 were biomethane plants (EBA, 2021). The distribution of biomethane plants in Europe was concentrated mainly in Germany, France, the United Kingdom, Sweden, the Netherlands, Denmark, and Switzerland, accounting for 90 % of the total, while the remaining 10 % were located in other European countries (EBA, 2021). Figure 2 shows the distribution of biogas plants in Europe per country.

Biogas Plants in Europe 2020				
Germany	11,269		81 Hungary	
Italy	1,710		64 Portugal	
United Kingdom	1,233	4 138 99	53 Greece	
France	890	210	53 Latvia	
Switzerland	636		51 Ukraine	
Czech Republic	578	13	38 Lithuania	
Austria	423	341 38	31 Ireland	
Poland	315	31 250 815	30 Luxembourg	
Netherlands	260	149 11.269 578	23 Slovakia	
Sweden	210	423 51	22 Serbia	
Spain	210	890 630 13 15	15 Romania	
Belgium	189	Biogas Plants 22	15 Estonia	
Denmark	141	11,269	14 Cyprus	
Norway	138	64 51	13 Croatia	
Slovakia	124		11 Bulgaria	
Finland	99	4	4 Iceland	
Total 18,425				

Figure 2. Biogas Plants in Europe 2020. Adopted from Public Report 2.

On a global scale, in 2019, there were 606 biogas upgrading plants worldwide, and Europe alone had 606 installed biomethane plants, as reported by the IEA Bioenergy Task 37 (2019). The predominant technologies used for biogas upgrading included water scrubbing, membrane separation, chemical scrubbing, and pressure swing adsorption (EBA, 2021; IEA Bioenergy Task 37, 2019).

The number of newly installed biomethane plants has shown a consistent increase over the years, with membrane separation technologies gaining popularity. This information is supported by data from the EBA (2021), which indicates a 16 % overall growth in the number of biomethane plants. Figure 19 of the appended **Public Report 2** provides insights into the distribution of biogas upgrading technologies across various European countries (EBA, 2021).

AD systems consist of different components, including feedstock pre-treatment, digester vessels, mixing systems, and control and monitoring systems. The choice of feedstock and its pre-treatment significantly influence the performance and efficiency of AD. Various pre-treatment methods, such as thermal, mechanical, and chemical processes, can enhance the digestibility of feedstock and increase biogas production (Carlsson et al., 2012; Krishna and Kalamdhad, 2014). Substrate characteristics, such as volatile solids content, moisture content, and particle size, play a crucial role in determining the performance of the AD process (Mshandete et al., 2006; Zamri et al., 2021).

Digester vessels are designed to provide optimal conditions for microbial activity. Different types of digester configurations, such as CSTRs, plug flow digesters, and covered lagoons, have their own advantages and disadvantages (Ramonet and Harasek, 2021). The selection of the digester configuration depends on factors like substrate characteristics, process stability, and specific requirements of the application.

Adequate mixing is crucial for maintaining a homogeneous environment and maximizing biogas production. Mixing modes can be continuous or intermittent and categorized as mechanical, hydraulic, or pneumatic (Mao et al., 2019). The mixing process's effectiveness depends on various factors associated with the rheology of the substrate, the vessel's design (including size and shape), the characteristics of the mixers (including quantity, placement, and orientation), and the operational procedure employed. These parameters encompass aspects such as the method of substrate feeding (continuous or intermittent), the temperature of the bulk liquid, the velocity of mixing, and whether the mixing is conducted continuously or intermittently (Conti et al., 2019). While mechanical mixing has been extensively studied, gas mixing remains poorly understood. The uniformity index and relative occupancy concepts offer improved analysis of mixing efficiency (Dapelo and Bridgeman, 2020).

The energy consumption of AD systems depends on various parameters, including substrate rheology, digester and mixer design, and operational procedures, such as mixing mode and time (Singh et al., 2019). Power input per unit digester volume increases logarithmically for scale-up digesters (Dapelo and Bridgeman, 2020; Wu and Chen, 2008). Maintenance and periodic cleaning of digesters are essential to prevent sedimentation and ensure optimal performance (Ramonet and Harasek, 2021).

Safety guidelines, such as the TOP (Technical, Organizational, and Personal) protective measures principle, should be followed to ensure the safety of biogas plants (Bontempo et al., 2016). Monitoring and control systems are crucial for maintaining process parameters within the desired range. Flow, temperature, pH, and gas composition sensors are commonly used for process monitoring.

Co-digestion, the mixing of different waste or feedstock for AD, offers several advantages, including efficient use of equipment, cost-sharing, and improved methane yield (AgSTAR, 2011). The choice of co-substrates depends on their chemical characteristics, such as pH, total solids, volatile solids, and nutrient content. **Conference Poster 2** explores the co-digestion of farm manures (cow, swine, and chicken) with nopal cladodes from prickly pear cactus, which, thanks to its crassulacean acid metabolism, requires less water. Danzì et al. (2020) explored the feasibility and possible location of a biogas plant operating on prickly pear cactus in Italy.

In summary, AD is a versatile and efficient technology for organic waste treatment and biogas production. Proper feedstock pre-treatment, selection of digester configuration, adequate mixing, energy optimization, maintenance, and safety measures are critical for successful AD operation. The following section explores the utilization of modeling and simulation for bioreactor design and optimization.

More details on AD can be consulted in Chapter 3, "Anaerobic Digestion" of the appended report "CFD Optimization and Analysis of Existing AD and Biorefineries Report" (**Public Report 2**).

2.6. Modeling and simulation

The use of modeling and simulation plays a critical role in optimizing bioreactor design and finding the most effective retrofit solutions for anaerobic digesters. By iteratively simulating different operating conditions using a variety of input parameters (such as inlet flow, temperature, viscosity, mixing rate, and pH) and using the results as constraints for the integration of design experiments, engineers can develop the most cost-effective and yield-efficient bioreactor designs. Modeling and simulation are powerful tools for solving complex engineering problems where analytical solutions are unavailable (Zavalani and Kaçani, 2012). They can significantly enhance the development of chemical engineering systems (Chinda et al., 2019).

The term simulation refers to the use of mathematical equations, such as linear or non-linear algebraic equations, inequalities, and differential equations, to represent the characteristics or behavior of a real system (Verma, 2014). Since analytical solutions are often difficult to obtain, numerical methods are typically used for solving the equations (Verma, 2014). In engineering, simulation involves creating an idealized, computationally-manageable model of a "real" system to represent its dynamic behavior through software simulation (Zavalani and Kaçani, 2012).

The primary purpose of simulations is to estimate the behavior of a system under specific conditions. Simulation techniques are widely employed to design products and systems, analyze risks, test prototypes, perform predictive maintenance, and evaluate existing systems (Larman and Basili, 2003; Szczerbicki and White, 2010; Tahera et al., 2017; White, 1995; Zurcher and Randell, 1968).

Moving forward, we will now investigate the field of CFD. CFD is a powerful numerical simulation technique used to analyze and predict fluid flows based on fluid mechanics principles. CFD simulation allows for the detailed visualization and analysis of flow patterns, velocity distributions, pressure gradients, and other flow properties by solving a set of mathematical equations discretized and solved numerically using advanced computer algorithms. This technique has found significant applications in the bioeconomy sector, particularly in biorefinery systems' design, optimization, and retrofitting, including bioreactors. By simulating various scenarios and configurations, CFD provides valuable insights that help optimize bioreactor designs, improve performance, and make informed decisions regarding process parameters.

2.7. Computational fluid dynamics

Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD) is a numerical simulation technique used to analyze and predict fluid flow behavior based on fluid mechanics laws. It involves solving a set of mathematical equations, known as the conservation laws or Navier-Stokes equations, which describe the principles of mass, momentum, and energy conservation. Additionally, equations for turbulence and other relevant physical phenomena are included to capture the complexities of real-world fluid flow. To perform the simulations, the equations are discretized and solved numerically using advanced

computer algorithms. This allows for the detailed visualization and analysis of fluid flow patterns, velocity distributions, pressure gradients, and other flow properties.

CFD simulation is a novel technology that has gained recognition for its ability to numerically solve the conservation equations of momentum and mass and describe the mixing efficiency in various geometries (Zhendong et al., 2012). CFD simulation is a powerful method for describing the mixing efficiency in different process equipment, including reactors, heat exchangers, and centrifugal pumps, and it has been widely used in chemical and petrochemical processes, where it has achieved significant advancements (Quiroz-Pérez et al., 2019; Zhendong et al., 2012).

In the field of the bioeconomy, CFD is widely utilized to design, optimize, and retrofit biorefinery systems, particularly bioreactors. By simulating various scenarios and configurations, CFD provides engineers and scientists in the bioeconomy sector with valuable insights. These insights help optimize the design of bioreactors, improve their performance, and make informed decisions regarding process parameters, such as fluid flow patterns, mixing efficiency, heat transfer, and mass transfer. Essential parameters like local velocities, turbulence, pressure, concentration, shear rate-dependent viscosity effects, and local reaction rates are analyzed by time-resolved calculation of 3D flow fields inside anaerobic digesters and bioreactors to obtain an optimal reactor geometry (Balachandran et al., 2021). Furthermore, CFD is employed to establish the correlation between physical and biological characteristics in bioenergy systems, helping in the design of an ideal physical setting that enhances the biological processes (Wu, 2013). The mixing efficiencies for various digester configurations can be verified using CFD software before construction takes place (Meroney and Colorado, 2009).

While simulations can never perfectly replicate reality, the predictions must be sufficiently accurate to facilitate process improvement or design (Wartha et al., 2022). The accuracy of CFD simulations relies heavily on the quality of input data, including boundary conditions and physical properties of the materials involved. It is important to note that CFD models are simplifications of real-world complexities, and phenomena like turbulence or multiphase flows may require additional empirical correlations or assumptions. Additionally, the computational cost associated with CFD simulations can be significant, particularly for large-scale or complex systems that require high-performance computing resources. Validating CFD results against experimental data is essential to ensure the reliability and accuracy of the simulations. Despite these limitations, CFD remains a valuable tool in the bioeconomy for exploring and optimizing biorefinery systems, contributing to developing sustainable and efficient processes for bio-based products and renewable energy production.

Journal Publication 4 describes the mathematical models and governing equations utilized in the ALR studies in this thesis.

2.8. Designing safe biorefineries

Safety considerations have historically been given lower priority during the initial conceptual design phase of biorefineries, with the conventional approach being to design the biorefinery first and evaluate safety aspects at a later stage (López-Molina et al., 2020).

There are eight main safe-by-design strategies. The different design methods are the probabilistic risk-based design, deterministic (safety factor-based design), fail-safe design (or fail-secure design), active safe design, passive safe design, vandal-proof design, idiot-proof (or fool-proof) design, fault-tolerant design, and circular design (van Gelder et al., 2021).

To ensure the safety of biorefineries through the "safe by design" approach, various disciplines such as biotechnology, nanomaterials, and chemical engineering are utilized. These disciplines collaborate to implement comprehensive safety measures, addressing concerns such as the containment of microorganisms, prevention of cross-contamination in feedstocks, and other potential hazards. By integrating advanced technologies and employing rigorous protocols, biorefineries can effectively mitigate risks, safeguarding both the environment and the well-being of workers. The safeby-design approach prioritizes proactive safety considerations throughout the entire conceptual design process, ensuring that potential safety issues are identified and addressed early on to establish secure and sustainable biorefinery operations.

Chapter 3: Problem Statement

The transition to a circular bioeconomy is essential for addressing the environmental challenges posed by global warming and achieving sustainability goals. This thesis aims to explore various applications of circular bioeconomy in chemical engineering, focusing on developing a circular economy model for arid coastal regions, investigating the potential use of unutilized carbon dioxide from biogas plants for greenhouse crop farming, studying mixing in bioreactors using CFD, analyzing the hydrodynamic behavior of air-lift bioreactors with a focus on draft tube design, proposing a novel concept for a two-stage covered lagoon anaerobic digester and provide a framework for designing biorefineries through the safe-by-design methodology. The objective is to provide insights that can advise the design and optimization of bioreactors, promote sustainability, and enhance productivity across various industries. By addressing these research areas, this thesis seeks to contribute to the advancement of the circular bioeconomy and support the transition to a more environmentally friendly future.

Chapter 4. Research Approach

The research approach in this thesis involves a combination of theoretical analysis, CFD simulations, and case studies. The overall goal is to explore and evaluate various applications of circular bioeconomy in chemical engineering.

The thesis begins with a theoretical analysis of the global climate change problem, highlighting the need for significant changes in current norms, practices, and technologies to achieve the targets set in the Paris Agreement. It also discusses the initiatives and strategies adopted by the European Union to promote sustainability, circular economy, and bioeconomy.

The thesis then introduces the AgRefine project, which focuses on developing advanced biorefinery technologies for the agri-bioeconomy industry. The project is organized into three work packages (WP1, WP2, and WP3), and this thesis specifically falls under WP2, which is focused on system-level design.

In the subsequent sections of the thesis, several studies are presented as journal publications, conference proceedings, and ongoing manuscripts. Each paper addresses a specific aspect of circular bioeconomy and chemical engineering, utilizing different research methods and approaches.

Journal Publication 1 proposes a circular economy model for developing arid coastal regions, combining the environmental knowledge of two coastal desert regions. The model includes various technologies such as solar energy for water desalination and energy production, hydroponic farming, microalgae and seaweed for biofuels and biochemicals, anaerobic digestion for organic waste management, and hydrogels for irrigation. The research approach here involves conceptual modeling and the development of a general model for circular economy in stressed environmental conditions.

Circular economy models are proof of the understanding that sustainability and resource efficiency are not one-size-fits-all solutions. Rather, they are inherently influenced by each region and country's unique characteristics and dynamics. In this regard, it becomes evident that circular economy models must be tailored to the specific context of their implementation, taking into account many factors, such as geographical, environmental, social, and political constraints.

Geographical factors, including climate, natural resources, and topography, shape a region's potential for circularity. For instance, arid coastal regions with water scarcity may require innovative water management and conservation approaches as part of their circular economy framework. Similarly, regions rich in renewable energy sources might focus on harnessing these resources to power circular processes.

Environmental considerations are crucial in designing circular economy models that minimize ecological impact and promote sustainable practices. Understanding the local ecosystem,
biodiversity, and environmental vulnerabilities enables the identification of strategies that prioritize resource conservation, waste reduction, and the mitigation of adverse environmental externalities.

Social factors encompass the social fabric, cultural values, and the needs and aspirations of local communities. Successful circular economy models consider the social dimensions of sustainability, ensuring inclusivity, equitable distribution of benefits, and social cohesion. They aim to create opportunities for job creation, economic empowerment, and community engagement, aligning with the aspirations and well-being of the population.

Political factors, including policy frameworks and regulatory environments, profoundly influence the feasibility and effectiveness of circular economy models. Supportive policies, incentives, and regulations can drive the adoption of circular practices, facilitate stakeholder collaboration, and enable the necessary investments in infrastructure, technology, and research and development.

Thus, it becomes evident that circular economy models are not generic blueprints but rather contextspecific and adaptive frameworks. By embracing the complexities of regional and national contexts and considering the interplay of geographical, environmental, social, and political constraints, we can pave the way for the successful implementation of circular economy strategies that maximize resource efficiency, promote sustainability, and foster a more resilient and prosperous future for all.

As an example of how to fit different circular bioeconomy applications in the framework of chemical engineering, the case of desert coastal regions is taken to integrate the various applications comprehensively and sustainably.

The following methodology was used to develop the circular economy model for desert coastal regions (**Journal Publication 1**). The problem is investigated on how the public perceives it and how it really is; based on these points, a new perspective is created. This new perspective is supported by evidence of the different applied technologies. The relative strengths of the new perspective and the implications for future research are discussed, as shown in Figure 3. The results from this process are shown in Figure 21.



Figure 3. Methodology followed to develop the circular economy model.

The circular economy model proposed in **Journal Publication 1** was assessed by evaluating the attributes associated with its processes and products, i.e., biochemicals, biofuels, biogas, biogas upgrade, CHP, hydrogels, hydroponic, nutrient recovery, solar harvest, and water desalination. Each attribute was rated on a scale from 0 to 10, with a rating of zero indicating poor performance and a rating of ten indicating outstanding performance. The four attributes considered in the evaluation were technology readiness level, economic viability, ecological sustainability, and environmental risks. The technology readiness level assessed the readiness of the technology for deployment, while ecological sustainability evaluated its environmental impacts. Environmental risks refer to the potential irreversible environmental damage if the products or processes are not managed correctly, and economic viability considers the capital costs. The graph evaluating these parameters (Figure 20) is presented in the results section.

Journal Publication 2 explores the potential use of unutilized carbon dioxide (CO₂) from biogas plants for greenhouse crop farming. The study focuses on a specific biogas plant and calculates the optimal greenhouse designs for CO₂ enrichment. The research approach here involves data analysis, calculation, and comparison of greenhouse areas for different designs.

Once the circular economy model had been developed, the different technologies involved were studied for their optimization or other possible applications. An example of this is presented in **Journal Publication 2**, which examines a biogas plant near Vienna (approximately 40 km from the city center) as an example of efficient resource utilization in the circular bioeconomy.

The methodology employed in this study includes analyzing data, performing calculations, and comparing greenhouse areas across various designs. Two different methods were utilized for optimal greenhouse size calculation, a simplified and a detailed calculation.

For the simplified calculation, the monthly availability of sun hours was used to determine the number of hours suitable for utilizing CO₂ in greenhouse crop production. This calculation involves multiplying the daily daylight hours by the number of days in each month. The resulting number of hours, representing the CO₂ utilization period for greenhouse crop production, is then used to estimate the potential annual CO₂ utilization and the corresponding greenhouse area that can be enriched. Figure 4 shows the methodology followed in the simplified calculation to obtain the optimal greenhouse area for completely closed and partially opened greenhouses. The CO₂ consumption rates for completely closed and partially opened greenhouses are sourced from (Blom et al., 2002). The potential yearly CO₂ utilization is obtained by summing up the monthly values. Finally, the greenhouse area eligible for CO₂ enrichment is determined by dividing the annual available CO₂ from the biogas plant in Bruck an der Leitha by the potential yearly CO₂ utilization.



Figure 4. Schematic of the simplified calculation.

For the detailed calculation, the following methodology was used. First, it is considered that for a completely closed greenhouse, a fully-grown crop consumes carbon dioxide at a rate of 0.24 kg/h/100m² on a sunny day, and a small crop on a shady day has a CO₂ uptake rate of 0.12 kg/h/100m². The solar radiation and available daily daylight were utilized to extrapolate the monthly CO₂ uptake rate. By using the CO₂ uptake rate per 100 m² as a basis, this estimation determined the level of CO₂ enrichment in hectares for a fully enclosed greenhouse. The months of June and July, with their 16 hours of daylight, when CO₂ availability per hour is at its lowest, resulted in the smallest plantation areas.

Second, for a partially opened greenhouse, the same procedure with solar radiation was utilized. For a double polyethylene wall partially opened greenhouse, the minimum uptake rate was 25 kg/ha/h and the maximum 35 kg/ha/h. The minimum uptake rate for standard glass partially opened greenhouses was 50 kg/ha/h, and the maximum was 60 kg/ha/h. These values were taken from (Blom et al., 2002). The schematic of the methodology used is presented in Figure 5.



Figure 5. Schematic of detailed calculation. Extracted from (Ramonet et al., 2022b).

Microalgae are generally grown in raceway ponds or photobioreactors. Pneumatically stirred photobioreactors, which are a well-known technology, are commonly used. These systems often employ draft tubes to promote mixing. ALRs can be utilized for the production of biochemicals from seaweed, in addition to their application in microalgae cultivation. There are two main configurations of ALRs: external loop and internal loop. In the context of this thesis, the focus is on exploring the potential of internal loop ALRs.

In **Journal Publications 3, 4** and **Conference Publication 1**, the hydrodynamics of different ALR systems is explored with CFD, focusing on the design and placement of draft tubes. The methodology utilized for this section was first performing a state-of-the-art review to know which CFD model is well suited for predicting the global hydrodynamics of an air-liquid interphase. Then the accuracy of the discretization is evaluated with a mesh study.

Several measures were taken to ensure the reliability of the computational model utilized in the air lift reactor studies. The first step was to set up the model with the configurations employed in the literature. For this purpose, a two-fluid model was adopted, using an Euler-Euler approach for the simulations. The standard multiphaseEulerFoam solver was chosen for its suitability in simulating the behavior of gas bubbles within a liquid medium. The Euler-Euler model was coupled with the Large Eddy Simulation (LES) method to simulate the flow in the reactors accurately.

This multiphaseEulerFoam solver can effectively handle multiple compressible fluid phases, including at least one dispersed phase. In this case, air was employed as the dispersed phase, while water was the continuous phase. The mathematical models and governing equations mentioned here, are described in detail in **Journal Publication 4**. The Schiller-Naumman drag model, the NicenoKEqn sub-grid turbulence model, and the ContinuousGasKEqn sub-grid turbulence model were used. The NicenoKEqn model was specifically chosen to determine the turbulence of the fluid phase, as it is a one-equation sub-grid stress model suitable for capturing turbulence generated by bubbles. On the other hand, the ContinuousGasKEqn model was utilized to determine the turbulence of the gas phase and account for phase-inversion effects. The drag of each phase was solved using

the Schiller-Neuman model, which calculates the drag forces acting on the particles. For this model, a single bubble size was considered, as it has been shown to provide reasonable predictions when comparing simulations to experimental results (McClure et al., 2017). A bubble diameter of 4.5 mm was chosen based on literature values ranging from 3 mm to 5 mm (van Baten et al., 2003). The diameter of water droplets was kept at the default value of 0.1 mm in the solver.

The second step to ensure the reliability of the computational calculations was performing a mesh convergency study. Numerous researchers recognize the significance of mesh refinement in mitigating rounding, iterative, and discretization errors (Almohammadi et al., 2013). A mesh convergence study is performed to evaluate the precision and reliability of CFD simulations by examining how the results are affected by variations in the mesh size. The purpose of this study is to identify the ideal mesh resolution needed to achieve accurate and consistent solutions.

Two mesh independency studies were performed. A vessel without any draft tubes with a conical bottom was utilized for both mesh studies. A diagonal line was plotted from the inlet to the outlet, and the air velocity magnitude was extracted from the first peak (same procedure as Figure 3 of **Journal Publication 4**) to calculate the grid convergence index.

As an example, the first mesh independency study is shown. The second is carefully described in **Journal Publication 4**. Five meshes (Figure 6) were selected from 23 thousand to 2.2 million cells for the first mesh independency study, with a grid refinement ratio of 1.5. The five meshes utilized for this mesh dependency study are shown in Figure 6. The air velocity magnitude for the five meshes is shown in Table 1.



Figure 6. Meshes utilized in mesh study. Adopted from Public Report 2.

Mashas	Air Velocity
Weshes	Magnitude (m/s)
M1-Coarser (1.5)	0.317141
M2-Reference	0.317388
M3-Finer (1.5)	0.317888
M4- Double Finer (3)	0.320667
M5-Triple Finer (4.5)	0.323351

Table 1. Air velocity in different meshes. Adopted from Public Report 2.

The order of convergence is calculated with Equation 1. Three meshes are needed for this, the reference mesh (M2) as F_2 , the coarser mesh (M1) as F_3 , and the finer mesh (M3) as F_1 . The finer meshes M4 and M5 were then utilized with the Richardson extrapolation (Richards, 1997) to verify the convergence between the calculated and simulated values. For Equation 1, r is the grid refinement ratio of 1.5.

$$p = rac{\ln\left(rac{F_3 - F_2}{F_2 - F_1}
ight)}{\ln(r)}$$
 (Eq. 1)

Once Equation 1 is resolved, we have that p equals -1.73929. The Richardson extrapolation (Richards, 1997), Equation 2, is then utilized to verify the convergence between the calculated values (extrapolated) and the ones extracted from the simulation. Then the grid convergency index (Equation 3) is used to extrapolate the air velocity magnitude for finer meshes.

$$F_0 = F_1 + \frac{F_1 - F_2}{r^{p} - 1}$$
 (Eq. 2)

$$GCI_{2,1} = \frac{\frac{F_2 - F_1}{F_1}}{r^{p} - 1}$$
(Eq. 3)

Extrapolated values are obtained for mesh four (double finer) and mesh five (triple finer). In Table **2**, the extrapolated results are compared with the extracted ones, and then the error is obtained.

Table 2. Mesh convergence error.MeshesExtractedExtrapolatedErrorM4- Double Finer0.3206670.3194240.38 %M5-Triple Finer0.3233510.3209590.74 %

As a validation of the model, the squared geometry presented in **Journal Publication 3** was compared in the single draft tube configuration with inlet velocities of 0.01 and 0.02 m/s against the experimental data from the literature (Jia et al., 2007). In the results section, Figure 37 compares the simulated results with the ones from Jia et al. (2007).

Journal Publication 3 investigates the use of ALRs in biorefineries, focusing on the design and placement of draft tubes for better flow control and improved mass transfer. CFD simulations are

utilized to compare the flow characteristics of different ALR geometries. The research approach here involves CFD simulations and analysis of the results.

In **Journal Publication 3**, the study investigated three different vessel geometries for ALRs and examined single and double draft tube configurations for each vessel. This resulted in a total of six different reactor configurations. The hydrodynamics of these reactor configurations were studied using CFD.

One of the geometries adopted in this study was a squared single draft tube configuration sourced from existing literature (Jia et al., 2007). To establish a comparative analysis, the draft tube was divided into two, with the separation distance between the draft tubes matching the distance between the inlet and the bottom of the lower draft tube. Another geometry examined was a cylindrical double draft tube configuration, also obtained from the literature (Shi et al., 2021). A counterpart configuration with a single draft tube was developed specifically for this study to facilitate the comparison. The third geometry comprised a cylindrical reactor with a coned transition from the inlet to the body. The cylindrical section of this geometry was derived from the second geometry.

The draft tubes (single and double configurations) in the third geometry have the same geometric characteristics as the ones in the second geometry. These selected geometries were considered representative shapes for the ALRs analyzed in this study. Figure 7 shows these reactor configurations.



Figure 7. Geometries utilized for the study. Adopted from Journal Publication 3.

Various parameters were compared during the analysis, including turbulent kinetic energy in the fluid phase, fluid velocity along the Y-axis, pressure, and the circulation time of the draft tube loop. Among these parameters, the axial velocity in the downcomer section emerged as the most representative factor.

Building upon the previous research approach, **Journal Publication 4** explores into the hydrodynamic behavior of a double-stage internal loop air-lift bioreactor using CFD simulations. This study focuses on analyzing the impact of different double-draft tube configurations on reactor hydrodynamics. The research approach involves conducting CFD simulations, exploring various geometric configurations, and analyzing the results.

For **Journal Publication 4**, two of the previous geometries serve as input for further investigation. Figure 8 presents the geometries utilized in this study, highlighting their relevance to the research.



Figure 8. Geometries utilized in the study. Adopted from Journal Publication 4.

Ten distinct geometries are examined to explore the effects of different factors on the internal hydrodynamics of an ALR. Geometries one and three (Figure 9) were derived from **Journal Publication 3**, with modifications made to investigate the impact of varying liquid height, the distance between draft tubes, and acylindricity by altering the draft tube diameters on the internal hydrodynamics of an ALR. Geometry three is based on Shi et al. (2021), while geometry one is an adaptation that includes a coned bottom inspired by reactors used in wastewater treatment. Geometries four and five are unique because the top draft tube is displaced. In all other geometries, reducing the distance between draft tubes shifts the bottom draft tube's location. Figure 9 shows the ten geometries utilized in this study.



Figure 9. Ten geometries utilized in the study. Adopted from Journal Publication 4.

Calculating the loop circulation time involves extracting values from the riser and downcomer sections. Nine points were sampled on the riser (marked with a U in Figure 10), and another nine points were sampled on the downcomer (marked with a D in Figure 10). Using the extracted velocity values, the velocity was interpolated between each point until a loop was formed. A similar approach was reported in the literature, where the total circulation time was calculated by summing the ascending and descending times for a single draft tube geometry (Padial et al., 2000). For this study, the connection between the riser and the downcomer was also calculated by interpolating the velocity of the vector moving in this direction.

The "first draft tube" loop is determined by measuring the time it takes for a particle to follow a path from the inlet, rise to the top, descend until it reaches the end of the top draft tube, and then reintegrate into the flow, forming a complete loop as depicted by the blue arrows in Figure 10. Similarly, the "second draft tube" loop refers to the time it takes for a particle to travel from the inlet, ascend to the interphase section, descend to the bottom of the lower draft tube, and complete a loop, which is illustrated by the black arrows in Figure 10. This strategy is utilized to compare the residence time in each loop.



Figure 10. Circulation loop and sample points. Adopted from Journal Publication 4.

Continuing in the same line of research, **Conference Publication 1** utilizes CFD to compare the hydrodynamics of internal loop air-lift bioreactors with different internal configurations. The research approach integrates an in-house Lagrangian particles coupling utility into an Eulerian solver, enabling the evaluation of residence time distribution and flow visualization.

Building upon this approach, **Conference Publication 1** explores the concept of the conned bottom reactor. This publication focuses on investigating the global hydrodynamics of single, double, and triple draft tubes. To establish the reactor geometry, an airlift column reactor with an aspect ratio (height to diameter ratio) of approximately 10, including the inlet tube, was chosen based on Chisti and Young's findings (Chisti and Moo-Young, 1987). Figure 11 shows the three geometries utilized in this study; a total reactor height of 1.9 meters and a diameter of 0.196 meters were used. The liquid height was set to 1.55 meters for all cases, the bottom clearance (distance from the inlet to the bottom draft tube) was 0.256 meters, and the top clearance (distance from the top draft tube to the surface) was 0.472 meters. As shown in Figure 11, the draft tube section is 1 meter in length and 0.098 meters in diameter; the distance between draft tubes was 0.0875 meters.



Figure 11. Single, double, and triple draft geometries. Adopted from Conference Publication 1.

To investigate how splitting the draft tube affects the ALR flow, 16 points were selected on the riser and downcomer to compare the axial velocities on both sections. Then five representative points were chosen on the downcomer at the bottom and above each draft tube to compare the turbulent kinetic energy, the fluid's velocity, and the pressure. These five points are shown in Figure 12.



Figure 12. Probes for measuring. Adapted from (Ramonet et al., 2023).

An in-house Lagrangian particle utility called "Lagrangian plug-in for multiphaseEulerFoam," developed by Bosenhofer (2022), was integrated into the multiphaseEulerFoam solver of OpenFOAM® version 9. This integration allowed for the coupling of Lagrangian particles with the continuous phase of an Euler-Euler simulation. By utilizing this utility, the residence time distribution in each draft tube could be evaluated, providing valuable insights into the flow and circulation loops within the three different geometries.

As mentioned above, CFD was utilized to evaluate these reactor geometries by evaluating the draft tubes' circulation time and the axial water velocity from the riser and downcomer sections. A two-fluid model was chosen to perform the CFD hydrodynamic calculations were resolved using the multiphaseEulerFoam solver, which is part of the open-source toolbox OpenFOAM® version 9. The solver is based on the Euler-Euler model (a type of two-fluid model) that employs the Lagrangian framework to track the movement of individual parcels.

Moving from the investigation of ALRs in the previous section, **Journal Publication 5** focuses on CSTRs. While ALRs are commonly used for microalgae cultivation, CSTRs are widely employed in the chemical, biochemical, and pharmaceutical industries as the preferred reactor type. In both cases, the hydrodynamic behavior and mixing characteristics are crucial in optimizing reactor performance. Therefore, the research approach transitions from studying ALR geometries to exploring the power number of various stirring devices in a lab-scale CSTR. By integrating CFD simulations, experimental data comparison, and model validation, **Journal Publication 5** aims to enhance our understanding of mechanical mixing and its impact on microorganism growth and productivity.

Journal Publication 5 focuses on the study of mixing in CSTRs, widely employed in the chemical, biochemical, and pharmaceutical industries as the preferred reactor type. These reactors rely on mechanical stirring mechanisms to ensure adequate mixing. The study emphasizes the significance of mechanical mixing in bioreactors to optimize microorganism growth and productivity. To achieve this, CFD simulations are conducted to predict the power number of various stirring devices in a labscale reactor. The research approach integrates CFD simulations, comparison with experimental data, and validation of the models.

In this study, experiments are conducted using three different stirrers in a 45-liter lab reactor with specific dimensions. Subsequently, CFD simulations are performed to compare the torque and power number associated with each stirrer. The reactor utilized in the experiments has a height of 65 cm and a radius of 15 cm. It is equipped with four baffles measuring 24 cm in height, 4.5 cm in width, and 0.6 cm in thickness. These baffles are connected at the bottom by a ring baffle with an inner radius of 8.4 cm, a height of 3.3 cm, and a thickness of 1.2 cm. The mechanical agitation in the

reactor is controlled by a laboratory stirrer (IKA EUROSTAR 200 Control), which also serves as a torque measurement device.

The liquid height in the reactor was set to 42 cm, equivalent to 30 liters. In the computational domain (shown in Figure 13), the height of the reactor matched the liquid's height. The experimental setup and the CFD domain are depicted in Figure 13.



Figure 13. Experimental setup and computational domain. Extracted from Journal Publication 5.

The study used three types of stirrers: pitched blade, cage, and paddle. The stirrers are illustrated in Figure 14. The velocity was gradually increased during the experiments until unstable vibrations prevented torque measurement. Torque measurements were recorded for each stirrer type within specific RPM ranges: 550 to 1300 RPM for stirrer 1, 400 to 950 RPM for stirrer 2, and 130 to 325 RPM for stirrer 3.



Figure 14. Comparison of Computational Geometries and Real Stirrers in Stirred Tank Reactors.

In this study, OpenFOAM® version 8 was employed using the single-phase SimpleFOAM solver. The SimpleFOAM solver utilizes the SIMPLE (Semi-Implicit Method for Pressure Linked Equations) algorithm to solve for steady-state, incompressible, turbulent flow. The simulations focused on modeling the behavior of water as a single-phase fluid. The simulations achieved a residual convergence of approximately 1x10⁻⁶, with an average of around 520 iterations needed to reach this convergence, ensuring a smooth velocity field and reliability of the computational model utilized for the air lift reactor studies.

The Multiple Reference Frame (MRF) method was employed to simulate impeller rotation in the mixing systems. The MRF method is widely recognized as suitable for modeling stirred reactors and capturing flow and mixing generated by impellers (Ding et al., 2010). Accurate determination of the stationary and moving areas within the MRF method is crucial for obtaining precise results in terms of mixing performance (Foukrach et al., 2020). One of the advantages of the MRF approach is its relatively low computational time. It involves dividing the computational domain into two regions: a rotating cylindrical volume that encloses the impeller and a stationary outer volume encompassing the rest of the tank (Foukrach et al., 2020).

To obtain digital representations of the stirrers, stirrers 1 and 3 were fully digitized in terms of their geometries, while stirrer 2 had its number of blades reduced by half to six. Figure 13 illustrates the experimental setup with three reactors, including baffles and internal components, each equipped with one stirrer. The number of cells for each geometry is presented in the result section in **Journal Publication 5**. Mesh generation was achieved through a trial-and-error process using the

combination of the OpenFOAM® meshing utilities blockMesh and snappyHexMesh, as described by Segui et al. (2022).

To ensure sufficient data for comparison with experimental results, 26 cases were created for CFD simulation. For stirrer 1, velocities ranging from 550 to 1250 RPM were considered, while for stirrer 2, rates ranging from 400 to 950 RPM were examined, and for stirrer 3, velocities from 130 to 325 RPM were investigated. The torque and power number were obtained using the moment extracted from each blade.

In OpenFOAM®, the "forces" function object was utilized to calculate the forces and moments acting on specified patches. This calculation involves integrating pressure and viscous forces and moments, with the option to include resistance forces and moments from porous zones (OpenCFD Ltd, 2021). The data obtained from OpenFOAM® is stored in a ".dat" file containing six vectors per time step. The first three vectors represent pressure, viscous, and porous forces, while the last three represent pressure, viscous, and porous noments. To calculate the torque, the element of the shaft's axis from the fourth and fifth vectors (pressure and viscous moments) needs to be summed.

To analyze the data from the generated ".dat" files, a Python 3.10 algorithm was developed. This algorithm iterates through all 104 files, extracting the pressure and viscous moment vectors from the converged iterations' blade patches. Using Equation 4, the torque for each blade is calculated, and the total torque of the stirrer is determined by summing the torque values of all blades. The power consumption and power number are computed using Equations 5 and 6, respectively.

In Equation 4, $m\Gamma_{blade_n}$ represents the torque of the blade, m_{py} and $m_{\mu y}$ are the vector components of the moment pressure and viscous moment, P corresponds to power consumption, N denotes stirring velocity, P₀ signifies the power number, D represents the impeller diameter, and ρ indicates the density. The torque is obtained by summing the moments resulting from viscosity and pressure across the impeller surfaces, as explained by Fernandes Del Pozo et al. (2019). The resulting torque is multiplied by the density of the medium (approximately 1000 kg/m³ for water) since the pressure values obtained from OpenFOAM® correspond to kinematic pressure for the case of incompressible solvers (static pressure divided by density).

$$m\Gamma_{blade_n} = m_{py} + m_{\mu y}$$
 (Eq. 4)

$$P = 2\pi N m \Gamma$$
 (Eq. 5)

$$P_0 = \frac{P}{D^5 * \rho * N^3}$$
(Eq. 6)

In addition to the CFD analysis mentioned earlier, **Journal Publication 6** proposes a novel concept for a two-stage covered lagoon anaerobic digester that utilizes wind energy for mixing. This concept

addresses the scale issue of anaerobic digesters and offers a solution to Ireland's slurry disposal systems, which contributes to ozone layer depletion and methane emissions from animal manure.

The research approach outlined in **Journal Publication 6** includes conceptual design, analysis, and proposal of the new system. The proposition for retrofitting entails the transformation of open anaerobic lagoons into covered lagoons, offering a cost-effective alternative for farmers. The system offers several benefits by collecting the slurry from the barns and channelling it into a covered lagoon.

The conceptual design involves exploring the material for the tanks, the heating system, the mixing strategy, and what provides the mixing power. Table 3 shows the identification and planification of the conceptual design.

Material	Heating	Mixing power	Mixing
Concrete	Boiler	Electric motor	Transversal
Soil	Small CHP	Wind-powered stirrer	Axial
Metal	Electric resistance	CHP	Pump
Membrane	Solar	Small CHP per stirrer	Kinetic energy from wind

Table 3. Identification and planification	Table 3.	Identification	and	planification
--------------------------------------------------	----------	----------------	-----	---------------

From the matrix in Table 3, 256 possible system combinations are possible. Four of these 256 combinations are presented as the most viable options in Table 4. Option 1 involves a concrete floor for the covered lagoon, the heating system is powered by burning the biogas in a boiler or CHP unit, the mixing is performed with a pump, which is powered by a CHP unit fuelled with the biogas. For option 2 the floor is compacted soil based on the earth-lined slurry tanks guidance document (Scully et al., 2004) covered with an impermeable polyethylene membrane, the heating system is powered by burning the biogas in a boiler, the mixing power is obtained from the wind. Kinetic energy is harnessed from the wind and utilized to move the mixing system, composed of one or more axial stirrers. Option 3 utilizes only soil for the lagoon's floor. An electrical resistance provides heating, mixing with a pump, and a small CHP per pump. Option 4 is made out of metal, heated with an array of mirrors that utilize the sun, mixing power is obtained with solar energy, and the mixing strategy is with transversal stirrers.

Configuration	Digester material	Heating system	Mixing power	Mixing
Option 1	Concrete	Burning the biogas	CHP	Pump
Option 2	Compacted soil covered with membrane	Burning the biogas	Kinetic energy from wind	Axial stirrer
Option 3	Soil	Electrical resistance	Small CHP per pump	Pump
Option 4	Metal	Solar mirrors array	Solar energy	Transversal

Table 4. Optative configurations.

Figure 15 shows a schematic of the proposed stages of the system. Stages 1 and 2 are where the anaerobic digestion process occurs, and stage 3 is for storage.



Figure 15. Proposed multistage anaerobic digester.

Firstly, the biogas generated from the slurry can be harnessed for producing electricity and/or heat, offering an alternative energy source. This reduces harmful emissions and creates potential revenue streams through the sale of excess biogas. Moreover, the produced heat can warm the covered lagoon, ensuring optimal anaerobic digestion conditions. Additionally, the electricity generated can power the barn or dairy plant, promoting energy efficiency.

Furthermore, the system allows for safely utilizing the digestate, the liquid-solid fraction remaining after digestion, as a nutrient-rich fertilizer for fields. This closed-loop approach minimizes waste and promotes sustainable agricultural practices. With its lower cost and scalability, the proposed system in **Journal Publication 6** offers a promising alternative for slurry disposal, addressing environmental concerns while providing economic benefits for farmers.

Figure 16 shows the manure flow in the system. The manure is collected from the barn, in case any other farm wastes are to be added to the anaerobic digester, these wastes need to be pasteurized. If not, it can be directly sent to a premixing and heating pre-treatment chamber, then passed to a plug flow labyrinth where the first two steps of anaerobic digestion (hydrolysis and acidogenesis) take place. Then it is passed to a covered lagoon where the acetogenesis and methanogenesis take place, and the biogas is produced. The next step is to dewater the digestate and send it to an open pond for storage until its spreading season.



Figure 16. Manure flow in the system.

The research approach encompasses developing a comprehensive conceptual design for the twostage covered lagoon anaerobic digester. This includes analyzing the system's requirements, such as the size and capacity needed to accommodate different farm sizes. The design also considers integrating wind energy for mixing within the covered lagoon, aiming to reduce operational costs and enhance system efficiency.

The system requirements include an efficient heating system with optimal temperature control, enabling the system to maintain ideal conditions for the anaerobic digestion process. Adequate mixing power is also essential to ensure proper digestion and homogeneity of the slurry. Furthermore, cost-effective materials that offer good durability and resistance to corrosive elements commonly found in the digestion process are necessary. Easy maintenance and operation are important aspects to consider, contributing to the system's reliability and longevity. Additionally, integrating renewable energy sources into the system is desirable to promote sustainability, reducing reliance on non-renewable energy and minimizing environmental impact.

Different attributes of the system were selected and evaluated to assess the various configurations of the anaerobic digestion system. Several criteria were considered to evaluate the options and determine the optimal choice for the system. These criteria include performance, economic viability, efficiency, reliability, scalability, ecological sustainability, and environmental risks.

To evaluate each configuration, a rating scale from 0 to 10 was used based on the following criteria:

- Performance: This criterion assesses how well each configuration meets the heating and mixing requirements of the anaerobic digester system, reflecting its effectiveness and efficiency in achieving optimal performance.
- Economic Viability: The overall economic feasibility of each configuration is considered, including cost-effectiveness, return on investment, and potential revenue generation.
- Efficiency: This criterion evaluates the energy efficiency of the heating and mixing mechanisms, measuring how effectively the system utilizes energy resources to minimize losses and maximize conversion.
- Reliability: The reliability and maintenance requirements of each configuration are considered, assessing the system's robustness, durability, and the frequency and complexity of maintenance tasks needed for uninterrupted operation.

- Scalability: The potential for the system to be scaled up or down to accommodate different farm sizes is considered, with a rating reflecting the ease and feasibility of adjusting the system's capacity to match varying slurry volumes.
- Ecological Sustainability: This criterion evaluates the environmental sustainability of each configuration, considering its impact on ecosystems, biodiversity, natural resources, and alignment with sustainable practices.
- Environmental Risks: The potential risks and negative impacts on the environment associated with each configuration are considered, with a rating reflecting the potential harm, pollution, or irreversible damage that could occur if the system is not managed correctly.

A comprehensive evaluation is conducted by assigning ratings from 0 to 10 to each criterion for every configuration. The option that receives the highest overall rating is considered the best choice, as it demonstrates superior performance, economic viability, efficiency, reliability, scalability, ecological sustainability, and low environmental risks compared to the other options. Figure 48 presents this evaluation in the form of a spider graph.

To obtain a representative size of the anaerobic digesters needed, data from six average Irish farms was taken from the "heavy soils programme" of Ireland's Agriculture and Food Development Authority (TEAGASC, 2017). The data in Table 5 encompasses the herd size, air, and ground temperature. The daily biogas potential is calculated by multiplying the herd size by the daily manure per cow, times the biomethane potential of every kilogram of manure. Other methods for calculating are volatile solid content, chemical oxygen demand, methane yield potential, or biogas production model.

	Herd	Temperature (°C)				
Farm	Size	Min ((Feb)	Max	(July)	
	(2019)	Air	Soil	Air	Soil	
Crossmolina	65	3.1	4.6	16.1	16.4	
Lisselton	89	4.4	5.2	16.4	15.5	
Kishkeam	100	2.6	3.6	16.2	15.4	
Swan Cross	110	2.7	3.7	16.2	16.5	
Ballinagree	120	2.9	4.5	16	16.6	
Athea	130	3.4	4.6	15.7	15.4	

Table 5. Farm herd by size with an average air and soil temperature in degrees centigrade. Dataextracted from TEAGASC (2017). Adopted from **Journal Publication 6**.

The research also evaluates the retrofitting process of existing opened anaerobic lagoons to covered lagoons. This requires analyzing the structural modifications needed to ensure proper containment and optimize anaerobic digestion conditions. The economic feasibility and potential benefits of retrofitting are also investigated, considering cost savings and environmental impact.

Two larger farms with existing manure handling systems, with the possibility to be retrofitted, were visited. Both farms have open storage tanks (earth-lined slurry or tower tanks).

Farm 1 has a capacity for 1,100 cows. One Earth Lined Slurry (ELS) y tank of $15 \times 40 \times 4 \text{ m}$ (2,036 m³ volume) and a slurry tower of 42 m diameter x 3 m height (4,156 m³ volume), holding up more than 6,000 m³. This farm has a biogas potential of 560,000 m³/year or 1,580 m³/d. Premixing is possible with a pump in place. Figure 17 shows the existing infrastructure in farm 1, starting with the barn with scrappers, a slatted floor to collect the manure at a part of the barn, a mixing tank with a pump, an ELS tank, and a slurry tower tank.



Figure 17. Existing infrastructure in farm 1.

Farm 2 has a capacity for 600 cows. On the other hand, farm 2 has a capacity of 1,250 m³ on the ELS tank and 640 m³ on a second concrete storage tank. This farm has a biogas potential of 291,000 m³/year or 798 m³/d. The "barn" in this farm contains an underground tank beneath the slatted-floor cattle building.

Figure 18 shows farm 2, in the center, a satellite picture from the farm. Marked with green is the ELS tank, and marked with orange is the second storage tank. The stable marked with blue has a slurry collection system based on a slatted floor with underground storage.



Figure 18. Existing infrastructure in farm 2.

Overall, the research approach presented in **Journal Publication 6** combines conceptual design, analysis, and proposal of a two-stage covered lagoon anaerobic digester system. By addressing the scale issue and providing a cost-effective alternative for slurry disposal, this innovative system offers potential solutions to environmental challenges faced by Irish farmers.

In addition to the extensive research conducted on various aspects of sustainable agricultural practices, including the development of a circular economy model for desert coastal regions, CO₂ utilization for greenhouse crop farming, CFD analysis in ALRs and CSTRs, and the retrofitting of slurry tanks to covered lagoons, the integration of a safe-by-design framework becomes a critical component to ensure the overall sustainability and safety of these systems. While these research pursuits have individually addressed specific challenges and proposed innovative solutions, incorporating safety considerations into the design process, as emphasized in **Journal Publication 7**, establishes a proactive and holistic approach towards creating secure and environmentally friendly agricultural and biorefinery operations. By integrating the principles of safe by design into the conceptualization, analysis, and implementation of these sustainable practices, the research collectively seeks to optimize resource utilization, minimize environmental impact, and protect the well-being of workers, thereby paving the way for a more sustainable and resilient future.

The research approach for **Journal Publication 7** focuses on developing a framework for safe by design in biorefineries. The objective is to shift the conventional approach, which tends to prioritize safety considerations at a later stage, by integrating safety considerations into the initial conceptual design phase. This approach aims to proactively identify and address potential safety issues, ensuring secure and sustainable biorefinery operations.

The research involves collaboration among various disciplines, including biotechnology, nanomaterials, and chemical engineering. These disciplines work together to implement comprehensive safety measures, considering specific concerns such as the containment of

microorganisms and the prevention of cross-contamination in feedstocks. By employing rigorous protocols, the research aims to mitigate risks and ensure the safe operation of biorefineries.

A comprehensive framework of Safe by Design for biorefineries should include the following components:

- 1. Hazard Identification: thoroughly assess potential hazards associated with biorefinery processes, including chemicals, materials, and activities that may pose risks to workers, the environment, and the surrounding community.
- Risk and Reliability Assessment: evaluate the likelihood, severity, and reliability of identified hazards and potential failures within the biorefinery system. Consider factors such as exposure pathways, toxicity, consequences of failures, and the overall reliability of equipment and processes.
- 3. Design Integration: incorporate safety considerations into the early stages of biorefinery design, ensuring that safety features and measures are integrated into the overall process design. Consider aspects like process layout, equipment selection, and material compatibility while prioritizing risk reduction and reliability enhancement.
- 4. Inherent Safety: implement inherently safer design principles to minimize or eliminate hazards at the source rather than relying solely on protective measures. Design processes and equipment that inherently reduce the potential for accidents, such as using less hazardous materials or eliminating the need for hazardous processes.
- 5. Control Measures: develop and implement engineering controls, administrative controls, and personal protective measures to mitigate identified risks. This may include ventilation systems, containment systems, safety interlocks, standard operating procedures, training programs, and personal protective equipment.
- 6. Monitoring, Maintenance, and Reliability Management: establish a comprehensive monitoring and maintenance program to continuously assess the biorefinery system's performance, reliability, and safety. Regular inspections, preventive maintenance, reliabilitycentered maintenance, and equipment reliability assessments are essential to ensure ongoing safety and minimize the risk of failures.
- 7. Emergency Preparedness: develop emergency response plans and procedures to handle potential incidents or accidents effectively. This includes establishing communication protocols, training personnel on emergency response, conducting drills, and ensuring the availability of appropriate emergency equipment and resources.
- Compliance and Auditing: regularly evaluate and audit the biorefinery's safety practices to ensure compliance with relevant regulations, standards, and best practices. Identify areas for improvement and ensure continuous adherence to safety protocols through internal audits and external assessments.
- 9. Communication and Training: ensure effective communication of safety policies, procedures, and expectations to all stakeholders, including workers, contractors, and neighboring

communities. Regular training programs should be conducted to enhance safety awareness, promote a culture of safety, and provide specific training on handling hazardous materials and operating equipment safely.

10. Continuous Improvement and Total Quality Management: foster a culture of continuous improvement by implementing principles from total quality management and lean manufacturing methodologies. Encourage employee involvement in identifying safety improvement opportunities, implementing corrective actions, and promoting a proactive safety and reliability enhancement approach.

By incorporating these elements, a comprehensive framework of Safe by Design for biorefineries can help identify and mitigate potential hazards, ensure the safety of workers and surrounding communities, enhance system reliability, and promote the sustainable and responsible operation of biorefinery processes.

The research approach compiles different safe-by-design strategies into a safe-by-design biorefinery framework. These strategies include probabilistic risk-based design, deterministic (safety factor-based) design, fail-safe design, active safe design, passive safe design, vandal-proof design, idiot-proof (or fool-proof) design, fault-tolerant design, and circular design. Through a comprehensive analysis of these strategies, the research aims to determine the most effective approaches for integrating safety considerations into the conceptual design process of biorefineries.

Overall, the research approach for **Journal Publication 7** encompasses the development of a comprehensive framework for safe by design in biorefineries. Through interdisciplinary collaboration, evaluating different safe-by-design strategies the research aims to prioritize safety considerations from the early stages of conceptual design, thereby establishing secure and sustainable biorefinery operations.

In summary, this thesis adopts a comprehensive research approach that combines various methodologies and techniques, including theoretical analysis, CFD simulations, case studies, data analysis, conceptual modeling, and proposal of new concepts. The aim is to explore and evaluate multiple aspects of the circular bioeconomy within chemical engineering. By examining resource utilization, waste management, and sustainable practices, this research seeks to provide valuable insights and practical solutions that contribute to a more sustainable and environmentally friendly future. Moving forward to the results section, the findings from these rigorous investigations will be presented, revealing the outcomes of the applied methodologies and their implications for advancing the circular bioeconomy in chemical engineering.

Chapter 5. Results and Discussion

In the previous section, the research approach and background of the publications relevant to the objectives of this thesis have been identified. This section contains the results from the publications divided into seven sections. Section 1 presents the results of the circular economy model, section 2 the optimal greenhouse areas for CO_2 crop enrichment, section 3 the hydrodynamics of air lift reactors, section 4 the power consumption of continuously stirred tank reactors, section 5 retrofitting existing infrastructure for the bioeconomy and section 6 the safety considerations when designing and operating a biorefinery. Finally, this chapter ends with a summary.

5.1. Circular economy model

For developing the circular economy model proposed in **Journal Publication 1**, different technologies from the Atacama and Sonoran Deserts and non-existing well-known bioeconomy applications were integrated. Solar energy is utilized to power a desalination plant, the freshwater is then used for food production either with hydroponic systems or water dozing with hydrogels provided by an irrigation system. Seaweed can be produced in the sea to be utilized either for food or to produce biochemicals. Seawater is also used for microalgae production in air lift photobioreactors or raceway ponds. The waste streams are separated depending on their salinity and then processed through anaerobic digestion, where biogas and digestate are produced. The biogas can then be upgraded to biomethane, and the carbon dioxide fraction is utilized as a feed for the microalgae, or it can be burned in a CHP unit; the exhaust gas, composed mainly of carbon dioxide, can also be utilized as feed for the microalgae, and the energy can be utilized as energy supply for the desalination plant. The digestate can then be used as fertilizer for the food production systems, and nutrients, such as nitrogen, phosphates, and potassium, can be recovered from the digestate. Figure 19 shows the circular economy model just described above.



Figure 19. Circular economy model. Adopted from Journal Publication 1.

As described in the research approach, the attributes associated with the processes and products were assessed by evaluating them from 0 to 10, where zero indicates poor performance, and ten indicates outstanding performance. The four attributes considered in the evaluation were technology readiness level, economic viability, ecological sustainability, and environmental risks. The technology readiness level assessed the readiness of the technology for deployment, while ecological sustainability evaluated its environmental impacts. Environmental risks refer to the potential irreversible environmental damage if the products or processes are not managed correctly, and economic viability evaluates the capital costs. The spider graph in Figure 20 evaluates the technologies in the circular economy model described above.



from Journal Publication 1.

The new perspective proposed with this circular economy model is presented in Figure 21, where the standard opinion and reality in desert coastal regions concerning water scarcity are used to develop a new hypothesis on utilizing the circular economy principles applied to the synergetic integration of state-of-the-art technologies. The state-of-the-art technologies are in most cases already in place in these regions. From here a new perspective promoting mature technologies such as, water desalination, solar energy, anaerobic digestion, hydroponic farming, water dosing with hydrogels applied on irrigation systems, microalgae and seaweed farming and nutrient recovery from anaerobic digestion is presented.



Figure 21. Process followed to develop the new perspective. Adopted from Journal Publication 1.

5.2. CO₂ enrichment for greenhouse crop farming

In **Journal Publication 2**, a biomethane plant located in Lower Austria was utilized to propose food production in greenhouses with CO_2 enrichment. The Bruck an der Leitha biomethane plant generates annually 5,200,000 m³ of biogas from waste. From which 3,300,000 m³ are upgraded to biomethane and 1,900,000 m³ is unutilized carbon dioxide. Biomethane is obtained by upgrading biogas through a purification process. The different biogas upgrading technologies and their distribution through European biogas plants is presented in Chapter 3 of **Public Report 2**, appended to this thesis. This plant utilizes a membrane upgrading technology that Makaruk et al. (2010) developed. Since there is no use for the carbon dioxide in this plant, it is released into the atmosphere. Based on the circular economy principles, resources should not be wasted; hence the reutilization of this wasted resource (CO₂) is proposed for the enrichment of greenhouses.

The methodology employed in this study includes analyzing data, performing calculations, and comparing greenhouse areas across various designs. Two different methods were utilized for optimal greenhouse size calculation, a simplified and a detailed calculation.

As described in the schematic representation (Figure 4) of the simplified calculation in the research approach, the monthly availability of sun hours determines the number of available hours for utilizing CO_2 in greenhouse crop production. Table 6 shows the monthly CO_2 enrichment obtained by multiplying the CO_2 applied rates (Blom et al., 2002) for a completely closed and a partially opened greenhouse. These monthly values are added and divided by the yearly available CO_2 to obtain the greenhouse area in hectares that can be enriched with carbo dioxide.

 Table 6: Potential yearly CO2 use by month based on sunshine hours at Bruck an der Leitha.

 Adopted from Journal Publication 2.

	-							
	Number of		CO ₂ Applied R			.ate (kg/ha/h)		
Month	hours	Cor	npletely Clo	sed	Pa	artially Opene	ed	
	applied (h)	12	18	24	45	65	90	
January	275.9	3,310.8	4,966.2	6,621.6	12,415.5	17,933.5	24,831	
February	288.4	3,460.8	5,191.2	6,921.6	12,978	18,746	25,956	
March	372	4,464	6,696	8,928	16,740	24,180	33,480	
April	411	4,932	7,398	9,864	18,495	26,715	36,990	
May	471.2	5,654.4	8,481.6	11,308.8	21,204	30,628	42,408	
June	480	5,760	8,640	11,520	21,600	31,200	43,200	
July	483.6	5,803.2	8,704.8	11,606.4	21,762	31,434	43,524	
August	440.2	5,282.4	7,923.6	10,564.8	19,809	28,613	39,618	
September	375	4,500	6,750	9,000	16,875	24,375	33,750	
October	334.8	4,017.6	6,026.4	8,035.2	15,066	21,762	30,132	
November	276	3,312	4,968	6,624	12,420	17,940	24,840	
December	260.4	3,124.8	4,687.2	6,249.6	11,718	16,926	23,436	
Tota	l (kg)	53,622	80,451	107,244	201,082.5	290,452.5	402,165	
Greenhous	e Area (Ha)	17.92	11.95	8.96	4.78	3.31	2.39	

The process for the detailed calculation is presented in Figure 5 of the research approach. Table 7 shows the hectares that can be enriched with CO_2 with and without CO_2 storage for a completely closed greenhouse and for double polyethylene and standard glass partially opened greenhouse.

Table 7: Summary of results. Adopted from Journal Publication 2.

Concept	Completely Closed	, Partially C Double Polyethylene	pened Standard Glass
Greenhouse with No CO ₂ Storage			
(Ha)	7.03	4.82	2.81
Greenhouse with CO ₂ Storage (Ha)	11.31	6.97	3.85
CO ₂ Storage (m ³)	368,989	276,515	232,791
CO ₂ Uptake Rate (kg/h/100m ²)	0.12-0.24	0.25-0.35	0.5-0.6

5.3. Hydrodynamic study in air lift bioreactors with computational fluid dynamics

The first step when performing CFD is evaluating the spatial discretization error. This validation process involves conducting mesh convergence studies, as discussed and shown in the research approach section.

Not all of the CFD studies in ALRs are presented in this section; a timeline of all the works is shown in Figure 22. From Figure 22, the CFD studies performed chronologically in ALRs are the following. First, **Public Report 2**, followed by a poster for a summer school based on the results of **Public Report 2**. The subsequent two studies showed three different vessels' morphology with single and double draft tube configurations presented in **Journal Publication 3** and **Poster 3**. This was followed by an open-source toolbox in **Public Report 3**, where a tutorial based on **Journal Publication 3** was presented. The following study was **Journal Publication 4**, where different draft tube configurations were tested for double-stage ALRs. The last study in the timeline is **Conference Publication 1**, where single, double, and triple-stage configurations were compared.



Figure 22. Timeline of works in air lift reactors during the thesis. Adapted from Ramonet et al. (2023).

The first part of the study in air lift reactors for this thesis is **Journal Publication 3**. The mesh properties utilized in this publication are presented in Table 8, which are the number of cells, maximum skewness, and maximum non-orthogonality.

Table 8: Mesh properties.

	Squared	Squared	Cylindrical	Cylindrical	Single Draft	Double Draft
Properties	Single Draft	Double Draft	Single Draft	Double Draft	Tube	Tube
	Tube	Tube	Tube	Tube	Geometry	Geometry
Cells	672,172	681,806	320,430	641,705	445,808	645,772
Maximum						
Skewness	4.21	4.41	3.2	4.48	4.71	3.26
Maximum						
Non-	53.06	52 50	63 56	64.80	55 20	52 51
orthogonality	55.90	52.50	03.50	04.00	55.29	55.51

The results from the simulations are presented in Table 9. The first column notes if it is the squared, cylindrical, and cylindrical connect bottom geometries, the second column marks if it is a single or

double draft tube configuration, and the third column indicates if the velocity is 0.01, 0.02, or 0.04 m/s. The simulation time for all geometries was 60 seconds. In **Journal Publication 3**, the same table shows the cases from the squared double draft tube at 0.02 m/s and cylindrical single draft tube at 0.04 m/s, both at less than 35 seconds of simulation time, since computation was not completed at the time of the submission. The computation time varied from 59 to 3,123 hours. The number of cores utilized for the computation was either 4 or 8; for more details, consult **Journal Publication 3**. The timestep chosen for the simulation is shown in the last column; in some cases, it was set as an adjustable timestep, which means that it is self-calculated by the algorithm depending on the Courant number.

Geometry	Draft tube	Velocity (x10 ⁻² m/s)	Computation Time (h)	Timestep (s)
	Single	1	650	5x10 ⁻⁴
Squarad	Single	2	797	5x10 ⁻⁴
Squared	Double	1	656	5x10 ⁻⁴
	Double	2	3,123	1x10 ⁻⁴ *
	Single	4	2,898	1x10 ⁻⁴ *
Cylindrical	Double	1	198	1x10 ⁻³
	Double	4	207	1x10 ⁻³
Cylindrical canad battam	Single	4	59	1x10 ⁻³ *
Cylinuncal coned bollom	Double	4	81	1x10 ⁻⁴ *

 Table 9: Summary from computation. Adapted from Journal Publication 3.

* Adjustable timestep, self-calculated by the algorithm depending on the timestep's Courant number.

Figure 23 shows the six geometries in (a) squared single and double draft tube, (b) cylindrical single and double draft tube, and (c) cylindrical coned bottom single and double draft tube at 60, 26.1 and 60 seconds of simulation, respectively. Figure 23 (d) shows the two draft tube circulation loops; yellow is the circulation loop for the first draft tube, and green is the circulation loop for the second draft tube for the double draft tube configuration.



Figure 23. Squared (a), cylindrical (b), and cylindrical conned bottom (c) geometries, (d) circulation loops. Adopted from **Journal Publication 3**.

Table 10 presents the results from the nine cases simulated in **Journal Publication 3**. In Table 10, two sampling points were taken on the downcomer side of the reactor: one at the bottom, between the bottom and the draft tube, and another at the top, between the draft tube and the fluid's level. The table displays the sampled points' turbulence kinetic energy, fluid velocity, and pressure. Despite using lower velocities for the inlet in geometries Squared Single Draft Tube and Squared Double Draft Tube, higher downcomer velocities are observed at the bottom sampled point due to the pressure increase caused by the reactor diameter-to-draft tube diameter ratio. The Cylindrical Single Draft Tube and Cylindrical Double Draft Tube geometries exhibit lower turbulent kinetic energy at both the top and bottom points, which can be attributed to the distance between the top of the draft tube and the liquid's surface area. Regarding the draft tube loop circulation time, the worst performance is observed in Cylindrical Double Draft Tube with an inlet velocity of 0.04 m/s.

	Case		Turbulen energy pha (m ²	ce kinetic in fluid ase /s²)	Fluid ve Y- (r	elocity on axis n/s)	Pres (m	ssure bar)	Draft tu circulat (ibe loop ion time s)
Geometry	Draft tube	Velocity (x10 ⁻² m/s)	Тор	Bottom	Тор	Bottom	Тор	Bottom	First	Second
	Single	1	5.87x10 ⁻⁴	1.36x10 ⁻⁴	0.028	0.02	1,127	1,182	16.56	-
Squarad	Single	2	2.02x10 ⁻⁴	8.24x10 ⁻⁵	0.04	0.07	1,269	1,321	12.28	-
Squared	Double	1	6.73x10 ⁻⁴	2.82x10 ⁻⁵	0.018	0.02	1,125	1,180	34.85	54.22
	Double	2	3.22x10 ⁻⁴	2.29x10 ⁻⁶	0.04	0.006	1,045	1,097	24.76	32.37
	Single	4	6.18x10 ⁻⁵	1.95x10 ⁻⁶	0.035	0.019	1,004	1,074	145.36	-
Cylindrical	Double	1	1.44x10 ⁻⁴	1.36x10 ⁻⁶	0.007	0.001	1,004	1,095	27.52	45.04
	Double	4	2.21x10 ⁻⁴	7.52x10 ⁻⁷	0.043	0.001	1,004	1,077	20.70	146.06
Cylindrical	Single	4	4.48x10 ⁻⁵	2.14x10 ⁻⁶	0.018	0.006	1,004	1,077	53.40	-
coned bottom	Double	4	1.28x10 ⁻⁴	1.04x10 ⁻⁶	0.033	0.007	1,004	1,077	26.91	110.76

Table 10: Obtained result	s. Adopted from Rai	monet et al. (2022a)
---------------------------	---------------------	----------------------

Figure 24 plots the squared geometry's riser and downcomer water velocity with single and double draft tube configurations at 0.01 and 0.02 m/s. On the lower part of the single and double draft tube cases at 0.02 m/s, the riser behaves very similarly, but at around 1/3 of the vessel, it can be seen that the double draft tube configuration reaches a higher water velocity. On the upper part of the reactors there is a big difference in the upcomer (riser) water velocities. On the other hand, on the downcomer velocities, there is a big difference between the single and the double draft tube configurations on the lower part of the reactor, which is not seen on the top section of the reactor. A one order of magnitude difference can be seen between the riser and downcomer water velocities.



Figure 24. Riser and downcomer velocity of squared geometry. Adopted from Ramonet et al. (2022a).

Figure 25 plots the riser and downcomer velocities of the cylindrical geometry with single and double draft tube configurations. The single draft tube configuration was simulated at 0.04 m/s inlet velocity, while the double draft tube configuration was simulated at 0.01 and 0.04 m/s inlet velocity. The behavior of the single and double draft tube configurations is quite similar on the riser at 0.04 m/s. The double draft tube configuration at 0.01 m/s does not show the same trend as the others on the riser section, and the velocity on the top of the reactor is higher when utilizing this inlet velocity. When analyzing the downcomer velocities, the double draft tube configurations show the same behavior at the lower part of the reactor, but a big difference can be seen in the upper section. The single draft tube configuration shows a stable downcomer velocity due to the fact that the flow behaves as a pipe flow in most of the reactor; a significant pressure drop (more than 50 %) can be seen when the draft tube finishes in the lower part of the reactor.



Figure 25. Riser and downcomer velocity of cylindric geometry. Adopted from Ramonet et al. (2022a).

Figure 26 plots the cylindrical conned bottom geometry with single and double draft tube configurations at 0.04 m/s. Both geometries show the same behavior from the riser section, but higher velocities are seen on the double draft tube configuration. On the downcomer velocities, higher velocities are seen on the top of the reactor on the double draft tube, but then drops at 3/4 of height, and the single daft tube configuration remains more stable with a higher velocity.



Figure 26. Riser and downcomer velocity of cylindrical coned bottom geometry. Adopted from Ramonet et al. (2022a).

Figure 27 plots the riser velocity of the squared, cylindrical, and cylindrical conned bottom with single and double draft tube configurations at all simulated velocities. The axis with the axial water velocity was set the same on the three graphs for comparison reasons. This figure shows that the higher upcomer (riser) velocity is higher on the squared geometries, followed by the cylindrical conned bottom geometries. The higher velocities on the squared geometries can be by the pressure difference created by the vessel-draft tube ratio and the distance between the interphase surface and the end of the draft tube area, as reported in **Journal Publication 3**.



Figure 27. Axial water velocities on the riser of squared, cylindrical, and cylindrical coned bottom geometries. Adopted from Ramonet et al. (2022a).

Figure 28 plots the downcomer velocity of the squared, cylindrical, and cylindrical conned bottom with single and double draft tube configurations at all simulated velocities. The axis with the axial water velocity was set the same on the three graphs for comparison reasons. When comparing all the simulated cases from this study, the higher downcomer velocities at the bottom part of the air lift reactors is seen on the squared single draft tube cases. The tendency presented on the cylindrical and cylindrical coned bottom double draft tube geometries downcomer velocities shows a smoother trend at the bottom of the reactor.



Figure 28. Axial water velocities on the downcomer of squared, cylindrical, and cylindrical coned bottom geometries. Adopted from Ramonet et al. (2022a).

As highlighted in **Journal Publication 3**, it is essential to allocate more attention to understanding the impact of dividing the draft tube into two or more sections on the overall mixing inside ALRs. This study aimed to compare various internal configurations of ALRs using CFD. The square single and double draft tube reactors exhibited higher downcomer velocities, greater turbulence kinetic energy, and shorter loop circulation times among the three geometries examined. When comparing single and double-draft tube configurations, it was observed that the upper part of the double-draft tube design experienced higher turbulent kinetic energy. The ratio of draft tube-vessel width and the distance between the draft tube and the fluid's surface was found to impact the loop circulation time of the draft tube. Additionally, the internal geometry of ALRs was found to influence the downcomer velocity. Further research is necessary to investigate the flow behavior when different draft tube parameters are utilized, such as distance between draft tube and surface, distance between draft tubes, length of draft tubes, and draft tube diameter.

The second part of the study in air lift reactors for this thesis is **Journal Publication 4**. As described in the research approach, ten geometries were utilized for this study based on the cylindrical and cylindrical coned bottom from **Journal Publication 3**.

Figure 29 shows the ten geometries utilized in this study. Geometries 1 and 3 are the same as the cylindrical double draft tube and cylindrical conned bottom double draft tube geometries presented

in **Journal Publication 3**. Figure 29 was already shown on the research approach as Figure 9, but it is brought up again to illustrate the ten geometries. Specifics from the geometries can be consulted on the appended **Journal Publication 4**. Geometry two was made as a variation of geometry one by varying the distance between draft tubes, geometry four was created as a variation of three by also varying the distance between draft tubes, and geometries five and six are geometries three and four but with different liquid height to investigate how this parameter affects the overall flow inside the ALR. Geometry seven has the same draft tube heights as one; the difference is that the upper part of both draft tubes has a reduction in diameter, giving the draft tubes the appearance and properties of funnels. Geometry two. Geometries eight and ten are also variations of geometry two; on eight, the top draft tube is inverted from the one in nine. Geometry ten keeps the top draft tube as geometry two, but the bottom one has a funnel configuration as in eight and nine.



Figure 29. Ten geometries utilized in the study. Extracted from Journal Publication 4.

The mesh properties utilized in this publication are presented in Table 11, which are the number of cells, maximum skewness, and maximum non-orthogonality. The skewness is defined as "the difference between the shape of the cell and the shape of the equilateral cell of equivalent volume" (Zhou et al., 2022).

Geometry	Cell Number (×10 ³)	Max. Skewness	Max. Non-Orthogonality
1	646	3.27	53.51
2	646	2.51	64.66
3	642	4.48	64.80
4	306	3.74	64.86
5	306	3.74	64.86
6	642	4.48	64.80
7	623	2.80	64.83
8	1,012	2.84	54.85
9	683	3.15	46.39
10	1,043	3.37	58.38

Table 11. Mesh properties of double-stage ALR geometries utilized for Journal Publication 4.Adopted from Journal Publication 4.

The first comparison of the geometries can be performed with geometries one and two. Figure 30 plots the riser and downcomer of geometries one and two. This figure shows that varying the distance between cylindrical draft tubes does not have significant effects on the overall flow of ALRs.



Figure 30. Riser and downcomer velocity for geometries 1 and 2. Adapted from Journal Publication 4.

The second comparison is made with the cylindrical geometries three, four, five, and six. Figure 31 plots the riser and downcomer velocities of the cylindrical geometries based on the cylindrical double draft tube geometry from **Journal Publication 3**, taken initially from Shi et al. (2021). As it can be seen from Figure 31, the axial velocity shows the same trend on the riser section on all four geometries. Geometries 5 and 6 exhibit higher rising velocities at the bottom of the draft tube, while the axial velocity on the riser section remains approximately the same across all four cases. Upon leaving this section, geometries 5 and 6 show higher velocities again. Geometries 3 and 4, with the same liquid height, exhibit a similar trend. Regarding geometrical characteristics, geometry 3 and 6 share the same features, differing only in liquid height, while geometry 4 and 5 have the same

geometrical characteristics but different liquid heights. Figure 31 demonstrates that the behavior of the riser is mainly influenced by the fluid height, as geometries with the same liquid height exhibit similar tendencies. Moving on to the downcomer velocities shown in Figure 31, they exhibit a consistent pattern at the bottom of the reactor but vary in the upper part. Geometry 3 shows a linear decrease in velocity as the flow descends, while geometry 5 demonstrates a more stable velocity in the upper part, which could be advantageous for microorganism cultures. Considering that the variations in these four cases involve liquid height and the distance between draft tubes, the most stable downcomer velocity is observed when the bottom clearance and distance between the draft tubes are approximately equal, and their sum is roughly equal to the top clearance.



Figure 31. Riser and downcomer velocity for geometries 3, 4, 5, and 6. Adapted from Journal Publication 4.

Figure 32 plots the riser and downcomer velocities of the cylindrical coned bottom geometries based on the cylindrical coned bottom double draft tube geometry from **Journal Publication 3**. Figure 32 shows that geometry 7 exhibits poorer performance compared to the other three cases in the upper half of the reactor, as it has a lower riser velocity. Geometries 8 and 10 display similar behavior in the riser, although geometry 8 demonstrates a higher velocity at the top of the reactor, which may be attributed to the contraction-expansion effect. In terms of the downcomer velocities, all geometries exhibit a similar trend at the bottom of the reactor. However, at the top of the reactor, geometry 9 the velocity is approximately the double of geometries 8 and 10 and nearly triples the velocity of geometry 7. Geometry 7 demonstrates greater stability in the liquid phase of the top half of the reactor for downcomer velocity, but it exhibits the lowest velocity in the same region for the riser.


Figure 32. Riser and downcomer velocity for geometries 7, 8, 9, and 10. Adapted from **Journal Publication 4**.

The results from the simulations are presented in Table 12. Two data extraction points were chosen at approximately the same height on each case's top and bottom of the downcomer side. The pressure varies across cases depending on the liquid height. The axial velocity is shown as an absolute value in meters per second (m/s). Table 12 also provides information on turbulent kinetic energy. The circulation time of the draft tube was calculated for each case. All simulations were performed on four cores, with computation times ranging from 81 to 438 hours, and an adjustable time step was utilized in all cases.

Table 12 includes two columns labeled "first draft tube" and "second draft tube." The "first draft tube" column indicates the time it takes for a particle to travel from the inlet, move up until the top draft tube is reached, descend, and incorporate itself back into the flow of the first draft tube, forming a loop as shown in Figure 10 with the blue arrows. The "second draft tube" column indicates the time it takes for a particle to travel from the interphase section, and descend to the bottom of the lower draft tube, forming a loop, as shown in Figure 10 with the black arrows.

Moving from geometry 1 to 2 involved raising the draft tube by 8 cm, a change also made in geometries 7 to 9. Previous literature, such as the work by Pironti et al. (1995), has experimentally studied this phenomenon using a single draft tube geometry with a conical bottom, revealing that draft tube placement significantly affects the hydrodynamic behavior. Analyzing the data in Table **12**, it can be observed that the top velocity in geometry 9 is more than twice that of its reference geometry (7), which can be attributed to the double velocity gradient achieved by the smaller distance between the draft tubes and the double funnel configuration. On the other hand, the downcomer velocity is one-third of its counterpart, resulting in a less active zone at the bottom of the reactor. Among the six configurations with conical bottoms, geometry 9 exhibits the fastest recirculation loop in the upper loop of the reactor (top draft tube). The fastest circulation for the second loop in the conical bottom

geometries was observed in geometry 7. As for the cylindrical draft tube (geometries 1 and 2), the only notable remark is the decrease in velocity at the bottom of the reactor at the measuring point caused by the movement of the draft tube.

The conical bottom reactor demonstrates the following characteristics when compared by reactor type. Cases 1, 2, 7, 8, 9, and 10 exhibit similar pressure and draft tube loop circulation times, with pressure ranging from 100,374 to 100,402 Pa and draft tube loop circulation time on the first loop ranging from 21.4 to 36.97 s. However, there are noticeable differences in axial velocity and turbulent kinetic energy. Cases 1 and 2 have the highest values for turbulent kinetic energy, while cases 9 and 10 have the highest values for axial velocity. Case 8 has the highest value for turbulent kinetic energy and the second-highest value for axial velocity. Case 7 has the lowest values for axial velocity and turbulent kinetic energy. Overall, it appears that the design parameters used in cases 1, 2, 8, 9, and 10 were more effective in achieving high axial velocities and turbulent kinetic energies than the design parameters used in case 7.

Among the four cylindrical ALR cases (3, 4, 5, and 6). Cases 3 and 6 have the same geometry but different liquid heights. Similarly, cases 4 and 5 have the same geometry but different liquid heights. Specifically, the liquid heights in cases 3 and 4 are identical, while those in cases 5 and 6 are the same. However, the liquid heights in cases 3 and 4 differ from those in cases 5 and 6. Looking at the results, case 3 demonstrates the highest axial velocity (at the bottom), turbulent kinetic energy (at the bottom), and second lowest circulation time for the first draft tube loop. Case 4 exhibits the second lowest axial velocity and turbulent kinetic energy (at the top). Case 5 has the second highest turbulent kinetic energy for the top section. Case 6 has the lowest circulation time for the second draft tube loop, indicating the most efficient flow in this loop. In summary, case 6 displays the most efficient fluid circulation and mixing, followed by case 3, case 5, and finally, case 4.

Geometry	Pressure (Pa)		Axial Velocity (m/s)		Turbulent Kinetic Energy (m²/s²)	Draft Tu Circulatio	Draft Tube Loop Circulation Time (s)	
	Тор	Bottom	Тор	Bottom	Top Bottom	First	Second	
1	100,388	107,722	0.0307	0.0049	1.24 × 10 ⁻⁴ 1.04 × 10	-6 27.02	110.76	
2	100,389	107,721	0.0299	0.0027	1.27 × 10 ⁻⁴ 7.99 × 10	-7 25.07	128.04	
3	100,395	107,727	0.0355	0.0024	2.21 × 10 ⁻⁴ 7.36 × 10 ⁻⁴	-7 20.7	146.06	
4	100,401	107,732	0.0206	0.0032	7.26 × 10 ⁻⁵ 9.96 × 10	-7 21.4	112.17	
5	100402	106,268	0.0176	0.0029	1.20 × 10 ⁻⁴ 1.04 × 10	⁻⁶ 23.81	104.77	
6	100,396	106,266	0.0386	0.0039	1.57 x10 ⁻⁴ 1.82 x10 ⁻	⁻⁶ 18.59	91.75	
7	100,388	107,723	0.0232	0.0062	5.95 × 10 ⁻⁵ 9.20 × 10	-7 24.45	73.48	
8	100,387	107,721	0.0346	0.0015	3.04 × 10 ⁻⁴ 8.27 × 10	-7 36.97	156.27	
9	100,374	107,707	0.0574	0.0023	5.90 × 10 ⁻⁴ 1.05 × 10	-6 21.63	98.41	
10	100,388	107,721	0.0331	0.0022	6.11 × 10 ⁻⁵ 8.66 × 10	-7 23.58	110.58	

Table 12. Results from the simulation

Figure 33 illustrates the axial velocity distribution for all ten cases. The comparison is divided into three sections, similar to the previous section: the first comparison includes geometries 1 and 2

(Figure 33a), the second comparison includes geometries 3-6 (Figure 33b), and the third comparison includes geometries 7-10 (Figure 33c). In the visualization, positive values from orange to red represent the riser velocity, while negative values from green to blue represent the downcomer velocity.

In geometries 1 and 2 (Figure 33a), it can be observed that the downcomer flows into the bottom of the draft tube. This counterflow pattern is also present in most geometries shown in Figure 33b. However, this counterflow effect has been eliminated by modifying the bottom draft tube into a funnel shape, reducing the diameter of the upper part of the draft tube, as depicted in Figure 33c.



Figure 33. Axial water velocities of double-stage internal loop ALRs simulated. A) geometries 1 and 2, b) geometries 3, 4, 5, and 6, and c) geometries 7, 8, 9, and 10. Adopted from **Journal Publication 4**.

As an illustrative example, to represent the flow, geometry 9 is presented every 5 seconds from 5 to 60 seconds, coloring the axial water velocity in m/s with a maximum of 0.05 m/s in the upcomer and a maximum of 0.03 in the downcomer. Figure 34 shows this representation.



Figure 34. Axial water velocity of Geometry 9. Adopted from Journal Publication 4.

To obtain a visual representation of the downcomer velocity, all coned bottom geometries (1, 2, 7, 8, 9, and 10) are presented in Figure 35, coloring the values from 0 to -0.01 m/s (blue to black) by neglecting the positive axial water velocity, only the downcomer velocity is colored.



Figure 35. Downcomer velocity of geometries 1, 2, 7, 8, 9 and 10. Adopted from Journal Publication 4.

Figure 36 illustrates the flow patterns within air lift bioreactors, where 25 particles were selected as a sample to visualize streamlines colored according to their velocity magnitude. As shown from Figure 36, most of the particles stay in the first circulation loop and the 25 particles during the

60 seconds of simulation cannot capture the second loop in all cases. The velocity distribution shows higher velocities on the top of the reactor.



Figure 36. Streamlines coloring the velocity in m/s of geometries 1, 2, 7, 8, 9, and 10. Adopted from **Journal Publication 4**.

As a validation of the two-fluid model, the squared single draft tube geometry from Jia et al. (2007) was compared to the simulations performed in **Journal Publication 3**. Figure 37 shows this comparison.



Figure 37. Model validation from literature values for 0.01 and 0.02 m/s. Adapted from **Journal Publication 4**.

Continuing with the hydrodynamics in internal loop air lift reactors, **Conference Publication 1** compares the hydrodynamics of the single (SDG), double (DDG), and triple (TDG) draft tube configurations. Figure 38 shows the velocities in the riser section of the reactor. Among the configurations, the single draft tube geometry exhibits the highest riser velocity, followed by the double and triple draft tubes.



Figure 38. Comparison of riser velocity of Single Draft tube Geometry (SDG), Double Draft tube Geometry (DDG), and Triple Draft tube Geometry (TDG). Adapted from **Conference Publication 1**.

Figure 39 shows the downcomer velocities, revealing that the single draft tube configuration maintains a consistent downcomer velocity along the draft tube. The triple draft tube geometry demonstrates the least steep slope. When comparing the reactor height values for each configuration, it is observed that at the height of 0.18 meters, the TDG configuration has the highest value (4.55x10⁻³) compared to SDG (1.96x10⁻³) and DDG (1.93x10⁻³). However, at a height of 0.28 meters, SDG exhibits the highest value (3.17x10⁻²) compared to DDG (8.08x10⁻³) and TDG (1.37x10⁻²). At higher reactor heights (above 0.5 meters), the values for all three configurations become more comparable, with only slight differences between them.



Figure 39. Comparison of riser and downcomer velocity of Single Draft tube Geometry (SDG), Double Draft tube Geometry (DDG), and Triple Draft tube Geometry (TDG). Adapted from **Conference Publication 1**.

Overall, the data suggest that the internal configuration of the air lift reactor significantly influences its performance, with each configuration demonstrating unique strengths and weaknesses at different reactor heights.

Table 13 presents simulation results for the three different geometries: single draft tube (SDG), double draft tube (DDG), and triple draft tube (TDG). The results include pressure values, turbulent kinetic energy in the fluid phase, and fluid velocity on the Y-axis. At a height of 0.23 meters, the pressure values are similar for all three geometries. As the height increases, the pressure values decrease slightly across all configurations. Regarding turbulent kinetic energy, at a height of 0.23 meters, SDG exhibits the highest value, while at an altitude of 0.58 meters, TDG has the highest value. At heights of 0.78 meters and 0.95 meters, DDG shows the highest turbulent kinetic energy, and at 1.32 meters, TDG has the highest value. In terms of fluid velocity on the Y-axis, TDG demonstrates the highest values at a height of 0.23 meters, while SDG has the highest velocity at a height of 0.58 meters. At heights of 0.78 meters and 0.95 meters, the use of 0.58 meters. TDG maintains the highest fluid velocity, whereas, at 1.32 meters, all configurations have similar velocities. These findings emphasize the influence of draft tube geometry on pressure, turbulent kinetic energy, and fluid velocity, with variations observed at different heights within the system.

Overall, the data suggests that the different draft tube geometries impact the pressure, turbulent kinetic energy, and fluid velocity within the system. The values vary depending on the height of the reactor and the specific geometry being considered. These findings highlight the importance of considering the draft tube design when analyzing the performance and characteristics of the system, as each configuration exhibits its own strengths and weaknesses at different heights.

	Pressure (Pa)			Turbuler fluid pl	nt kinetic e hase (x10 ⁻	energy in ⁶ m²/s²)	Fluid velocity on Y-axis (x10 ⁻² m/s)		
Height	SDG DDG TDG		SDG	DDG	TDG	SDG	DDG	TDG	
0.23	111,044	111,048	111,098	3.949	0.999	1.468	0.858	0.121	0.342
0.58	107,623	107,626	107,676	2.792	5.019	9.666	3.497	1.475	1.874
0.78	105,668	105,671	105,721	4.382	16.568	11.175	3.217	2.463	4.086
0.95	104,006	104,009	104,058	7.774	9.551	71.622	3.015	3.987	4.552
1.32	100,386	100,389	100,440	108.579	109.766	113.069	2.647	2.638	2.580

Table 13. Simulation results from Conference Publication 1. Adapted from Ramonet et al. (2023).

To illustrate the fluid circulation loops, Figure 40a shows the water velocity magnitude of the three geometries. To focus only on the downcomer velocity, the riser velocity was also neglected by coloring the axial water velocity from 0 to -0.025 m/s, limiting the minor value for visualization purposes in Figure 40b. At limited downcomer velocities, it is observed that the double-stage geometry exhibits a higher downcomer velocity in the top section. At the same time, the triple-stage configuration shows a more stable downcomer velocity.



Figure 40. a) Water velocity magnitude of single, double, and triple draft tube geometries colored at a maximum velocity of 0.1 m/s. b) Downcomer velocity of single, double, and triple draft tube geometries colored at a maximal downcomer velocity of 0.025 m/s. Adopted from **Conference Publication 1**.

Part of this research was coupling an in-house Lagrangian particle utility to the two-fluid model (Euler-Euler approach). Figure 41 shows the particles at 7, 15, 33, and 75 seconds.

Figure 41 shows the distribution of injected particles at various time intervals across the three different geometries. The particles, injected through the inlet patch at a constant flow rate, have a total mass of 5 kg and are released for one second at a velocity of 0.06 m/s with 4994 parcels per second. Notably, the conical bottom in Figure 41 (a), (b), (c), and (d) is a region with minimal fluid circulation, resulting in particle stagnation, as it is typically utilized for sedimentation. Experimental observations in reactors with conical bottoms have shown the accumulation of solids, which could account for the observed disparity, as suspended solids may precipitate within the reactor (Garcia-Calderon et al., 1998). At 7 seconds of simulation (Figure 41a), it can be seen that the particles in the SDG have reached the surface, while not on the other two geometries; at this time, it can also be seen that the particles escape from the openings between the draft tubes. At 15 seconds of simulation (Figure 41c), all geometries have particles that have reached the surface. At 33 seconds (Figure 41c), all the geometries have particles in all geometries seem more dispersed.



Figure 41. Lagrangian particles coupled with the liquid phase (a) at 7 seconds, (b) at 15 seconds, (c) at 33 seconds, and (d) at 75 seconds. Adapted from **Conference Publication 1**.

Figure 42 depicts the trajectories of 25 particles over a 75-second simulation, with the color's bar representing a maximum velocity limit of 0.2 m/s. The circulation loop on the top draft tube in the double-stage geometry (DDG) is visible, while none of the observed particles exhibit the second circulation loop. On the contrary, in the triple-stage geometry (TDG), all three circulation loops are observed among the 25 particles.



Figure 42. Particle tracks of 25 particles with particle velocity magnitude (m/s) during 75 seconds of simulation. Adopted from **Conference Publication 1**.

5.4. Power consumption in continuously stirred tank reactors

Continuing with exploring different bioreactors that play a crucial role in the bioeconomy, CSTRs emerge as another widely utilized option. In contrast to air lift bioreactors, which were the focus of the previous hydrodynamic study, CSTRs offer their own unique characteristics and operational considerations. One important aspect that requires careful examination in CSTRs is power consumption, which can significantly impact the overall efficiency and cost-effectiveness of the bioprocess. To quantify and analyze power consumption in CSTRs, the concept of the Power Number becomes a fundamental parameter to investigate.

As mentioned in the research approach, this study involved experiments and simulations of three types of stirrers: pitched blade, cage, and paddle. Throughout the experimental phase, the velocity was incrementally augmented until the occurrence of unstable vibrations, which impeded the torque measurement. To obtain comprehensive data, torque measurements were documented for each type of stirrer within predefined ranges of rotational speeds in revolutions per minute (RPM): stirrer 1 ranged from 550 to 1300 RPM, stirrer 2 ranged from 400 to 950 RPM, and stirrer 3 ranged from 130 to 325 RPM.

The torque outcomes from the experimental investigation and simulation scenarios for three distinct stirrers are presented in Table 14. In the case of Stirrer 1 and Stirrer 2, the experimental torque demonstrates a progressive increase as the rotational speed escalates. On the other hand, for Stirrer 3, the experimental torque consistently exceeds the simulated torque in all cases. The largest

disparity between the experimental and simulated torque values is observed for Stirrer 3 at higher rotational speeds. One plausible explanation for these inconsistencies is that the experimental equipment employed is primarily designed for instructional purposes and has not undergone calibration since its installation.

Stirrer 1				Stirrer 2		Stirrer 3		
Case	Experimental	Simulated	Case	Experimental	Simulated	Case	Experimental	Simulated
	(x10 ⁻² Nm)	(x10 ⁻² Nm)		(x10 ⁻² Nm)	(x10 ⁻² Nm)		(x10 ⁻² Nm)	(x10 ⁻³ Nm)
550	1	5.59	400	2	2.11	130	2	3.03
650	6	7.84	500	11	3.30	150	11	4.06
750	11	10.45	600	17	4.75	175	17	5.55
850	15	13.37	700	24	6.42	200	23	7.24
950	19	16.70	800	31	8.42	250	39	11.23
1050	26	20.33	850	35	9.57	275	47	13.50
1150	30	24.36	900	40	10.76	300	57	16.06
1250	36	28.83	950	44	11.92	325	67	18.85

Table 14. Comparison of experimentally measured vs. simulated torque.

Table 15 compares the power numbers obtained from experimental measurements and CFD simulations for the three different stirrers. In the case of Stirrer 1, the experimental power number gradually increases with higher rotational speeds (cases). Conversely, the simulated power number remains relatively consistent at approximately 5.26 across all cases. Stirrer 2 exhibits a noticeable deviation between the experimental and simulated power numbers. At lower rotational speeds (cases 400-500), the experimental power number significantly surpasses the simulated power number. Stirrer 3 demonstrates significantly higher experimental power numbers than the simulated ones, particularly at higher rotational speeds. These findings suggest potential inaccuracies in the predictions of the CFD simulations or discrepancies arising from the lack of calibration for the laboratory stirrer controller, IKA EUROSTAR 200.

Table 15: Com	parison of ex	perimentally	measured vs.	simulated p	ower number.
---------------	---------------	--------------	--------------	-------------	--------------

Stirrer 1			Stirrer 2			Stirrer 3			
	Case Experimental Simulated		Case Experimental Simulated			Case	Simulated		
Ĩ	550	0.94	5.26	400	66.74	70.24	130	33.73	5.12
	650	4.05	5.29	500	234.92	70.44	150	139.34	5.15
	750	5.57	5.30	600	252.12	70.51	175	158.22	5.17
	850	5.92	5.28	700	261.51	69.96	200	163.89	5.16
	950	6.00	5.27	800	258.61	70.22	250	177.85	5.12
	1050	6.72	5.26	850	258.64	70.70	275	177.13	5.09
	1150	6.47	5.25	900	263.66	70.89	300	180.51	5.09
	1250	6.57	5.26	950	260.30	70.49	325	180.80	5.09

Figure 43 shows the flow pattern of the stirrers and the velocity profiles of the CSTRs colored at a maximum velocity magnitude of 2.6 m/s for the case of the pitched blade (a) and the cage impeller (b) and colored at a maximum velocity magnitude of 1.3 m/s for the case of the paddle impeller (c). For the pitched blade impeller, the case of 750 RPM was used; for the cage impeller, the case of 700 RPM was chosen; for the paddle impeller, the case of 300 RPM was selected for this figure.



Figure 43. Velocity profiles of three stirrer types a) pitched blade at 750 RPM, b) 6-cage impeller at 700 RPM, and c) paddle impeller at 300 RPM. Adopted from **Journal Publication 5**.

The subsequent section depicts 8 cases for each stirrer geometry, with the velocity magnitude illustrated through color. Figure 44 displays the velocity profiles of Stirrer 1, highlighting the maximum velocity magnitude at 2.6 m/s. Similarly, Figure 45 exhibits the velocity profiles of Stirrer 1, with the maximum velocity magnitude colored at 1.2 m/s. Furthermore, Figure 46 showcases the velocity profiles of Stirrer 1, emphasizing the maximum velocity magnitude at 0.75 m/s.



Figure 44. Velocity profiles stirrer 1 at 550, 650, 750, 850, 950, 1050, 1150, and 1250 RPM. Adopted from **Journal Publication 5**.



Figure 45. Velocity profiles stirrer 2 at 400, 450, 500, 600, 700, 800, 900, and 950 RPM. Adopted from **Journal Publication 5**.



Figure 46. Velocity profiles stirrer 3 at 130, 150, 175, 200, 225, 250, 300, and 325 RPM. Adopted from Journal Publication 5.

5.5. Retrofitting existing infrastructure for the bioeconomy

Journal Publication 6 aims to shift the existing paradigm of slurry disposal systems in Ireland, which currently contributes to ozone layer depletion and methane emissions from animal manures, such as cow and pig manure. These emissions have a significant global warming potential since each molecule of methane has a greater potential (25 times more over 100 years) for contributing to global warming compared to a carbon dioxide molecule; its capture and utilization as a fuel can offer one of the most environmentally friendly energy sources available (Abbasi et al., 2011). However, the high cost of farm-scale anaerobic digesters makes them financially unviable for many farmers, leading to the utilization of ELS tanks or slurry tower tanks for manure storage.

In contrast, the proposed system presented in **Journal Publication 6** offers an innovative and costeffective solution. The system provides several benefits by collecting the slurry from the barns and channelling it into a covered lagoon. Firstly, the biogas generated from the slurry can be harnessed for the production of electricity and/or heat, offering an alternative energy source. This reduces harmful emissions and creates potential revenue streams through the sale of excess biogas. Moreover, the produced heat can be utilized to warm the covered lagoon, ensuring optimal anaerobic digestion conditions. Additionally, the electricity generated can be used to power the barn or dairy plant, promoting energy efficiency.

Furthermore, the system allows for the safe utilization of the digestate, the liquid-solid fraction remaining after digestion, as a nutrient-rich fertilizer for fields. This closed-loop approach minimizes waste and promotes sustainable agricultural practices. Figure 47 illustrates the proposed system's transition from the current environmentally damaging approach to an environmentally friendly and economically viable system. With its lower cost and scalability, the proposed system in **Journal Publication 6** offers a promising alternative for slurry disposal, addressing environmental concerns while providing economic benefits for farmers.



Figure 47. Proposed systematic transition.

As described in the research approach, the attributes associated with the system's configuration were evaluated from 0 to 10, where zero indicates poor performance, and ten indicates outstanding performance. The evaluation considered seven attributes: performance, economic viability, efficiency, reliability, scalability, ecological sustainability, and environmental risks. Performance refers to the effectiveness and efficiency of the system in achieving its intended outcome, and it assesses how well the system performs its designated functions and meets established performance criteria. Efficiency measures the extent to which the system minimizes waste, conserves energy, and maximizes output. Efficiency aims to achieve the desired objectives with minimal resource inputs. Reliability refers to the ability of the system to perform its intended functions without failures or disruptions consistently, and also refers to robustness and ability to deliver consistent and predictable results over time. Scalability assesses the capacity of the system to adapt, expand, and reduce its volume. Ecological sustainability evaluates the environmental impacts of the system throughout its life cycle. Environmental risks refer to the potential for adverse environmental impacts if the system is not managed correctly. Economic viability evaluates the financial feasibility of the system by assessing capital costs. The spider graph in Figure 48 evaluates the three system configurations proposed.



Figure 48. Attribute evaluation of different proposed configurations.

The model is not considering pasteurization of the feedstock. The manure is pulled with the scrappers to be sent to a pretreatment tank, where water is added to get a ratio of 2:1 (water to manure) and heated up. From this pretreatment tank, the slurry is then sent to a plug flow reactor where the hydrolysis and acidogenesis take place; the hydraulic retention time of the slurry is 8 to 10 days. The slurry then passes to the covered lagoon, where it takes another 17-20 days to have the acetogenesis and methanogenesis steps. From the covered lagoon the digestate is dewatered and passed to an ELS tank to be then spread in the fields. The unutilized digestate is sold as organic fertilizer, generating extra income for the farm. Figure 49 shows a schematic representation of the process that was just described above.



Figure 49. Schematic of the proposed system.

Figure 50 shows a schematic of the heating system. The streams of water and biogas are shown with green arrows for water and yellow for the biogas. First, the biogas is extracted from the covered lagoon and passes to a biogas storage bag made from a polyethylene membrane. Then it passes through a desulphurization process to be burned in a boiler (shown with yellow arrows). The biogas boiler heats water and passes it first through the covered lagoon where the temperature needed is 38 °C. The water piping system then passes through the first stage of the digestion process (the plug flow reactor), finally through the pretreatment section, and then recycled to the boiler. Figure 50 shows the water (green arrows) and biogas (yellow arrows) streams of the system.

A desulphurization method is needed to remove the hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) from the raw biogas. Typical methods are biological scrubbers, which convert the H₂S utilizing biological conversion to elemental sulfur and sulfate; sulfide precipitation by using liquid metal salts such as iron hydroxide or iron chloride; or adsorption of activated carbon, copper oxide, zinc oxide, or iron oxide (Miltner et al., 2012). A fourth method was developed by Miltner et al. (2012), which is a chemical-oxidative scrubbing method for the biomethane plant in Bruck an der Leitha.



Figure 50. Water and biogas streams in the system.

When burning the biogas, it must be considered that the boiler's efficiency plays a critical role. The average calorific value of biogas ranges from 21-23.5 MJ/m³, equating to approximately 0.5-0.6 liters of diesel fuel or an energy content of around 6 kWh, although conversion losses limit its conversion to only about 1.7 kWh_{el} per 1 m³ of biogas (Energypedia, 2016).

The retrofitting solution presented in **Journal Publication 6** offers a promising and sustainable alternative for slurry disposal. By collecting and channeling slurry into a covered lagoon, the system enables biogas generation for electricity and heat production, reducing harmful emissions and creating potential revenue streams. Safely utilizing digestate as fertilizer promotes closed-loop agricultural practices, minimizing waste and environmental impact. With its cost-effectiveness and scalability, the proposed system addresses environmental concerns while providing economic benefits for farmers. Overall, this innovative solution represents a significant step towards a more sustainable and environmentally friendly approach to slurry management.

5.6. Safety considerations in biorefinery design and operation

The safe by design framework represents a comprehensive approach to ensure biorefinery operations' safety, environmental responsibility, and reliability. It encompasses various stages and interconnected elements that work together to minimize risks, protect the environment, and promote secure and sustainable practices.

Figure 51 illustrates an integrated framework for safe by design in biorefineries. The central circle represents the biorefinery system, while eight outer circles represent key elements of the framework. The figure emphasizes the interconnectedness and interdependence of these elements in ensuring the safety and reliability of biorefinery operations. The framework encompasses various stages, starting with hazard identification, where potential risks associated with biorefinery processes are thoroughly assessed. Risk and reliability assessment evaluates the likelihood and severity of identified hazards, while design integration integrates safety considerations into the early stages of biorefinery design. Inherent safety principles aim to minimize hazards at their source, and control measures are implemented to mitigate risks. Monitoring, maintenance, and reliability management ensure ongoing safety and performance, while emergency preparedness addresses potential incidents or accidents. Compliance and auditing ensure adherence to safety protocols, and the framework promotes continuous improvement through communication, training, and total quality management. The figure visually represents the comprehensive approach to safe by design, highlighting the importance of integrating safety measures across all aspects of biorefinery operations.



Figure 51. Integrated Framework for Safe by Design in Biorefineries.

Figure 52 represents the comprehensive framework for safe by design in biorefineries, visualized as an onion with layers. At the center of the figure, we find the human element, symbolizing the utmost importance of ensuring the safety and well-being of workers and surrounding communities throughout the biorefinery processes. Moving outward, the second layer focuses on implementing robust safety measures in biotechnology to prevent the release of genetically modified organisms and microorganisms outside the facility. The third layer emphasizes the need to maintain the integrity of feedstock materials and avoid cross-contamination along the production processes. The fourth layer highlights the significance of environmental considerations, promoting practices that minimize the environmental impact of biorefinery operations. Lastly, the outermost layer represents the reliability of processes, emphasizing the importance of robust design, quality control, and regular maintenance to ensure consistent and predictable performance. Together, these layered elements form a holistic framework that prioritizes safety, environmental responsibility, and reliability in the design and operation of biorefineries, promoting secure and sustainable practices in this important field.



Figure 52. Comprehensive Framework for Safe by Design in Biorefineries: Layered Approach for Safety, Environmental Responsibility, and Reliability.

5.7. Summary

This thesis involved multidisciplinary works with a significant focus on CFD, but also in other areas, such as systems design, such as the case of **Journal Publications 1**, **6**, **and 7**, and case studies, such as the case of **Journal Publications 1 and 2**. Other topics in this thesis include deep research in the state of the art in biorefineries and biogas plants (**Public Report 2**), the development of an

opensource toolbox for the investigation of bioreactors (**Public Report 3**), the investigation of a novel feedstock for anaerobic co-digestion with animal manures proposed in **Conference Poster 2**.

One of the main lines of research was air lift reactors, from research, computational experimentation with CFD, dissemination in publications, to presentations as posters and oral presentations. A detailed description of this line of research is presented as a timeline in Figure 22.

Another line of research was developed from proof of concept in **Conference Poster 1**, where the idea was presented to the scientific community at the Circular@WUR conference. Due to the acceptance and feedback of this model, **Journal Publication 1** was developed. Once **Journal Publication 1** had been published, this work was presented by Cabrera-Gonzalez (2022) in the Bioeconomy Research Symposium: Ireland 2022 celebrated in Dublin, Ireland, and by Ramonet (2022) as a keynote presentation titled Circular Bioeconomy Applications (Spanish: "Aplicaciones de la Economia Circular") in the 1st International Congress of "Environmental Biotechnology and Circular Economy (Spanish: "I Congreso Internacional de "Biotecnología Ambiental y Economía Circular") in Lima, Peru.

Furthermore, the importance of multidisciplinary research cannot be overstated in the context of addressing complex challenges in the field of anaerobic digestion. Integrating diverse disciplines, such as CFD, systems design, biorefineries, and biogas plants, allows for a holistic and comprehensive approach to tackling the complexities of anaerobic digestion systems. CFD was utilized to explore not-so-well-studied systems, such as the multi-stage internal loop air lift reactor. From where insight on how the draft tubes configuration and morphology affects the overall hydrodynamics of these systems. Utilizing the systems approach, the synergetic integration of state-of-the-art technologies was performed in the circular economy model for desert coastal regions. Thinking with a more holistic approach, unutilized carbon dioxide was proposed for greenhouse crop farming, and the proposition of retrofitting and building anaerobic covered lagoons as a solution to the problem of scale faced by the Irish farmers in their manure management systems. By combining knowledge and tools from various fields, researchers can explore different dimensions of the problem, leading to innovative solutions and a deeper understanding of the underlying processes.

Multidisciplinary research facilitates the exchange of knowledge, methodologies, and perspectives, promoting collaboration among experts with diverse backgrounds. In this thesis, the fusion of CFD with systems design provides a powerful tool to optimize the performance and efficiency of anaerobic digestion and biorefinery systems. The insights gained from studying biorefineries and biogas plants contribute to developing sustainable and environmentally friendly practices in waste management and renewable energy production.

Chapter 6. Conclusions and Outlook

In conclusion, this thesis has dug into circular bioeconomy in chemical engineering, employing a multidisciplinary research approach to explore various aspects of resource utilization, waste management, and sustainable practices. Through theoretical analysis, CFD simulations, case studies, data analysis, and conceptual modeling, valuable insights have been gained, leading to the development of innovative solutions and the evaluation of their potential impact.

The findings of this thesis highlight the importance of adopting a circular bioeconomy model for desert coastal regions, where resource scarcity and environmental challenges pose significant obstacles. By leveraging CO₂ utilization for greenhouse crop farming, the potential for sustainable agricultural practices is expanded, promoting resource efficiency and reducing carbon emissions. Furthermore, the application of CFD in air lift bioreactors and continuously stirred tank reactors has provided crucial insights into optimizing the design and operation of these systems, enhancing their productivity and economic viability.

Another significant contribution of this thesis is the proposal of retrofitting slurry tanks into covered lagoons, offering a promising solution to the scale issue faced by anaerobic digesters and addressing the challenges of Irish farmers in slurry disposal. This innovative approach mitigates environmental concerns related to ozone depletion and methane emissions and brings economic benefits through utilizing biogas for electricity and heat production. Additionally, the development of a safe-by-design framework for biorefineries emphasizes the importance of integrating safety considerations from the conceptual design phase, ensuring secure and sustainable operations.

In summary, the multidisciplinary nature of this thesis has enabled a comprehensive exploration of anaerobic digestion systems and their potential for sustainable biorefinery applications. The integration of CFD, systems design, and the study of biorefineries and biogas plants has yielded valuable insights and innovative solutions for waste management and renewable energy production. However, further research is needed to identify and propose retrofitting existing industrial infrastructure into biorefinery systems, considering scalability, economic feasibility, and environmental impact. By continuing to bridge the gaps between different disciplines and leveraging their collective knowledge and tools, we can unlock the full potential of anaerobic digestion as a key component of the circular economy. Looking ahead, ongoing research and development in the field of circular bioeconomy in chemical engineering, including the exploration of advanced technologies such as CFD applied to biotechnology, will contribute to the development of more efficient processes. Moreover, collaborations between academia, industry, and policymakers will play a vital role in implementing and scaling up circular bioeconomy initiatives, fostering a successful transition toward a more sustainable and environmentally friendly future.

In conclusion, this thesis has provided valuable insights into the potential and obstacles of the circular bioeconomy in chemical engineering. The research conducted in this study lays the groundwork for

future progress in sustainable resource management, waste reduction, and the integration of circular principles into industrial processes. By embracing these principles and fostering ongoing innovation, we can work towards creating a more sustainable and resilient society. This involves a balanced approach where economic growth is harmonized with environmental stewardship, ensuring a prosperous future for both current and future generations.

References

Abbasi, T., Tauseef, S.M., Abbasi, S.A., 2011. Biogas Energy. Springer New York, New York, NY, United States. AgSTAR, 2011. Recovering Value from Waste: Anaerobic Digester System Basics.

- Almohammadi, K.M., Ingham, D.B., Ma, L., Pourkashan, M., 2013. Computational fluid dynamics (CFD) mesh independency techniques for a straight blade vertical axis wind turbine. Energy 58, 483–493.
- Balachandran, S., Cerca, M., Chopda, R., Ramonet, F., Vance, C., De Meester, S., Harasek, M., Meers, E., Murphy, F., Robles-Aguilar, A., 2021. State-of-the-art report on anaerobic digestion and biorefinery system levels design.
- BBIC, 2017. Biorefineries in Europe 2017 | Bio-Based Industries Consortium [WWW Document]. URL https://biconsortium.eu/downloads/biorefineries-europe-2017 (accessed 7.11.23).
- Blenke, H., 1979. Loop reactors. Advances in Biochemical Engineering 13, 121–214.
- Blom, T.J., Straver, W.A., Ingratta, F.J., Khosla, S., Brown, W., 2002. Carbon Dioxide In Greenhouses.
- Boardman, J., Sauser, B., 2008. Systems thinking: Coping with 21st century problems. CRC Press.
- Bontempo, G., Maciejczyk, M., Wagner, L., Findeisen, C., Fischer, M., Hofmann, F., 2016. Biogas safety first!: guidelines for the safe use of biogas technology / giz, Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmbH; Fachverband Biogas, German Biogas Association, Status November 2016. ed. Fachverband Biogas e. V., Freising, Germany.
- Bosenhofer, M., 2022. Lagrangian Plug-in for MultiphaseEulerFoam.
- Cabrera-Gonzalez, M., 2022. Development of a model for the implementation of a circular economy in desert coastal regions: The case of Antofagasta, Chile.
- Cabrera-González, M., Nastouli, A., Papadopoulou, E., Pollard, P., van Roosmalen, R., Vigato, F., Visentin, A., Harasek, M.;, Maguire, J.;, Sweeney, J., Tsapekos, P., 2021. State of the art report on AD and biorefinery technologies Report.
- Cabrera-González, M., Ramonet, F., Harasek, M., 2022. Development of a Model for the Implementation of the Circular Economy in Desert Coastal Regions. Land 2022, Vol. 11, Page 1506 11, 1506.
- Carlsson, M., Lagerkvist, A., Morgan-Sagastume, F., 2012. The effects of substrate pre-treatment on anaerobic digestion systems: A review. Waste Management 32, 1634–1650.
- Cherubini, F., Jungmeier, G., Wellisch, M., Willke, T., Skiadas, I., van Ree, R., de Jong, E., 2009. Toward a common classification approach for biorefinery systems. Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining 3, 534– 546.
- Chinda, R., Ponsatorn, R., Anantpinijwatna, A., Pessoa, F.P., Woodley, J.M., Mansouri, S.S., 2019. Process model validation and analysis for intensification of an industrial scale process. Computer Aided Chemical Engineering 46, 955–960.
- Chisti, M.Y., Moo-Young, M., 1987. Airlift Reactors: Characteristics, Applications And Design Considerations. Chem Eng Commun 60, 195–242.
- Conti, F., Wiedemann, L., Sonnleitner, M., Saidi, A., Goldbrunner, M., 2019. Monitoring the mixing of an artificial model substrate in a scale-down laboratory digester. Renew Energy 132, 351–362.
- Danzì, C., Testa, G., Stella, G., Foti, V.T., Timpanaro, G., 2020. Potential and location of an anaerobic digestion plant using prickly pear biomass in semi-arid Mediterranean environment. J Clean Prod 249, 119396.
- Dapelo, D., Bridgeman, J., 2020. A CFD strategy to retrofit an anaerobic digester to improve mixing performance in wastewater treatment. Water Science and Technology 81, 1646–1657.
- Ding, J., Wang, X., Zhou, X.F., Ren, N.Q., Guo, W.Q., 2010. CFD optimization of continuous stirred-tank (CSTR) reactor for biohydrogen production. Bioresour Technol 101, 7005–7013.
- Ecker, J., Schaffenberger, M., Koschuh, W., Mandl, M., Böchzelt, H.G., Schnitzer, H., Harasek, M., Steinmüller, H., 2012. Green Biorefinery Upper Austria – Pilot Plant operation. Sep Purif Technol 96, 237–247.
- Ellen MacArthur Foundation, 2015. Towards the circular economy, economic and business rationale for an accelerated transition. Ellen MacArthur Foundation: Cowes, UK 1.

Energypedia, 2016. Electricity Generation from Biogas [WWW Document]. URL https://energypedia.info/wiki/Electricity_Generation_from_Biogas (accessed 7.13.23).

- European Biogas Association (EBA), 2021. EBA Statistical Report 2020.
- European Commission, 2019. Bioeconomy : the European way to use our natural resources : action plan 2018. Publications Office.
- European Commission, 2020. Circular Economy Action Plan: For a cleaner and more competitive Europe.
- Fernandes Del Pozo, D., Liné, A., Dedeyne, J., Van Geem, K.M., Nopens, I., 2019. Computational Fluid Dynamics validation study of an axial flow impeller often used in Anaerobic Digesters. In: Watermatex 2019, the 10th IWA Symposium on Modelling and Integrated Assessment.

- Foukrach, M., Bouzit, M., Ameur, H., Kamla, Y., 2020. Effect of agitator's types on the hydrodynamic flow in an agitated tank. Chinese Journal of Mechanical Engineering 33, 1–18.
- Garcia-Calderon, D., Buffiere, P., Moletta, R., Elmaleh, S., 1998. Anaerobic digestion of wine distillery wastewater in down-flow fluidized bed. Water Res 32, 3593–3600.

Global Bioeconomy Summit, 2020. Expanding the Sustainable Bioeconomy-Vision and Way Forward.

- Hagman, L., Blumenthal, A., Eklund, M., Svensson, N., 2018. The role of biogas solutions in sustainable biorefineries. J Clean Prod 172, 3982–3989.
- Hingsamer, M., Jungmeier, G., 2019. Biorefineries. The Role of Bioenergy in the Emerging Bioeconomy: Resources, Technologies, Sustainability and Policy 179–222.
- Ho, S.H., Chen, C.Y., Lee, D.J., Chang, J.S., 2011. Perspectives on microalgal CO2-emission mitigation systems — A review. Biotechnol Adv 29, 189–198.
- IEA Bioenergy, 2015. Annual Report 2015.
- IEA Bioenergy Task 37, 2019. IEA Bioenergy Task 37.
- IPCC, 2023. Climate Change 2023: Synthesis Report. A Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
- IRENA, 2020. Global Renewables Outlook: Energy transformation 2050.
- Jia, X., Wen, J., Feng, W., Yuan, Q., 2007. Local hydrodynamics modeling of a gas-liquid-solid three-phase airlift loop reactor. Ind Eng Chem Res 46, 5210–5220.
- Jungmeier, G., Buchsbaum, M., 2014. Upgrading Strategies for Industrial Infrastructures Integration of Biorefineries in Existing Industrial Infrastructure. IEA Bioenergy 1–16.
- Kamm, B., Hille, C., Schönicke, P., Dautzenberg, G., 2010. Green biorefinery demonstration plant in Havelland (Germany). Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining 4, 253–262.
- Kershaw, E.H., Hartley, S., McLeod, C., Polson, P., 2021. The Sustainable Path to a Circular Bioeconomy. Trends Biotechnol 39, 542–545.
- Kirchherr, J., Reike, D., Hekkert, M., 2017. Conceptualizing the circular economy: An analysis of 114 definitions. Resour Conserv Recycl 127, 221–232.
- Krishna, D., Kalamdhad, A.S., 2014. Pre-treatment and anaerobic digestion of food waste for high rate methane production – A review. J Environ Chem Eng 2, 1821–1830.
- Kromus, S., Wachter, B., Koschuh, W., Mandl, M., Krotscheck, C., Narodoslawsky, M., 2004. The Green Biorefinery Austria-Development of an Integrated System for Green Biomass Utilization. Chemical and biochemical engineering quaterly 18, 7–12.
- Kumar, B., Verma, P., 2021. Biomass-based biorefineries: An important architype towards a circular economy. Fuel 288, 119622.
- Laing, H., O'Malley, C., Browne, A., Rutherford, T., Baines, T., Willis, M.J., 2020. Development of a biogas distribution model for a wastewater treatment plant: a mixed integer linear programming approach. Water Science and Technology 82, 2761–2775.
- Larman, C., Basili, V.R., 2003. Iterative and incremental developments. a brief history. Computer (Long Beach Calif) 36, 47–56.
- Laure, S., Leschinsky, M., Fröhling, M., Schultmann, F., Unkelbach, G., 2014. Assessment Of An Organosolv Lignocellulose Biorefinery Concept Based On A Material Flow Analysis Of A Pilot Plant. Cellulose Chemistry And Technology Cellulose Chem. Technol 48, 793–798.
- Li, D., Guo, K., Li, J., Huang, Y., Zhou, J., Liu, H., Liu, C., 2018. Hydrodynamics and bubble behaviour in a three-phase two-stage internal loop airlift reactor. Chin J Chem Eng 26, 1359–1369.
- Li, S., Qi, T., 2014. Hydrodynamics and Flow Regimes of a Multi-Stage Internal Airlift Loop Reactor. Materials Focus 3, 205–210.
- López-Molina, A., Sengupta, D., Shi, C., Aldamigh, E., Alandejani, M., El-Halwagi, M.M., 2020. An Integrated Approach to the Design of Centralized and Decentralized Biorefineries with Environmental, Safety, and Economic Objectives. Processes 2020, Vol. 8, Page 1682 8, 1682.
- Magnolo, F., Dekker, H., Decorte, M., Bezzi, G., Rossi, L., Meers, E., Speelman, S., 2021. The Role of Sequential Cropping and Biogasdoneright[™] in Enhancing the Sustainability of Agricultural Systems in Europe. Agronomy 2021, Vol. 11, Page 2102 11, 2102.
- Maity, S.K., 2015. Opportunities, recent trends and challenges of integrated biorefinery: Part I. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 43, 1427–1445.
- Makaruk, A., Miltner, M., Harasek, M., 2010. Membrane biogas upgrading processes for the production of natural gas substitute. Sep Purif Technol 74, 83–92.
- Mao, L., Zhang, J., Dai, Y., Tong, Y.W., 2019. Effects of mixing time on methane production from anaerobic codigestion of food waste and chicken manure: Experimental studies and CFD analysis. Bioresour Technol 294, 122177.

- McClure, D.D., Dolton, T.P., Barton, G.W., Fletcher, D.F., Kavanagh, J.M., 2017. Hydrodynamics and mixing in airlift contactors: Experimental work and CFD modelling. Chemical Engineering Research and Design 127, 154–169.
- McCormick, K., Kautto, N., 2013. The Bioeconomy in Europe: An Overview. Sustainability 2013, Vol. 5, Pages 2589-2608 5, 2589–2608.
- Meroney, R.N., Colorado, P.E., 2009. CFD simulation of mechanical draft tube mixing in anaerobic digester tanks. Water Res 43, 1040–1050.
- Michels, J., Wagemann, K., 2010. The German Lignocellulose Feedstock Biorefinery Project. Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining 4, 263–267.
- Miltner, M., Makaruk, A., Krischan, J., Harasek, M., 2012. Chemical-oxidative scrubbing for the removal of hydrogen sulphide from raw biogas: potentials and economics. Water Science and Technology 66, 1354– 1360.
- Moncada, J., Cardona, C.A., Rincón, L.E., 2015. Design and analysis of a second and third generation biorefinery: The case of castorbean and microalgae. Bioresour Technol 198, 836–843.
- Moncada, J., Tamayo, J.A., Cardona, C.A., 2014. Integrating first, second, and third generation biorefineries: Incorporating microalgae into the sugarcane biorefinery. Chem Eng Sci 118, 126–140.
- Mshandete, A., Björnsson, L., Kivaisi, A.K., Rubindamayugi, M.S.T., Mattiasson, B., 2006. Effect of particle size on biogas yield from sisal fibre waste. Renew Energy 31, 2385–2392.
- Nurra, C., Torras, C., Clavero, E., Ríos, S., Rey, M., Lorente, E., Farriol, X., Salvadó, J., 2014. Biorefinery concept in a microalgae pilot plant. Culturing, dynamic filtration and steam explosion fractionation. Bioresour Technol 163, 136–142.
- OpenCFD Ltd, 2021. OpenFOAM: API Guide: forces Class Reference [WWW Document]. URL https://www.openfoam.com/documentation/guides/latest/api/classFoam_1_1functionObjects_1_1forces. html#details (accessed 4.20.23).
- Padial, N.T., VanderHeyden, W.B., Rauenzahn, R.M., Yarbro, S.L., 2000. Three-dimensional simulation of a three-phase draft-tube bubble column. Chem Eng Sci 55, 3261–3273.
- Pearce, D.W., Turner, R.K., 1989. Economics of natural resources and the environment. Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Perkins, J.D., 2003. Chemical Engineering the First 100 Years. Chemical Engineering: Visions of the World 11–40.
- Philp, J., 2018. The bioeconomy, the challenge of the century for policy makers. N Biotechnol 40, 11–19.
- Pironti, F.F., Medina, V.R., Calvo, R., Sáez, A.E., 1995. Effect of draft tube position on the hydrodynamics of a draft tube slurry bubble column. The Chemical Engineering Journal and the Biochemical Engineering Journal 60, 155–160.
- Quiroz-Pérez, E., Gutiérrez-Antonio, C., Vázquez-Román, R., 2019. Modelling of production processes for liquid biofuels through CFD: A review of conventional and intensified technologies. Chemical Engineering and Processing - Process Intensification 143, 107629.
- Ramonet, F., 2022. APLICACIONES Y DESARROLLO DE LA ECONOMÍA CIRCULAR.
- Ramonet, F., Haddadi, B., Bösenhofer, M., Harasek, M., 2023. Modelling of Multi Stage Internal Loop Air Lift Bioreactor Utilizing Computational Fluid Dynamics. In: 17th Minisymposium Verfahrenstechnik and 8th Partikelforum. BOKU, BOKU - Universität für Bodenkultur Wien, Austria.
- Ramonet, F., Haddadi, B., Jordan, C., Harasek, M., 2022a. Modelling and Design of Optimal Internal Loop Air-Lift Reactor Configurations Through Computational Fluid Dynamics. In: 25th Conference on Process Integration for Energy Saving and Pollution Reduction – PRES'22. Bol, Croatia.
- Ramonet, F., Harasek, M., 2021. CFD optimisation and analysis of existing AD and Biorefineries Report.
- Ramonet, F., Jordan, C., Haddadi, B., Harasek, M., 2022b. Anaerobic Digestion as a Carbon Capture, Storage, and Utilization Technology. In: 1st International Conference on Energy, Environment & Digital Transition - E2DT. Milan, Italy.
- Richards, S.A., 1997. Completed Richardson Extrapolation in Space And Time. Commun. Numer. Meth. Engng 13, 573–582.
- Sasse, L., 1988. Biogas Plants. Deutsches Zentrum für Entwicklungstechnologien GATE.
- Sawatdeenarunat, C., Nguyen, D., Surendra, K.C., Shrestha, S., Rajendran, K., Oechsner, H., Xie, L., Khanal, S.K., 2016. Anaerobic biorefinery: Current status, challenges, and opportunities. Bioresour Technol 215, 304–313.
- Schügerl, K., 1990. Comparison of the performances of stirred tank and airlift tower loop reactors. J Biotechnol 13, 251–256.
- Scully, H.A., Purcell, P.J., Gleeson, T.N., 2004. Earth-Banked Tanks For The Winter Storage Of Animal Slurry. Water and Environment Journal 18, 146–149.

- Segui, M., Abel, F.R., Botez, R.M., Ceruti, A., 2022. High-fidelity aerodynamic modeling of an aircraft using OpenFoam – application on the CRJ700. The Aeronautical Journal 126, 585–606.
- Shi, J., Guo, K., Wang, Z., Zheng, L., Liu, H., Xiang, W., Liu, C., Li, X., 2021. Computational Fluid Dynamics Simulation of Hydrodynamics in a Two-Stage Internal Loop Airlift Reactor with Contraction-Expansion Guide Vane. ACS Omega 6, 6981–6995.
- Siegel, M.H., Merchuk, J.C., 1988. Mass transfer in a rectangular air-lift reactor: Effects of geometry and gas recirculation. Biotechnol Bioeng 32, 1128–1137.
- Singh, B., Szamosi, Z., Siménfalvi, Z., 2019. State of the art on mixing in an anaerobic digester: A review. Renew Energy 141, 922–936.
- Singh, J., Kaushik, N., Biswas, S., 2014. Bioreactors-technology & design analysis. The scitech journal 1, 28– 36.
- Skawińska, E., Romuald Zalewski, P.I., 2018. Circular Economy as a Management Model in the Paradigm of Sustainable Development. Management 22.
- Szczerbicki, E., White, W., 2010. SYSTEM MODELING AND SIMULATION FOR PREDICTIVE MAINTENANCE. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/019697298125597 29, 481–498.
- Tahera, K., Earl, C., Eckert, C., 2017. A Method for Improving Overlapping of Testing and Design. IEEE Trans Eng Manag 64, 179–192.
- Tan, E.C.D., Lamers, P., 2021. Circular Bioeconomy Concepts—A Perspective. Frontiers in Sustainability 2, 701509.
- Tao, J., Huang, J., Geng, S., Gao, F., He, T., Huang, Q., 2020. Experimental investigation of hydrodynamics and mass transfer in a slurry multistage internal airlift loop reactor. Chemical Engineering Journal 386, 122769.
- TEAGASC, 2017. Agriculture and Food Development Authority (Teagasc). Heavy Soils Programme. URL https://www.teagasc.ie/crops/grassland/heavy-soils/ (accessed 7.13.23).
- Tollefson, J., 2021. Top climate scientists are sceptical that nations will rein in global warming. Nature 599, 22– 24.
- United Nations, 2016. The Paris Agreement. United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC).
- United Nations, 2023. Paris Agreement Ratification.
- van Baten, J.M., Ellenberger, J., Krishna, R., 2003. Hydrodynamics of internal air-lift reactors: experiments versus CFD simulations. Chemical Engineering and Processing: Process Intensification 42, 733–742.
- van Gelder, P., Klaassen, P., Taebi, B., Walhout, B., van Ommen, R., van de Poel, I., Robaey, Z., Asveld, L., Balkenende, R., Hollmann, F., van Kampen, E.J., Khakzad, N., Krebbers, R., de Lange, J., Pieters, W., Terwel, K., Visser, E., van der Werff, T., Jung, D., 2021. Safe-by-Design in Engineering: An Overview and Comparative Analysis of Engineering Disciplines. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 2021, Vol. 18, Page 6329 18, 6329.
- Van Ree, R., 2017. The Role of Biorefining and Bioenergy in the Circular Economy.
- Vance, C., Sweeney, J., Murphy, F., 2022. Space, time, and sustainability: The status and future of life cycle assessment frameworks for novel biorefinery systems. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 159, 112259.
- Verma, A.K., 2014. Process modelling and simulation in chemical, biochemical and environmental engineering. Process Modelling and Simulation in Chemical, Biochemical and Environmental Engineering 1–378.
- Wartha, E.-M., Løvås, T., Winter, F., Wien, T.U., 2022. Reaction Modeling in Computational Fluid Dynamics with Special Focus on the Blast Furnace Raceway Zone.
- White, D., 1995. Application of systems thinking to risk management: A review of the literature. Management Decision 33, 35–45.
- Wu, B., 2013. Advances in the use of CFD to characterize, design and optimize bioenergy systems. Comput Electron Agric 93, 195–208.
- Wu, B., Chen, S., 2008. CFD simulation of non-Newtonian fluid flow in anaerobic digesters. Biotechnol Bioeng 99, 700–711.
- Zamri, M.F.M.A., Hasmady, S., Akhiar, A., Ideris, F., Shamsuddin, A.H., Mofijur, M., Fattah, I.M.R., Mahlia, T.M.I., 2021. A comprehensive review on anaerobic digestion of organic fraction of municipal solid waste. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 137, 110637.
- Zavalani, O., Kaçani, J., 2012. Mathematical modelling and simulation in engineering education. 2012 15th International Conference on Interactive Collaborative Learning, ICL 2012.
- Zhendong, L., Yangcheng, L., Jiawei, W., Guangsheng, L., 2012. Mixing characterization and scaling-up analysis of asymmetrical T-shaped micromixer: Experiment and CFD simulation. Chemical Engineering Journal 181–182, 597–606.

Zhou, H., Zhong, K., Jia, H., Kang, Y., 2022. Analysis of the effects of dynamic mesh update method on simulating indoor airflow induced by moving objects. Build Environ 212, 108782.

Zurcher, F.W., Randell, B., 1968. Iterative Multi-Level Modelling-A Methodology For Computer System Design.

Appendix A

List of publications

Journal publications

- Cabrera-González, M.; Ramonet, F.; Harasek, M. Development of a Model for the Implementation of the Circular Economy in Desert Coastal Regions. Land 2022, 11, 1506. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/land11091506</u>
- Ramonet F., Jordan C., Haddadi B., Harasek M., (2022), Anaerobic Digestion as a Carbon Capture, Storage, and Utilization Technology, Chemical Engineering Transactions, 96, 49-54. <u>https://doi.org/10.3303/CET2296009</u>
- Ramonet, F., Haddadi, B., Jordan, C., Harasek, M. (2022). Modelling and Design of Optimal Internal Loop Air-Lift Reactor Configurations Through Computational Fluid Dynamics. Chemical Engineering Transactions, 94, 817-822. <u>https://doi.org/10.3303/CET2294136</u>
- Ramonet, F., Haddadi, B., & Harasek, M. (2023). Optimal Design of Double Stage Internal Loop Air-Lift Bioreactor. Energies, 16(7), 3267. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/en16073267</u>
- Ramonet F., Haddadi B., Kovacevi, M., Jordan C., Harasek M. (2023), Bioreactor Mixing: A Comparison of Computational Fluid Dynamics and Experimental Approaches in the Pursuit of Sustainable Bioprocessing for the Bioeconomy. Submitted to Chemical Engineering Transactions.
- Ramonet, F., Gleeson, T., Galvin, M., Haddadi, B, Harasek, M., (2023), Anaerobic Digestion as A Tool to Mitigate Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Animal Slurries. Unpublished manuscript.
- Ramonet, F. Cabrera-González, M., Harasek, M. Promoting Safe Operations in Biorefineries: A Comprehensive Safe by Design Framework. Manuscript in writing.

Conference publications

- Ramonet, F., Haddadi, B, Harasek, M., (2023), Modelling of Multi-Stage Internal Loop Air Lift Bioreactor Utilizing Computational Fluid Dynamics, 7th Minisymposium Verfahrenstechnik and 8th Partikelforum, BOKU, Vienna, April 13th – 14th, ISBN: 978-3-900397-08-1. Avaialable: http://www.chemicalengineering.at/minisymposium/assets/Tagungsband miniVT 2023.pdf
- Mayuki Cabrera-González, Fernando Ramonet, Michael Harasek. Development of a Model for the Implementation of the Circular Economy in Desert Coastal Regions. Circular@WUR: Living within planetary boundaries, Wageningen University and Research, Wageningen, 11-13 April, 2022. DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.2.21658.11200

- Fernando Ramonet, Michael Harasek. Modelling Study on the Co-Digestion of Nopal Cladodes with Farm Manures. 30th European Biomass Conference & Exhibition (EUBCE2022).Paris, France (online), 9-12 May, 2022, ISBN: 978-88-89407-22-6
- Fernando Ramonet, Bahram Haddadi, Michael Harasek. Modelling And Characterization Of Internal Loop Air Lift Bioreactor Configurations Through Computational Fluid Dynamics. Biorefine Conference 'The role of biorefineries in European agriculture'. Ghent, Belgium, 30-31 May, 2022. DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.2.16383.89765

Public reports

- Balachandran, Srija; Cerca, Mariana; Chopda, Rushab; Ramonet, Fernando; Vance, Charlene; De Meester, Steven; Harasek, Michael; Meers, Erik; Murphy, Fionnuala; Robles-Aguilar, Ana. (2021). State-of-the-art Report on Anaerobic Digestion and Biorefinery Systems Level Design. European Comission. Reference Ares(2021)2235935 - 31/03/2021. https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/documents/downloadPublic?documentIds=0801 66e5db4cee55&appId=PPGMS
- Ramonet, Fernando; Harasek, Michael. CFD optimisation and analysis of existing AD and Biorefineries Report. Reference Ares(2021)7353824 - 29/11/2021. https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/documents/downloadPublic?documentIds=0801 66e5e52d5093&appId=PPGMS
- Ramonet, Fernando; Harasek, Michael. Geometry and CFD results for AD retrofit and TPB up scaling Report. Submitted 7 February 2023.

Journal Publication 1: Development of a Model for the Implementation of the Circular Economy in Desert Coastal Regions

Journal Publication 1

Development of a Model for the Implementation of the Circular Economy in Desert Coastal Regions

published in Land in collaboration with Mayuki Cabrera-González and Michael Harasek.

My contribution: Conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualisation.

Cabrera-González, M.; Ramonet, F.; Harasek, M. Development of a Model for the Implementation of the Circular Economy in Desert Coastal Regions. Land 2022, 11, 1506. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/land11091506</u>

Anaerobic Digestion as a Carbon Capture, Storage, and Utilization Technology

published in Chemical Engineering Transactions in collaboration with Christian Jordan, Bahram Haddadi and, Michael Harasek.

My contribution: Conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualisation.

Ramonet F., Jordan C., Haddadi B., Harasek M., (2022), Anaerobic Digestion as a Carbon Capture, Storage, and Utilization Technology, Chemical Engineering Transactions, 96, 49-54. https://doi.org/10.3303/CET2296009

Modelling and Design of Optimal Internal Loop Air-Lift Reactor Configurations Through Computational Fluid Dynamics

published in Chemical Engineering Transactions in collaboration with Bahram Haddadi, Christian Jordan and, Michael Harasek.

My contribution: Conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualisation.

Ramonet, F., Haddadi, B., Jordan, C., Harasek, M. (2022). Modelling and Design of Optimal Internal Loop Air-Lift Reactor Configurations Through Computational Fluid Dynamics. Chemical Engineering Transactions, 94, 817-822. <u>https://doi.org/10.3303/CET2294136</u>

Optimal Design of Double Stage Internal Loop Air-Lift Bioreactor

published in Energies in collaboration with Bahram Haddadi and, Michael Harasek.

My contribution: Conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualisation.

Ramonet, F., Haddadi, B., & Harasek, M. (2023). Optimal Design of Double Stage Internal Loop Air-Lift Bioreactor. Energies, 16(7), 3267. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/en16073267</u>

Bioreactor Mixing: A Comparison of Computational Fluid Dynamics and Experimental Approaches in the Pursuit of Sustainable Bioprocessing for the Bioeconomy

submitted to Chemical Engineering Transactions in collaboration with Mara Kovacevic, Bahram Haddadi, Christian Jordan and, Michael Harasek.

My contribution: Conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualisation.

Journal Publication 6: Anaerobic Digestion as A Tool to Mitigate Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Animal Slurries

Journal Publication 6

Anaerobic Digestion as A Tool to Mitigate Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Animal Slurries

Collaboration with Tim Gleeson, Micheal Galvin, Bahram Haddadi, and Michael Harasek My contribution: Conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualisation.

Status: in writing

ANAEROBIC DIGESTION AS A TOOL TO MITIGATE GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS FROM ANIMAL SLURRIES

FERNANDO RAMONET^{1*}, TIM GLEESON², MICHEAL GALVIN², BAHRAM HADDADI¹ AND MICHAEL HARASEK¹

¹ Technische Universität Wien, Institute of Chemical Environmental and Bioscience Engineering, Getreidemarkt 9/166, 1060 Wien, Austria.

² Enviroeye Engineering Ltd, Innovation Park, Leastown, Co. Dublin, Ireland.

*fernando.ramonet@tuwien.ac.at

Abstract

Anaerobic Digestion (AD) has been gaining popularity in the last decades for the production of biogas from organic waste, agricultural waste, and energy crops. Biogas is a mixture of approximately 70 % methane, 29 % carbon dioxide, and 1 % other gases. Biogas plants produce electrical and thermal energy by burning the biogas in combined heat and power units or upgrade the biogas into a 95 % to 99 % pure biomethane, which can then be injected into the grid or used as a transport fuel. A wet mixture called digestate is left after biogas production. The digestate is a great fertiliser since it contains all nutrients and micronutrients for needed for agriculture such as potassium, phosphorus, and nitrogen. Ireland is distinguished by the European Commission as the country with the largest biomethane potential in Europe. The Irish Biogas Association states that biogas produced using AD technology should be at the core of Ireland's future energy mix. In Ireland, the animal slurry is currently being stored in open tanks, emitting greenhouse gas emissions. Each particle of methane is 25 times more harmful than a particle of carbon dioxide. By 2022, Ireland's livestock includes more than 7 million cows, 1.7 million pigs, and 16.5 million poultry per year. In this study, we propose modelling the retrofitting of existing open slurry tanks into covered lagoons to harvest the biogas from the animal slurries to reduce greenhouse emissions. The digestate will be utilised as fertiliser to enhance soil health, crop yield, and productivity. Based on average herd sizes and daily slurry availability, optimal covered lagoon dimensions will be found. A global value will be obtained for the biogas potential from animal slurries in Ireland.

1. Introduction

The emission of greenhouse gases is dominated by carbon dioxide (74 %), followed by methane (17 %), nitrous oxide (6.3 %), and fluorinated gases (2.3 %), which possess a high global warming potential (WRI, 2021). Although each methane molecule has a higher global warming potential than a molecule of carbon dioxide, utilizing captured methane as a fuel can lead to one of the cleanest energy sources (Abbasi et al., 2011).

The agricultural sector is recognized as a challenging area for emissions reduction due to the difficulty in mitigating methane emissions from enteric fermentation and the problems associated with open tank manure storage, including fugitive methane emissions, eutrophication, and groundwater contamination in wet climates (Diaz Huerta et al., 2023). The removal of manure from animal houses has been shown to significantly reduce CH₄ emissions, resulting in a decrease ranging from 50 % to 60 % (Scott and Blanchard, 2021).

The increasing recognition of climate change consequences is driving pressure on the Irish government to mitigate environmental impact, with anaerobic digestion (AD) emerging as a promising technology in the agriculture sector for its potential to generate renewable energy, reduce GHG emissions, and promote a circular economy (O'Connor et al., 2023). By the end of 2022, Ireland's livestock includes more than 6.55 million cows, 1.57 million pigs, and 16.5 million poultry per year (CSO, 2022).

According to the TEAGASC National Farm Survey, the average dairy farm in Ireland grew from a herd size of 64 in 2012 to 93 in 2022 (TEAGASC, 2023).

Researchers aim to mitigate the environmental impacts related to manure management in dairy farms through the proposal of utilizing biogas production as an alternative solution (Rivas-Garcia et al., 2015).

Manure is typically stored in open ponds or storage tanks until it is time for spreading on the fields. The degradation process of animal manure involves a series of interconnected microbial steps, in an uncovered anaerobic lagoon the treatment follows a general pattern illustrated in **Figure 53**. Settleable solids from the manure settle at the lagoon's bottom, where they break down into sludge, liquids, and gases. Soluble organic matter enters the treatment process at specific stages. Lagoons have various microbial communities that work together symbiotically to digest organic material. The extent of organic matter degradation is influenced by the

Journal Publication 6: Anaerobic Digestion as A Tool to Mitigate Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Animal Slurries

composition of these communities and the characteristics of the influent. These lagoon microbial communities encompass anaerobic and facultative heterotrophic bacteria, phototrophic organisms, and aerobic bacteria.



Figure 53. Biological degradation of manure in uncovered anaerobic lagoons. Adapted from (Hamilton et al., 2006).

Ireland is lacking behind the rest of the European Union with approximately 20 AD plants (IrBEA, 2023). According to the Irish Bioenergy Association's (IrBEA) Statement on Biomethane to the Oireachtas Joint Committee on Agriculture, Food, and the Marine (IrBEA, 2023), anaerobic digestion (AD) can be effectively employed at a farm scale to manage slurry and farmyard manure. This process enables the efficient recycling of valuable nutrients and the recovery of energy for on-farm use, while also reducing ammonia emissions and improving nutrient availability. By implementing on-farm digestion, farms can effectively decarbonize their operations while sustaining food production activities. This approach involves the early-stage utilization of slurry in AD, allowing for optimal methane capture for energy generation and minimizing emissions.

The limited adoption of anaerobic digestion (AD) technology in Ireland can be attributed to the emphasis on larger farms that have the financial means to implement such technology, as well as the higher occurrence of summer pasture grazing practices (Scott and Blanchard, 2021).

The low adoption rate of this technology in Ireland, in comparison to other European countries, can primarily be attributed to the level of uncertainty it presents to farmers in terms of financial returns (Diaz Huerta et al., 2023). According to O'Connor et al. (2020), medium and large-scale biogas plants in Ireland are not feasible since the average Irish dairy farm has 90 cows (2018), which does not provide enough feedstock for the digesters.

An example of the utilization of biogas from farm-scale anaerobic digestion was proposed by Scott and Blanchard (2021). Their recommendation involves the integration of combined heat and power (CHP) units within the digesters to effectively utilize the generated heat and electricity. First using the electricity to power the stirrers and the heat to warmth the reactor. The surplus electricity can be utilized for a range of farm activities, such as powering milking machines, facilitating milk cooling, operating the scraping system, and providing adequate lighting. Additionally, the excess heat can be used to fulfil the heating requirements of the farm. Furthermore, the authors suggest utilizing a fraction of the produced methane as a valuable fuel source for powering tractors, road vehicles, and other agricultural machinery. By implementing these strategies, the overall energy potential of the digesters can be maximized, contributing to the sustainable and efficient operation of small-scale farm-based anaerobic digestion systems.

To maximize the potential deployment of small-scale anaerobic digestion (SSAD) plants and attract investors, it is crucial for government support programs to recognize the additional costs associated with smaller capacity facilities and implement policies that offset these expenses. Despite the demonstrated viability of SSAD plants, substantial government support is required to achieve financial returns that are appealing to potential investors (O'Connor et al., 2020).

In 2022, during the Energy and Farm Business show, the Minister of Agriculture announced that in the next months grants would be made available for farm anaerobic digestion. This was followed by a press release announcing a 12-million-euro investment in the next four years (McConalogue, 2022). In the first year,
McConalogue and Heydon (2023) announced a 3-million-euro investment for a demonstration initiative of integrating anaerobic digestion into a green biorefining demonstration initiative.

To understand the farmer's perspective in Ireland, O'connor et al. (2021) performed a study making a survey among cattle farmers to evaluate their attitudes and readiness towards adopting anaerobic digestion (AD) technology, covering aspects such as demographics, prior experience with renewable energy, inclination towards AD adoption, preferred plant operating conditions, and perceptions regarding benefits and barriers. In the study by O'connor et al. (2021), 41 % of participants expressed willingness to adopt anaerobic digestion (AD) technology within the next five years. "Likely Adopters" had higher education levels. High costs and limited information were identified as significant barriers, while improved farm profitability was seen as a key benefit. Additionally, 58 % showed interest in a cooperative scheme, and 40.3 % preferred a self-owned and operated business model.

Park, Khim and Kim (2023) performed a study of co-digestion of pig manure with food waste, excretion, and thickened sewage sludge in a 2,775 m³ horizontal anaerobic digester. This mixture resulted in a high yield, with a methane fraction of 68.8 % in the biogas.

Diaz Huerta et al. (2023) evaluated the utilization of biogas for boiler, CHP, upgrading and upgrading combine with CHP for farms with herd sizes of 40, 60, 100 and 185. Where the only viable scenario identified was the implementation of a boiler configuration for a herd size of 185 cows and selling the heat for district heating. O'Connor et al. (2020) evaluated the co-digestion of grass silage and dairy cow manure from farm with herd sizes of 50, 100, 150, 200 and 250 cows. The authors found that small scale anaerobic digestion is economically viable over the facility's operational lifespan, with payback periods ranging from 12.87 to 7.75 years for dairy farms with herds exceeding 100 cows, and all scenarios involving larger dairy herds showed significant net CO₂ reductions.

There are several examples of low-cost anaerobic digesters. The 15 m³ red-mud Taiwanese PVC digester (Pound et al., 1981), a household tubular anaerobic digestion (Botero and Preston, 1987). The tubular digester can work starting with one cow for household anaerobic digestion, feeding it 20 kg of fresh manure with 60L of water and produces from 0.7 to 0.8 m³ of biogas daily and 60L of digestate (Jaime Martí-Herrero et al., 2014). Martí-Herrero et al. (2014) provided a comprehensive overview of the results and knowledge obtained from the implementation of cost-effective tubular digesters in Bolivia over a duration of four and a half years.

To adapt this low-cost tubular digester concept to cold climate, a greenhouse concept was developed by Martí-Herrero et al. (2014a) to contain the digester in optimal temperature regimes by heating the greenhouse with solar radiation. Martí-Herrero et al. (2019) performed experiments for one year on a 13.90 m³ low-cost reactor made with black high density polyethylene treating fruits and vegetables. This study demonstrates the technical feasibility of implementing full-scale psychrophilic anaerobic digestion (AD) for fruit and vegetable waste without the need for expensive technology, pretreatment, active heating, mixing devices, or additional water for dilution. These findings highlight the potential for the development of affordable and low-technology digesters for municipal solid waste treatment, warranting further investigation and investment.

The Canadian biodigester is a demonstrated anaerobic digester utilized mainly in pig, which consists of a covered lagoon with a digestate volume of 150m³, made from a 0.8 mm PVC cover, and has a hydraulic retention time of around 30 days, it can treat manure from a 50-sow pig farm during a complete production cycle (Mathias, 2014). It is equipped with an internal combustion motor and a 1 mm PVC gas holder cover with a capacity of 136m³, the biodigester efficiently processes the manure and produces biogas. The biogas is then cleaned to remove water vapor and volatile sulfides before being used for heating poultry farms, domestic applications, or grain dryers. Among the advantages of covered lagoons, their straightforward method of building, operation and maintenance provide a cost reduction (Nunes Ferraz Junior et al., 2022).

Currently in Europe, the prevailing practice involves untreated manure from agricultural fields being returned through spreading or grazing, which can have detrimental environmental effects due to nutrient excesses, imbalanced macronutrient input, and the presence of microcontaminants like metals (Rodríguez-Alegre et al., 2023). Several research studies have recognized three primary waste streams, namely manure, sewage sludge, and food processing waste, that hold potential for the production of bio-based fertilizers (Chojnacka et al., 2020). Among these waste streams, livestock manure stands as the largest, with pig slurry specifically raising significant environmental concerns regarding its safe disposal (Zhang et al., 2021). After the collection of feces and urine, these components were blended together, with the inclusion of water to achieve a solid content of 3 % dry matter, which is characteristic of swine waste (Bortoli et al., 2022).

The occurrence of inhibition is a crucial factor in anaerobic digestion (AD), and timely detection and control are necessary to prevent process failures. Inhibitory substances are defined as materials that negatively affect the microbial population or impede bacterial growth, as described by Chen, Cheng and Creamer (2008). Ammonia is the main inhibitory substance in anaerobic digestion, and its inhibitory effects are influenced by factors such as volatile fatty acid concentration, pH, temperature, the presence of other ions, and the acclimation of the anaerobic microbial community. Sulfide, produced by sulfide-reducing bacteria, can also act as an inhibitor by

competing with various anaerobic microorganisms, including hydrolytic and acetogenic bacteria, acetogens, hydrogenotrophic methanogens, and acetoclastic methanogens. Additionally, light metal ions, including aluminum, calcium, magnesium, and potassium, form another group of inhibitors in the anaerobic digestion process. Chen, Cheng and Creamer (2008) conducted a comprehensive review of the literature on the inhibition of anaerobic processes caused by both inorganic and organic substances. Their study explored the underlying mechanisms of inhibition, the factors that influence inhibition, and the common operational challenges encountered in waste treatment processes.

Anaerobic digestion encompasses three temperature ranges: psychrophilic (5 °C to 20 °C), mesophilic (30 °C to 35 °C), and thermophilic (50 °C to 60 °C). The mesophilic and thermophilic regimes are the primary options, with the mesophilic process often favoured for biogas production due to its lower energy requirements. However, it has a slower process and yields lower biogas quantities compared to the thermophilic process (Meegoda et al., 2018). To ensure optimal conditions for methanogens, the temperature control systems of anaerobic digesters should be designed to maintain a stable temperature, with a maximum deviation of \pm 0.25 °C to prevent temperature fluctuations exceeding 0.5 °C (Haugen et al., 2013).

Generally, around 70 % of the methane is derived from acetate through a process involving acetoclastic methanogens. The remaining 30 % of methane is produced through the conversion of hydrogen (H₂) and carbon dioxide (CO₂), which involves hydrogenotrophic methanogens (Himanshu, 2017).

Methanogens and acetogens are frequently found in symbiotic associations, as highlighted in the study by Merlin Christy, Gopinath and Divya (2014). These microorganisms engage in simultaneous acetogenesis and methanogenesis processes, as discussed by Seadi et al. (2008), illustrating a mutually beneficial relationship between them.

A study conducted in Ireland (Wall et al., 2013) revealed that the Buswell prediction for methane production from cow slurry was 389 L CH₄/kg VS. However, according to research by Scott and Blanchard (2021), the measured biochemical methane potential (BMP) for the same slurry was 239 L CH₄/kg VS. Scott and Blanchard (2021) estimated 53 kg of manure per day, and the biomethane potential (BMP) slurry 251 L CH₄/kg VS.

Sobhi et al. (2021) proposed to utilize an air lift reactor to valorize liquid manure from open anaerobic lagoons through the recovery of nitrogen and phosphorus. By treating liquid manure at a rate of 0.5 volume of air per volume of liquid per minute for 48 hours before discharging it to anaerobic lagoons, approximately 14.5 % of TN was recovered as ammonium sulfate. Additionally, 38.8 % of TN and 79.3 % of TP were obtained as sludge, while 59.0 % of COD was eliminated. As a result, the total reduction in CH₄ and N₂O emissions was estimated to be 51.7 % less compared to traditional application methods. Sobhi et al. (2021) recommended this technology to upgrade farms that already have anaerobic lagoons.

In this study, we propose modelling the retrofitting of existing open slurry tanks into covered lagoons to harvest the biogas from the animal slurries to reduce greenhouse emissions. The digestate will be utilised as fertiliser to enhance soil health, crop yield, and productivity. Based on average herd sizes and daily slurry availability, optimal covered lagoon dimensions will be found.

2. Materials and methods

The Materials and Methods section encompasses several aspects of the anaerobic digester system design and evaluation. Initially, the study proposes a three-stage anaerobic digestion process for optimizing the digester size and efficiency. Stage 1 involves a plug flow reactor for hydrolysis and acidogenesis, followed by Stage 2, a covered lagoon where methanogenesis occurs. Stage 3 entails an open pond for storing the digestate until the spreading season. The system's conceptual design includes various components such as materials, heating systems, mixing power, and mechanisms, with options presented in an Idea Generation Matrix. Four potential configurations are identified based on the matrix's 256 combinations. Evaluations are conducted using specific criteria such as performance, economic viability, efficiency, reliability, scalability, ecological sustainability, and environmental risks. Among the options, Option 2, featuring a compacted soil digester covered with a membrane, a biogas-burning heating system, kinetic energy-driven mixing power, and an axial stirrer, is identified as the most favourable choice. The dimensions of the digester are determined based on factors such as available manure, organic loading rate, retention time, desired biogas production, and required heating. The evaluation of different farm scales, including six average Irish farms and two larger farms, provides insights into the system's performance in various scenarios. For retrofitting purposes, two specific dairy farms, Farm 1 and Farm 2, are examined, highlighting their existing infrastructure and biogas potential. Wind velocity data is also collected for both farms using the Wind Mapping System from SEAI.

2.1. Identification and planning

Traditionally, concrete digesters are utilized for anaerobic digestion, where the four steps of anaerobic digestion (hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis, and methanogenesis) happen. To optimize the digester size, this study proposes dividing the anaerobic digestion process into three stages. Stage 1 is a plug flow reactor where the first two anaerobic digestion processes, namely, hydrolysis, and acidogenesis take place. Stage 2 is the covered lagoon where the third and fourth processes of anaerobic digestion takes place since methanogens and acetogens have syntrophic associations (Merlin Christy et al., 2014), and the biogas can be stored there for a couple of days. The third stage is an open pond, where the digestate is stored until the spreading season. Figure 54 shows these three stages in a scheme.



Figure 54. Proposed multistage anaerobic digester.

The manure is collected from the barn, in case any other farm wastes are to be added to the anaerobic digester, these wastes need to be pasteurized. If not, it can be directly sent to a premixing and heating pre-treatment system, then passes to a plug flow labyrinth where the first three steps of anaerobic digestion (hydrolysis, acetogenesis, and acidogenesis) take place. The is passed to a covered lagoon where the methanogenesis takes place and the biogas is produced. The next step is to dewater the digestate and send it to an open pond for storage until its spreading season. **Figure 55** shows the manure flow in the system.



Figure 55. Manure flow in the system.

2.2. Conceptual Design: Idea Generation Matrix

The conceptual design of the anaerobic digester system involves various components such as materials, heating systems, mixing power, and mixing mechanisms. The matrix in Table 16 presents different options for each component.

Table 16. Identification and planification.

Material	Heating	Mixing power	Mixing
Concrete	Boiler	Electric motor	Transversal
Soil	Small CHP	Wind powered stirrer	Axial
Metal	Electric resistance	Combined Heat and Power (CHP)	Pump
Membrane	Solar	Small CHP per stirrer	Kinetic energy from wind

Out of the 256 possible combination, four combinations were taken as possible options for the system's configuration. The optative configurations for the system are presented in Table 17.

Tuble III: Optative co	Inigaratione				
Configuration	Digester material	Heating system	Mixing power	Mixing	
Option 1	Concrete	Burning the biogas	Combined Heat and	Duran	
			Power	Pump	
Option 2	Compacted soil covered with membrane	Burning the biogas	Kinetic energy from wind	Axial stirrer	
Option 3	Soil	Electrical resistance	Small CHP per pump	Pump	
Option 4	Metal	Solar mirrors array	Solar energy	Transversal	

Table 17. Optative configurations

2.2.1. Systems requirements:

The anaerobic digester system should possess certain desired characteristics to ensure its effectiveness and efficiency. These characteristics may include an efficient heating system with optimal temperature control, enabling the system to maintain the ideal conditions for the anaerobic digestion process. Additionally, the system should have effective mixing power to ensure proper digestion and homogeneity of the slurry. It is also essential to use cost-effective materials that offer good durability and resistance to corrosive elements commonly found in the digestion process. Easy maintenance and operation are important aspects to consider, as they contribute to the system's reliability and longevity. Lastly, to promote sustainability, the integration of renewable energy sources into the system is desirable, reducing reliance on non-renewable energy and minimizing environmental impact.

2.2.2. Criterion Evaluation:

To evaluate the different configurations for the anaerobic digester system, several criteria were considered, including performance, economic viability, efficiency, reliability, scalability, ecological sustainability and environmental risks. These criteria were used to assess the options and determine the best choice for the system.

To evaluate the different configurations, a rating scale from 0 to 10 was used based on the following criteria:

- 1. Performance: This criterion assesses how well each configuration meets the heating and mixing requirements of the anaerobic digester system. The rating reflects the effectiveness and efficiency of the system in achieving optimal performance.
- Economic Viability: The overall economic feasibility of each configuration is considered in this criterion. The rating reflects the cost-effectiveness, return on investment, and potential revenue generation of the system.
- Efficiency: The energy efficiency of the heating and mixing mechanisms is evaluated in this criterion. The rating reflects how effectively the system utilizes energy resources, minimizing energy losses and maximizing energy conversion.
- 4. Reliability: The reliability and maintenance requirements of each configuration are considered. The rating assesses the system's robustness, durability, and the frequency and complexity of maintenance tasks required to ensure uninterrupted operation.
- 5. Scalability: The potential for the system to be scaled up or down to accommodate different farm sizes is an important consideration. The rating reflects the ease and feasibility of adjusting the system's capacity to match varying slurry volumes.
- 6. Ecological Sustainability: This criterion evaluates the environmental sustainability of each configuration. The rating reflects the system's impact on ecosystems, biodiversity, and natural resources, as well as its alignment with sustainable practices.
- 7. Environmental Risks: The potential risks and negative impacts on the environment associated with each configuration are considered in this criterion. The rating reflects the level of potential harm, pollution, or irreversible damage that could result from the system if not managed correctly.

By assigning ratings from 0 to 10 to each criterion for every configuration, a comprehensive evaluation is conducted. The option that receives the highest overall rating is considered the best choice, as it demonstrates superior performance, economic viability, efficiency, reliability, scalability, ecological sustainability, and low environmental risks compared to the other options.



Figure 56. Attribute evaluation of different proposed configurations.

Among the evaluated options, Option 2, featuring a digester made of compacted soil covered with a membrane, a biogas-burning heating system, kinetic energy-driven mixing power, and an axial stirrer, emerged as the most favourable choice. This option demonstrated strong performance, high economic viability, good efficiency, and reliability. It also showed potential for scalability and had a positive ecological sustainability profile.

In terms of required characteristics, the anaerobic digester system aims to have an efficient heating system with optimal temperature control to ensure proper digestion. Effective mixing power is also crucial to promote homogeneity and efficient breakdown of the organic matter. Cost-effective materials with good durability and resistance to corrosive elements are desired to ensure longevity and minimize maintenance needs. Additionally, the integration of renewable energy sources, such as utilizing biogas as fuel or harnessing kinetic energy from wind, contributes to the system's sustainability and reduces environmental impact.

Considering these evaluation criteria and required characteristics, Option 2 aligns well with the goals of the anaerobic digester system. It offers a balanced combination of performance, economic viability, efficiency, reliability, scalability, and ecological sustainability. By selecting Option 2, the system can achieve efficient slurry disposal while minimizing environmental impact and ensuring long-term operational success.

2.3. Slurry disposal

The traditional approach utilized for slurry disposal is taking the manure from the barn and channelling it to an earth-lined slurry tank or slurry tower tank, until is spreading season. Open lagoons pose the challenge of high methane emissions and the potential release of toxic gases during the biological decomposition of manure in anaerobic fermentation processes (Mathias, 2014). The proposed system is utilizing a covered lagoon for capturing the biologas. **Figure 57** shows the proposed systematic transition.



Figure 57. Proposed systematic transition

2.4. Systems dimensions

To determine the dimensions of the digester, a methodology was employed. The first step involved assessing the amount of daily available manure based on the size of the herd. This information served as the main input for the digester. To achieve the desired mix, the manure was combined with water at a ratio of 2:1. The hydraulic retention time was considered along with the organic loading rate to determine the mix of daily inputs.

Using the loading rate and retention time, the liquid volume fraction of the digester was calculated. Additionally, an estimate of the daily biogas production was derived based on these factors. This biogas production value was essential for determining the required gas volume for the digester.

The liquid volume area required for the digester was calculated separately for stage 1 (pre-treatment tank) and stage 2 (covered lagoon). Stage 2 is where biogas is generated. The calculations were based on retention times of 8-10 days for stage 1 and 15-17 days for stage 2. Once the dimensions for both stages were determined, the volume requirements for construction were established.

To meet the heating requirements, the necessary temperature for optimal anaerobic bacteria activity was considered. Ground insulation methods, such as the membrane described in the conceptual design, were utilized. A temperature control system was implemented to ensure the temperature inside the digester remained at the optimal level.

By following this methodology, the dimensions of the digester were determined based on the available manure, organic loading rate, retention time, and desired biogas production. The heating requirements were also calculated to maintain the appropriate temperature for the anaerobic bacteria's digestion process. Additionally, there is also the option to add agricultural residues.



2.4.1. Hydraulic retention time

The hydraulic retention time (HRT) is one of the main factors determining the size of the digester and it depends on several factors, such as the velocity of decomposition of the substrate. The HRT refers to the mean duration during which the substrate remains within the confines of the digester tank and it is influenced by both the volume of the digester and the rate at which substrate is introduced into the system (Seadi et al., 2008). The velocity and conversion rate into methane gas differ depending on the chemical composition of the substrate (Park et al., 2023).

2.4.2. Scale

For the evaluation and scale representation of the anaerobic digester system, eight farms were selected, offering a range of different scales. The first six farms were chosen from the "heavy soils program" (TEAGASC, n.d.) conducted by TEAGASC, as they provided a representative sample of the average Irish farm. These farms were selected to ensure a comprehensive understanding of the system's performance in various scenarios.

In addition to the smaller farms, two larger farms were included in the study. These farms had a herd size of 600 and 1100 cows respectively, making them larger than the average Irish farm. The purpose of including these larger farms was to propose a retrofit solution for their existing slurry disposal systems, specifically transitioning from earth-lined slurry tanks to covered lagoons. By evaluating the retrofit options for these larger farms, the study aimed to demonstrate the feasibility and benefits of implementing the covered lagoon system on a larger scale.

2.4.2.1. Average Irish farm

As an example, the "heavy soils programme" from TEAGASC (TEAGASC, n.d.) was taken to get the average herd size, soil, and air temperature for three years. This program covers 10 Irish farms, for this study only 6 farms were taken due to the herd size and location as a representation of the average Irish farm. **Figure 59** shows the locations of the six fams of the heavy soils programme.



Figure 59. Map of Ireland showing the six chosen farms from the Heavy Soils program.

Farm	Herd Size (2019)	Temperature (° C)			Potential Daily Biogas Production (m ³ /d)			
		Min (Feb)		Max (July)		Min	Average	Max
		Air	Soil	Air	Soil	(0.35)	(0.385)	(0.42)
Crossmolina	65	3.1	4.6	16.1	16.4	54.46	59.91	65.36
Lisselton	89	4.4	5.2	16.4	15.5	74.57	82.03	89.49
Kishkeam	100	2.6	3.6	16.2	15.4	83.79	92.17	100.55
Swan Cross	110	2.7	3.7	16.2	16.5	92.17	101.39	110.60
Ballinagree	120	2.9	4.5	16	16.6	100.55	110.60	120.66
Athea	130	3.4	4.6	15.7	15.4	108.93	119.82	130.71

 Table 18. Farm herd by size with an average temperature of air and soil in degrees centigrade. Data extracted from TEAGASC (2023).

The data was extracted from the Wind Mapping System from SEAI (SEAI, n.d.), which is coupled with the ArcGIS World Decoding Service. This platform is Wind Atlas for Ireland, by entering the coordinates, velocity values are given for that point at different heights. The platform provides 24 datasets per day, python 3.0 was utilized to process the data, and a daily average was calculated for each farm, the values are shown in Figure **60**.



Figure 60. Average wind velocity on the six chosen farms at 20- and 30-meter heights. Data extracted from the Wind Mapping System from (SEAI, n.d.).

2.5. Dairy farms to retrofit

2.5.1. Farm 1

Farm 1 has a capacity for 1100 cows. One earth-lined slurry tank of 15 x 40 x 4 m (2,036 m³ volume) and a slurry tower of 42 m diameter x 3 m height (4,156 m³ volume), holding up more than 6,000 m³. This farm has a biogas potential of 560,000 m³/year or 1,580 m³/d. Premixing with pump in place. The available infrastructure in farm 1 is shown in Figure 61.



Figure 61. Existing infrastructure in farm 1.

2.5.2. Farm 2

Farm 2 has a capacity for 600 cows. On the other hand, farm 2 has a capacity of 1,250 m³ on the ELS and 640 m³ on a second concrete storage. This farm has a biogas potential of 291,000 m³/year or 798 m³/d. The "barn" in this farm contains an underground tank beneath the slatted-floor cattle.

Figure 62 shows farm 2, in the center a satellite picture from the farm. Marked with green is the earth-lined slurry tank, and marked with orange is the second storage tank. The stable marked with blue has a slurry collection system with underground storage.



Figure 62. Existing infrastructure in farm 2.

The average wind velocity for farms 1 and 2 is shown in Figure 63 for 20 and 30 meter height.



Figure 63. Average wind velocity of farms 1 and 2 at 20- and 30-meter heights. Data extracted from the Wind Mapping System from (SEAI, n.d.).

2.6. Biogas production

To calculate the biogas production per cow, we need to consider several factors. A cow generates daily from 30 to 50 kg of manure, depending on its size and diet. Within each kg of manure, there is a certain percentage of total solids. The biogas potential of every kg of manure is determined by the anaerobic digestion process, where the organic matter in the manure is broken down by microorganisms to produce biogas. The actual biogas yield per kg of manure will depend on the specific composition of the manure, including its volatile solids content and other digestible organic components. By knowing the biogas potential of each kg of manure and considering the daily amount of manure generated by a cow, we can estimate the total biogas production per cow.

3. Results and discussion

Table 19. Potential biogas production per farm.					
		Potential Daily Biogas Production (m ³ /d)			
Farm	Herd Size (2019)	Min (0.35)	Average (0.385)	Max (0.42)	
Crossmolina	65	54	60	65	
Lisselton	89	75	82	89	
Kishkeam	100	84	92.17	101	
Swan Cross	110	92	101.39	111	
Ballinagree	120	101	111	121	
Athea	130	109	120	131	
Farm 2	600	503	553	603	
Farm 1	1100	922	1,014	1,106	

Table 19 shows the potential biogas production per farm according to their herd size.

The proposed manure life cycle is shown in Figure 64, where the manure is taken from the barn to a pretreatment tank where it is mixed with water and preheated. Then it passes to a plug flow reactor in the form of a labyrinth where the first three anaerobic digestion processes take place. The following step is a covered lagoon where methanogenesis takes place and biogas is produced. The remaining liquid-solid fraction is called digestate, which is dewatered and sent for storage in an earth-lined slurry tank. This digestate can be utilized as fertilizer in the fields or sold for an extra income.



Figure 64. Resulting schematic of the proposed system.

Figure 65 shows a schematic of the heating system, the streams of water and biogas are shown with green arrows for water and yellow for the biogas. First, the biogas is extracted from the covered lagoon and passes to a biogas storage bag made from a polyethylene membrane, and then it passes through a desulphurization process to be then burned in a boiler (this is shown with yellow arrows). Water is heated up in the boiler and from there it passes first through the covered lagoon, then by the plug flow reactor (anaerobic digestion)



Figure 65. Water and biogas streams in the system.

4. References

Abbasi, T., Tauseef, S.M. and Abbasi, S.A., 2011. *Biogas Energy*. [online] New York, NY, UNITED STATES: Springer New York. Available at: http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/viennaut/detail.action?docID=884177. Bortoli, M., Hollas, C.E., Cunha, A., Steinmetz, R.L.R., Coldebella, A., de Prá, M.C., Soares, H.M. and Kunz, A., 2022. Water reuse as a strategy for mitigating atmospheric emissions and protecting water resources for the circularity of the swine production chain. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 345, p.131127. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2022.131127.

Botero, R. and Preston, T., 1987. Biodigestor de bajo costo para la producción de combustible y fertilizante a partir de excretas. *Manual para su instalación, operación y utilización. Centro Internacional de Agricultura Tropical. Cali, Colombia*, pp.5–12.

Chen, Y., Cheng, J.J. and Creamer, K.S., 2008. Inhibition of anaerobic digestion process: A review. *Bioresource Technology*, 99(10), pp.4044–4064. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIORTECH.2007.01.057.

Chojnacka, K., Moustakas, K. and Witek-Krowiak, A., 2020. Bio-based fertilizers: A practical approach towards circular economy. *Bioresource Technology*, 295, p.122223. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIORTECH.2019.122223. CSO, 2022. *Livestock Survey December 2022 - CSO - Central Statistics Office*. [online] Livestock Survey December 2022 - CSO - Central Statistics Office. Available at: <https://www.cso.ie/en/releasesandpublications/ep/p-lsd/livestocksurveydecember2022/> [Accessed 10 July 2023].

Diaz Huerta, J., Bose, A., Wall, D.M., Murphy, J.D. and O'Shea, R., 2023. Assessing the cost variability of emissions abatement in small-scale on-farm anaerobic digestion. *DeCarbon*, [online] 1, p.100008. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DECARB.2023.100008.

Energypedia, 2016. *Electricity Generation from Biogas*. [online] Available at: https://energypedia.info/wiki/Electricity_Generation_from_Biogas [Accessed 13 July 2023].

Hamilton, D.W., Fathepure, B., Fulhage, C.D., Clarkson, W. and Lalman, J., 2006. TREATMENT LAGOONS FOR ANIMAL AGRICULTURE. [online] pp.547-. https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.20266.

Haugen, F., Bakke, R. and Lie, B., 2013. Temperature control of a pilot anaerobic digestion reactor. *Modeling, Identification and Control*, 34(3), pp.99–117. https://doi.org/10.4173/MIC.2013.3.1.

Himanshu, H., 2017. *Biomethane production from co-digestion of grass silage and slurry*. University College Cork.

Irish Bioenergy Association (IrBEA). Statement on Biomethane to the Oireachtas Joint Committee on Agriculture, Food and the Marine . Irish Bioenergy Association (IrBEA). Statement on Biomethane to the Oireachtas Joint Committee on Agriculture, Food and the Marine .

Martí-Herrero, J., Alvarez, R., Rojas, M.R., Aliaga, L., Céspedes, R. and Carbonell, J., 2014a. Improvement through low cost biofilm carrier in anaerobic tubular digestion in cold climate regions. *Bioresource Technology*, 167, pp.87–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIORTECH.2014.05.115.

Martí-Herrero, J., Chipana, M., Cuevas, C., Paco, G., Serrano, V., Zymla, B., Heising, K., Sologuren, J. and Gamarra, A., 2014b. Low cost tubular digesters as appropriate technology for widespread application: Results and lessons learned from Bolivia. *Renewable Energy*, 71, pp.156–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RENENE.2014.05.036.

Martí-Herrero, J., Soria-Castellón, G., Diaz-de-Basurto, A., Alvarez, R. and Chemisana, D., 2019. Biogas from a full scale digester operated in psychrophilic conditions and fed only with fruit and vegetable waste. *Renewable Energy*, 133, pp.676–684. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RENENE.2018.10.030.

Mathias, J.F.C.M., 2014. Manure as a Resource: Livestock Waste Management from Anaerobic Digestion, Opportunities and Challenges for Brazil. *International Food and Agribusiness Management Review*, [online] 17(4), pp.87–110. https://doi.org/10.22004/AG.ECON.188711.

McConalogue, 2022. *Minister McConalogue announces 13% Budget increase*. Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine .

McConalogue and Heydon, 2023. *Ministers McConalogue and Heydon announce* €3 *million for integrated anaerobic digestion and green biorefining demonstration initiative*. Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine .

Meegoda, J.N., Li, B., Patel, K. and Wang, L.B., 2018. A review of the processes, parameters, and optimization of anaerobic digestion. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15102224.

Merlin Christy, P., Gopinath, L.R. and Divya, D., 2014. A review on anaerobic decomposition and enhancement of biogas production through enzymes and microorganisms. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 34, pp.167–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSER.2014.03.010.

Miltner, M., Makaruk, A., Krischan, J. and Harasek, M., 2012. Chemical-oxidative scrubbing for the removal of hydrogen sulphide from raw biogas: potentials and economics. *Water Science and Technology*, [online] 66(6), pp.1354–1360. https://doi.org/10.2166/WST.2012.329.

Nunes Ferraz Junior, A.D., Etchebehere, C., Perecin, D., Teixeira, S. and Woods, J., 2022. Advancing anaerobic digestion of sugarcane vinasse: Current development, struggles and future trends on production and end-uses of biogas in Brazil. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 157, p.112045. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSER.2021.112045.

O'Connor, S., Ehimen, E., Pillai, S.C., Lyons, G. and Bartlett, J., 2020. Economic and Environmental Analysis of Small-Scale Anaerobic Digestion Plants on Irish Dairy Farms. *Energies 2020, Vol. 13, Page 637*, [online] 13(3), p.637. https://doi.org/10.3390/EN13030637.

O'Connor, S., Ehimen, E., Pillai, S.C., Lyons, G., Johnston, C., Wills, M. and Bartlett, J., 2023. Decision support tool for the construction and seasonal operation of farm-scale anaerobic digestion plants. *Results in Engineering*, [online] 18, p.101097. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RINENG.2023.101097.

O'connor, S., Ehimen, E., Pillai, S.C., Power, N., Lyons, G.A. and Bartlett, J., 2021. An Investigation of the Potential Adoption of Anaerobic Digestion for Energy Production in Irish Farms. *Environments 2021, Vol. 8, Page 8*, [online] 8(2), p.8. https://doi.org/10.3390/ENVIRONMENTS8020008.

Park, Y., Khim, J. and Kim, J.D., 2023. Application of a Full-Scale Horizontal Anaerobic Digester for the Co-Digestion of Pig Manure, Food Waste, Excretion, and Thickened Sewage Sludge. *Processes 2023, Vol. 11, Page 1294*, [online] 11(4), p.1294. https://doi.org/10.3390/PR11041294.

Pound, B., Bordas, F. and Preston, T.R., 1981. 1 Technical Cooperation Officer, Overseas Development Administration. *Trop Anim Prod*, 6(2).

Rivas-Garcia, P., Botello-Alvarez, J.E., Abel Seabra, J.E., Da Silva Walter, A.C. and Estrada-Baltazar, A., 2015. Environmental implications of anaerobic digestion for manure management in dairy farms in Mexico: A life cycle perspective. *Environmental Technology (United Kingdom)*, [online] 36(17), pp.2198–2209. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330.2015.1024758/SUPPL_FILE/TENT_A_1024758_SM6148.DOCX.

Rodríguez-Alegre, R., Zapata-Jiménez, J., You, X., Pérez-Moya, M., Sanchis, S. and García-Montaño, J., 2023. Nutrient recovery and valorisation from pig slurry liquid fraction with membrane technologies. *Science of The Total Environment*, 874, p.162548. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2023.162548.

Scott, A. and Blanchard, R., 2021. The Role of Anaerobic Digestion in Reducing Dairy Farm Greenhouse Gas Emissions. *Sustainability 2021, Vol. 13, Page 2612*, [online] 13(5), p.2612. https://doi.org/10.3390/SU13052612. Seadi, T. Al, Rutz, D., Prassl, H., Köttner, M., Finsterwalder, T., Volk, S., Reviewers, R.J., Sioulas, K., Kulisic, B., Teodorita, E., Seadi, A., Catrineda, S.M. and Cybulska, I., 2008. *Biogas Handbook*. [online] Available at: <hr/>

SEAI, 2023. Wind Mapping System. [online] Available at: https://gis.seai.ie/wind/ [Accessed 10 July 2023].

Sobhi, M., Gaballah, M.S., Han, T., Cui, X., Li, B., Sun, H., Guo, J. and Dong, R., 2021. Nutrients recovery from fresh liquid manure through an airlift reactor to mitigate the greenhouse gas emissions of open anaerobic lagoons. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 294, p.112956. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JENVMAN.2021.112956.

TEAGASC, 2023. 2023 - Teagasc National Farm Survey 2022 - Teagasc | Agriculture and Food Development Authority. [online] Teagasc National Farm Survey 2022 . Available at: https://www.teagasc.ie/publications/2023/teagasc-national-farm-survey-2022.php [Accessed 10 July 2023].

TEAGASC, 2023. *Heavy Soils - Teagasc | Agriculture and Food Development Authority*. [online] Available at: [Accessed 10 July 2023]">https://www.teagasc.ie/crops/grassland/heavy-soils/>[Accessed 10 July 2023].

Wall, D.M., O'Kiely, P. and Murphy, J.D., 2013. The potential for biomethane from grass and slurry to satisfy renewable energy targets. *Bioresource Technology*, 149, pp.425–431. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIORTECH.2013.09.094.

WRI, 2021. *World Resources Institute*. [online] Available at: <https://www.wri.org/insights/4-charts-explaingreenhouse-gas-emissions-countries-and-sectors> [Accessed 25 May 2021].

Zhang, Y., Jiang, Y., Wang, S., Wang, Z., Liu, Y., Hu, Z. and Zhan, X., 2021. Environmental sustainability assessment of pig manure mono- and co-digestion and dynamic land application of the digestate. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 137, p.110476. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSER.2020.110476.

Journal Publication 7

Promoting Safe Operations in Biorefineries: A Comprehensive Safe-by-Design Framework.

Manuscript in writing in collaboration with Fernando Ramonet, Mayuki Cabrera-González, Michael Harasek.

My contribution: Conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualisation.

Status: in writing

PROMOTING SAFE OPERATIONS IN BIOREFINERIES: A COMPREHENSIVE SAFE-BY-DESIGN FRAMEWORK

FERNANDO RAMONET1*, MAYUKI CABRERA-GONZALEZ1 AND MICHAEL HARASEK1

¹ Technische Universität Wien, Institute of Chemical Environmental and Bioscience Engineering, Getreidemarkt 9/166, 1060 Wien, Austria.

*fernando.ramonet@tuwien.ac.at

Introduction

Safety considerations have historically been given lower priority during the initial conceptual design phase of biorefineries, with the conventional approach being to design the biorefinery first and evaluate safety aspects at a later stage (López-Molina et al., 2020).

There are eight main safe-by-design strategies. The different design methods are the probabilistic risk-based design, deterministic (safety factor-based design), fail-safe design (or fail-secure design), active safe design, passive safe design, vandal-proof design, idiot-proof (or fool-proof) design, fault-tolerant design, and circular design (van Gelder et al., 2021).

To ensure the safety of biorefineries through the "safe by design" approach, various disciplines such as biotechnology, nanomaterials, and chemical engineering are utilized. These disciplines collaborate to implement comprehensive safety measures, addressing concerns such as the containment of microorganisms, prevention of cross-contamination in feedstocks, and other potential hazards. By integrating advanced technologies and employing rigorous protocols, biorefineries can effectively mitigate risks, safeguarding both the environment and the well-being of workers. The safeby-design approach prioritizes proactive safety considerations throughout the entire conceptual design process, ensuring that potential safety issues are identified and addressed early on to establish secure and sustainable biorefinery operations.

Materials and methods

The incorporation of safety considerations into the design process, establishes a proactive and holistic approach towards creating secure and environmentally friendly agricultural and biorefinery operations. By integrating the principles of safe by design into the conceptualization, analysis, and implementation of these sustainable practices, the research collectively seeks to optimize resource utilization, minimize environmental impact, and protect the well-being of workers, thereby paving the way for a more sustainable and resilient future.

The research approach focuses on developing a framework for safe by design in biorefineries. The objective is to shift the conventional approach, which tends to prioritize safety considerations at a later stage, by integrating safety considerations into the initial conceptual design phase. This approach aims to proactively identify and address potential safety issues, ensuring secure and sustainable biorefinery operations.

The research involves collaboration among various disciplines, including biotechnology, nanomaterials, and chemical engineering. These disciplines work together to implement comprehensive safety measures, taking into account specific concerns such as the containment of microorganisms and prevention of cross-contamination in feedstocks. By leveraging advanced technologies and employing rigorous protocols, the research aims to mitigate risks and ensure the safe operation of biorefineries.

A comprehensive framework of Safe by Design for biorefineries should include the following components:

- 1. Hazard Identification: Thoroughly assess potential hazards associated with biorefinery processes, including chemicals, materials, and activities that may pose risks to workers, the environment, and the surrounding community.
- 2. Risk and Reliability Assessment: Evaluate the likelihood, severity, and reliability of identified hazards and potential failures within the biorefinery system. Consider factors such as exposure pathways, toxicity, consequences of failures, and the overall reliability of equipment and processes.
- 3. Design Integration: Incorporate safety considerations into the early stages of biorefinery design, ensuring that safety features and measures are integrated into the overall process design. Consider aspects such as process layout, equipment selection, and material compatibility while prioritizing risk reduction and reliability enhancement.
- 4. Inherent Safety: Implement inherently safer design principles, aiming to minimize or eliminate hazards at the source rather than relying solely on protective measures. Design processes and equipment that inherently reduce the potential for accidents, such as using less hazardous materials or eliminating the need for hazardous processes.
- 5. Control Measures: Develop and implement engineering controls, administrative controls, and personal protective measures to mitigate identified risks. This may include ventilation systems, containment systems, safety interlocks, standard operating procedures, training programs, and personal protective equipment.
- 6. Monitoring, Maintenance, and Reliability Management: Establish a comprehensive monitoring and maintenance program to continuously assess the performance, reliability, and safety of the biorefinery system. Regular inspections, preventive maintenance, reliability-centred maintenance, and equipment reliability assessments are essential to ensure ongoing safety and minimize the risk of failures.
- 7. Emergency Preparedness: Develop emergency response plans and procedures to effectively handle potential incidents or accidents. This includes establishing communication protocols, training personnel on emergency response, conducting drills, and ensuring the availability of appropriate emergency equipment and resources.
- 8. Compliance and Auditing: Regularly evaluate and audit the biorefinery's safety practices to ensure compliance with relevant regulations, standards, and best practices. Identify areas for improvement and ensure continuous adherence to safety protocols through internal audits and external assessments.
- 9. Communication and Training: Ensure effective communication of safety policies, procedures, and expectations to all stakeholders, including workers, contractors, and neighbouring communities. Regular training programs should be conducted to enhance safety awareness, promote a culture of safety, and provide specific training on handling hazardous materials and operating equipment safely.
- 10. Continuous Improvement and Total Quality Management: Foster a culture of continuous improvement by implementing principles from Total Quality Management and lean manufacturing methodologies. Encourage employee involvement in identifying safety improvement opportunities, implementing corrective actions, and promoting a proactive approach to safety and reliability enhancement.

By incorporating these elements, a comprehensive framework of Safe by Design for biorefineries can help identify and mitigate potential hazards, ensure the safety of workers and surrounding communities, enhance system reliability, and promote the sustainable and responsible operation of biorefinery processes.

The research approach entails the identification and evaluation of different safe-by-design strategies. These strategies include probabilistic risk-based design, deterministic (safety factor-based) design, fail-safe design, active safe design, passive safe design, vandal-proof design, idiot-proof (or fool-proof) design, fault-tolerant design, and circular design. Through a comprehensive analysis of these

strategies, the research aims to determine the most effective approaches for integrating safety considerations into the conceptual design process of biorefineries.

Overall, the research approach for Journal Publication 7 encompasses the development of a comprehensive framework for safe by design in biorefineries. Through interdisciplinary collaboration, the integration of advanced technologies, and the evaluation of different safe-by-design strategies, the research aims to prioritize safety considerations from the early stages of conceptual design, thereby establishing secure and sustainable biorefinery operations.

Results

The safe by design framework represents a comprehensive approach to ensure the safety, environmental responsibility, and reliability of biorefinery operations. It encompasses various stages and interconnected elements that work together to minimize risks, protect the environment, and promote secure and sustainable practices. Figure 1 illustrates an integrated framework for safe by design in biorefineries, emphasizing the interdependence of key elements in ensuring the safety and reliability of biorefinery processes.

The framework begins with hazard identification, where potential risks associated with biorefinery processes are thoroughly assessed. This is followed by risk and reliability assessment, evaluating the likelihood and severity of identified hazards. Design integration plays a crucial role by integrating safety considerations into the early stages of biorefinery design, ensuring that safety features and measures are incorporated from the beginning. Inherent safety principles aim to minimize hazards at their source, while control measures are implemented to mitigate risks throughout the operations. Monitoring, maintenance, and reliability management are vital components of the framework, ensuring ongoing safety and performance of the biorefinery system. Emergency preparedness plans and procedures are developed to effectively handle potential incidents or accidents. Compliance and auditing practices ensure adherence to safety protocols, regulations, and standards. Continuous improvement is promoted through effective communication, comprehensive training programs, and total quality management principles.

Figure 1 illustrates an integrated framework for safe by design in biorefineries. The central circle represents the biorefinery system, while eight outer circles represent key elements of the framework. The figure emphasizes the interconnectedness and interdependence of these elements in ensuring the safety and reliability of biorefinery operations. The framework encompasses various stages, starting with hazard identification, where potential risks associated with biorefinery processes are thoroughly assessed. Risk and reliability assessment evaluate the likelihood and severity of identified hazards, while design integration integrates safety considerations into the early stages of biorefinery design. Inherent safety principles aim to minimize hazards at their source, and control measures are implemented to mitigate risks. Monitoring, maintenance, and reliability management ensure ongoing safety and performance, while emergency preparedness addresses potential incidents or accidents. Compliance and auditing ensure adherence to safety protocols, and the framework promotes continuous improvement through communication, training, and total quality management. The figure visually represents the comprehensive approach to safe by design, highlighting the importance of integrating safety measures across all aspects of biorefinery operations.



Figure 1. Integrated Framework for Safe by Design in Biorefineries.

Figure 2 represents the comprehensive framework for safe by design in biorefineries, visualized in the form of an onion with layers. At the centre of the figure, we find the human element, symbolizing the utmost importance of ensuring the safety and well-being of workers and surrounding communities throughout the biorefinery processes. Moving outward, the second layer focuses on implementing robust safety measures in biotechnology to prevent the release of genetically modified organisms and microorganisms outside the facility. The third layer emphasizes the need to maintain the integrity of feedstock materials and prevent cross-contamination along the production processes. The fourth layer highlights the significance of environmental considerations, promoting practices that minimize the environmental impact of biorefinery operations. Lastly, the outermost layer represents the reliability of processes, emphasizing the importance of robust design, quality control, and regular maintenance to ensure consistent and predictable performance. Together, these layered elements form a holistic framework that prioritizes safety, environmental responsibility, and reliability in the design and operation of biorefineries, promoting secure and sustainable practices in this important field.



Figure 2. Comprehensive Framework for Safe by Design in Biorefineries: Layered Approach for Safety, Environmental Responsibility, and Reliability

References

López-Molina, A., Sengupta, D., Shi, C., Aldamigh, E., Alandejani, M., & El-Halwagi, M. M. (2020). An Integrated Approach to the Design of Centralized and Decentralized Biorefineries with Environmental, Safety, and Economic Objectives. Processes 2020, Vol. 8, Page 1682, 8(12), 1682. https://doi.org/10.3390/PR8121682

van Gelder, P., Klaassen, P., Taebi, B., Walhout, B., van Ommen, R., van de Poel, I., Robaey, Z., Asveld, L., Balkenende, R., Hollmann, F., van Kampen, E. J., Khakzad, N., Krebbers, R., de Lange, J., Pieters, W., Terwel, K., Visser, E., van der Werff, T., & Jung, D. (2021). Safe-by-Design in Engineering: An Overview and Comparative Analysis of Engineering Disciplines. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 2021, Vol. 18, Page 6329, 18(12), 6329. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJERPH18126329

Conference Publication 1: Modelling of Multi-Stage Internal Loop Air Lift Bioreactor Utilizing Computational Fluid Dynamics

Conference publications

Conference Publication 1

Modelling of Multi-Stage Internal Loop Air Lift Bioreactor Utilizing Computational Fluid Dynamics

My contributions: Conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualisation.

Ramonet, F., Haddadi, B, Harasek, M., (2023), Modelling of Multi-Stage Internal Loop Air Lift Bioreactor Utilizing Computational Fluid Dynamics, 17th Minisymposium Verfahrenstechnik and 8th Partikelforum, BOKU, Vienna, April 13th – 14th, 2023 ISBN: 978-3-900397-08-1 Conference Poster 1: Development of a Model for the Implementation of the Circular Economy in Desert Coastal Regions

Conference Poster 1

Development of a Model for the Implementation of the Circular Economy in Desert Coastal Regions

My contributions: Conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualisation.

Mayuki Cabrera-González, Fernando Ramonet, Michael Harasek. Development of a Model for the Implementation of the Circular Economy in Desert Coastal Regions. Circular@WUR: Living within planetary boundaries, Wageningen University and Research, Wageningen, 11-13 April, 2022. DOI: <u>10.13140/RG.2.2.21658.11200</u>

Conference Poster 2

Study on the Co-Digestion of Nopal Cladodes with Farm Manures

My contributions: Conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualisation.

Fernando Ramonet, Michael Harasek. Modelling Study on the Co-Digestion of Nopal Cladodes with Farm Manures. 30th European Biomass Conference & Exhibition (EUBCE2022). Paris, France (online), 9-12 May, 2022, ISBN: 978-88-89407

Conference Poster 3

Modelling And Characterization Of Internal Loop Air Lift Bioreactor Configurations Through Computational Fluid Dynamics

My contributions: Conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualisation.

Fernando Ramonet, Bahram Haddadi, Michael Harasek. Modelling And Characterization Of Internal Loop Air Lift Bioreactor Configurations Through Computational Fluid Dynamics. Biorefine Conference 'The role of biorefineries in European agriculture'. Ghent, Belgium, 30-31 May, 2022. DOI: <u>10.13140/RG.2.2.16383.89765</u>

Public report 1

State-of-the-art Report on Anaerobic Digestion and Biorefinery Systems Level Design

My contributions: conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualization.

Srija Balachandran, Mariana Cerca, Rushab Chopda, <u>Fernando Ramonet</u>, Charlene Vance, Steven De Meester, Michael Harasek Erik Meers, Fionnuala Murphy, Ana Robles-Aguilar. State-of-the-art Report on Anaerobic Digestion and Biorefinery Systems Level Design. European Comission. Reference Ares(2021)2235935 - 31/03/2021.

Report available at:

- Community Research and Development Information Service (CORDIS):
 <u>https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/documents/downloadPublic?documentIds=0801</u>
 <u>66e5db4cee55&appId=PPGMS</u>
- ResearchGate:
 <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/368789796_Chapter_three_Three-</u>
 Phase Bioreactor Scalability and Anaerobic Digestion Retrofitting Analysis

Public report 2

CFD optimisation and analysis of existing AD and Biorefineries Report

My contributions: conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualization.

Fernando Ramonet, Michael Harasek. CFD optimisation and analysis of existing AD and Biorefineries Report. European Comission. Reference Ares(2021)7353824 - 29/11/2021.

Report available at:

- Community Research and Development Information Service (CORDIS):
 <u>https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/documents/downloadPublic?documentIds=080166</u>
 <u>e5e52d5093&appId=PPGMS</u>
- ResearchGate:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/367500195_Computational_Fluid_Dynamics_optimi sation_and_analysis_of_existing_Anaerobic_Digestion_and_Biorefineries_Report

Public report 3

Geometry and CFD results for AD retrofit and TPB up scaling Report

My contributions: conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, writing—original draft preparation, writing—review and editing, visualization.

<u>Fernando Ramonet</u>, Michael Harasek. Geometry and CFD results for AD retrofit and TPB up scaling Report. European Commission. Submitted on February 7, 2023.

Once the report submitted to the European Commission has been accepted, it will be published on: <u>https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/860477/results</u>

The code is available for download at: <u>https://github.com/AgRefineESR10/Deliverable-D2.5</u>

Curriculum Vitae

General Data

Name: Fernando Surnames: Ramonet Marqués Date of Birth: 22/06/1992 Place of Birth: Hermosillo, Mexico Nationality: Spain and Mexico Place of Residence: Vienna, Austria

Contact Information

Phone: (+43)67764039112 / (+34)695478832 E-mail: fernando.ramonet@gmail.com; fernando.ramonet@tuwien.ac.at

Education

Bachelor:

Bachelor's Degree in Industrial and Systems Engineer. In University of Sonora (2011-2016), Mexico.

Postgraduate:

Master's Degree in Mechanical Engineering. At Technical University of Madrid (2018-2020), Spain. Master's Thesis: Design, Manufacture, Assembly and Synchronization of a Mechanical System for the Tomographic Inspection Through Ultrasounds. Institution: Spanish Council for Scientific Research (CSIC).

Ph.D. in Chemical Engineering.

At Vienna University of Technology (2020-2023), Austria. Ph.D. Thesis: Circular Bioeconomy Applications in Chemical Engineering.

Languages:

Spanish: Native English (C1): TOEFL ITP: 573, March 25 2017; TOEFL IBT: 91, April 29 2017 German (A2): ÖSD Zertifikat A2, June 12 2017

Professional Experience

EARLY-STAGE RESEARCHER (PHD RESEARCHER)

2020- ONGOING

Project's name: AgRefine Company: Vienna University of Technology (TU Wien) Predoctoral researcher, PhD in chemical engineering. Retrofitting of biogas plants for integration into biorefineries through computational fluid mechanics and process simulation.

CONSULTANT

2018-ONGOING

Engineering Technical Advisor for companies in the metal-mechanic industry. Companies: Fábricas Ramonet SA De CV and R. Bravo SA De CV. Design of components, instructions, and drawings for manufacturing. Development of manufacturing and inspection procedures manuals according to national and international standards. Development and validation of procedures for Non-Destructive Testing. Training of personnel in industrial ultrasound, thickness measurement, visual inspection, liquid penetrant, magnetic particle, spark testing and hydrostatic pressure testing.

VISITING RESEARCH FELLOW

Company: Enviroeye Engineering Ltd. Place: Dublin, Ireland Duration: Three months

INTERNSHIP

Project Name: Technical Assistant Entity: Spanish Association of Air Conditioning Equipment Manufacturers (AFEC). Place: Madrid, Spain. Technical Analyses, European Guides Translations, technical team support. Duration: Six Months

FABRICAS RAMONET S.A. DE C.V.

Executed Non-Destructive Examinations in Welding and in Pressure Vessels. Designed, Developed and Implemented Quality and Maintenance Programs. Designed and Developed Manuals Procedures for Non-Destructive Testing. Generated Project Quotations. Duration: 4 years, 10 months, 20 days.

INTERNSHIP

Projects name: Development of Non-Destructive Testing Procedures Manuals in Fabricas Ramonet S.A. De C.V. Developed self-ability to analyze and interpret standards and codes. Duration: Six Months.

SOCIAL SERVICE

Center of Metrology Assistance of the University of Sonora. Precision Measuring and Uncertainty Analyses. Calibration of Measuring Instruments. Duration: Six Months.

Courses and certifications

- Course name: Liquid Penetrant Testing Level I & II Date: 5 to 7 of August 2014 Place: Mexico City, Mexico. Entity: LLOGSA Duration: 24 hours
 Course name: Liquid Penetrant Testing Level I & II
- Course name: Liquid Penetrant Testing Level I & II
 Date: 2 to 4 de May 2023
 Place: Online.
 Entity: LLOGSA

2022

2018-2019

2013-2018

2015

2015

Duration: 24 hours

- Course name: Visual Testing Level I &II Date: 1 to 3 of July 2014 Place: Mexico City, Mexico. Entity: LLOGSA Duration: 24 hours
- 4. Course name: Visual Testing Level I &II Date: 21 to 23 March 2023 Place: Online.
 Entity: LLOGSA Duration: 24 hours
- Course name: Ultrasonic Testing Level I Date: 12 to 16 of August 2013 Place: Mexico City, Mexico. Entity: LLOGSA Duration: 40 hours
- Course name: Ultrasonic Testing Level II Date: 2 to 6 of September 2013 Place: Mexico City, Mexico. Entity: LLOGSA Duration: 40 hours
- 7. Course name: Ultrasonic Testing Level II Date: 24 to 28 of April 2017
 Place: Mexico City, Mexico.
 Entity: LLOGSA
 Duration: 40 hours
- Course name: Ultrasonic Testing Level II Date: 24 to 28 de April 2023
 Place: Online.
 Entity: LLOGSA
 Duration: 40 hours
- 9. Course name: Magnetic Particle Testing Level I & II
 Date: 6 to 8 of May 2014
 Place: Mexico City, Mexico
 Entity: LLOGSA
 Duration: 24 hours
- Course name: Magnetic Particle Testing Level I & II Date: 21 to 24 February 2023 Place: Online. Entity: LLOGSA Duration: 32 hours
- Course name: Radiographic Testing Level I Date: 13 to 17 of April 2015 Place: Mexico City, Mexico Entity: LLOGSA Duration: 40 hours
- 12. Course name: Metallographic Analysis Date: 5 to 8 of January 2016

Place: Hermosillo, Mexico. Entity: University of Sonora Duration: 20 hours

- Course name: Introduction to Mechanical Design in SolidWorks Date: 6 to 24 of April 2015 Place: Hermosillo, Mexico. Entity: University of Sonora Duration: 40 hours
- 14. Certification name: Green Belt in Six Sigma Methodology Date: 17 of August to 27 of November 2015 Place: Hermosillo, Mexico.
 Entity: University of Sonora Duration: 70 hours
- 15. Course name: Geometric Dimensions and Tolerances (GD&T) ASME Y14.5M
 Date: July 2020
 Place: Udemy
 Entity: Udemy
 Duration: 7 hours
- 16. Course name: Industrial Biotechnology Date: 20 December 2020 Place: Coursera Entity: University of Manchester Duration: 6 Weeks
- 17. Course name: Introduction to Algae
 Date: 11 January 2021
 Place: Coursera
 Entity: University of California San Diego
 Duration: 5 Weeks
- Course name: Responsible Research and Innovation Date: 12 to 19 January 2022 Place: Online Entity: Wageningen University & Research Duration: 30 hours
- Course name: TWi Technical Writing Skills Date: 15 to 16 March 2022 Place: Cork, Ireland Entity: TECHNICALLY WRITE IT Duration: 16 hours
- 20. Course name: High-Performance Computing in Engineering with a focus on Computational Fluid Dynamics
 Date: 12 to 16 September 2022
 Place: Bologna, Italy
 Entity: SC Train Consortium, CINECA
 Duration: 32 hours
- 21. Course name: Safe by DesignDate: 7 to 9 June 2023Place: The Hague, NetherlandsEntity: TU Delft

Duration: 24 hours

Awards and Degree Evaluations

I.	Award: I have a Non-Destructive Testing Project (Spanish: "Tengo un Proyecto de END")
	Category: Special Mention for best NDT Master's Thesis
	Entity: Spanish Association of Non-Destructive Testing (AEND) and the Spanish National
	Research Council (CSIC)
	Date: 24 November 2021
11.	Grant: Marie Skłodowska-Curie Grant Agreement No 860477
	Duration: September 2020 to September 2023
	Entity: European Commission
III.	Evaluation's Name: National Examination for Bachelor Graduation in Industrial
	Engineering.
	Date: 14 August 2015
	Place: Hermosillo, Mexico
	Entity: The Higher Education National Assessment Center C.A.
	Duration: 8 hours
	Grade: Outstanding
IV.	Evaluation's Name: Presentation of Master's Degree Thesis
	Thesis Name: Design, manufacture, assembly, and synchronization of a mechanical
	system for the tomographic inspection by ultrasounds.
	Date: 25 February 2020
	Place: Madrid. Spain

Entity: Technical University of Madrid

Duration: 30 Minutes Grade: 9.9 (Honors)

Publications

- Title: Diseño, Fabricación, Ensamble Y Sincronización De Un Sistema Mecánico Para La Inspección Tomográfica Por Ultrasonidos Type: Technical article Journal: Revista Asociación Española de Ensayos No Destructivos Vol. 98, Pag 40-47, ISSN: 1888-9166 Date: 5 April 2022
 Title: Development of a Model for the Implementation of the Circular Economy in
- 2. Intel Development of a Model for the implementation of the Circular Economy in Desert Coastal Regions
 Type: Scientific article
 Journal: Land MDPI
 Vol. 11, Issue 9, Pag 1-17
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/land11091506
 Date: 7 September 2022
- Title: Modelling and Design of Optimal Internal Loop Air-Lift Reactor Configurations Through Computational Fluid Dynamics Type: Scientific article Journal: Chemical Engineering Transactions

Vol. 94, Pag 817-822 DOI: https://doi.org/10.3303/CET2294136 Date: 1 September 2022

- Title: Anaerobic Digestion as a Carbon Capture, Storage, and Utilization Technology Type: Scientific article Journal: Chemical Engineering Transactions Vol. 96, Pag 49-54 DOI: https://doi.org/10.3303/CET2296009 Date: 30 November 2022
- 5. Title: Optimal Design of Double Stage Internal Loop Air-Lift Bioreactor

Type: Scientific article Journal: Energies MDPI Vol. 16, Issue 7, Pag 1-21 DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/en16073267 Date: 6 April 2023

6. Title: Bioreactor Mixing: A Comparison of Computational Fluid Dynamics and Experimental Approaches in the Pursuit of Sustainable Bioprocessing for the Bioeconomy

Type: Scientific article Journal: Chemical Engineering Transactions Submitted: June 2023

7. Title: Desarrollo De Manuales De Pruebas No Destructivas En Fabricas Ramonet S.A. De C.V., Reporte Técnico Final de Prácticas Profesionales

Type: Report Entity: Fabricas Ramonet S.A. de C.V. y Universidad de Sonora Pag 1-152 Date: 10 January 2016

8. Title: Diseño, fabricación, ensamble y sincronización de un sistema mecánico para la inspección tomográfica por ultrasonidos

Type: Master's Thesis Entity: Technical University of Madrid (Universidad Politécnica de Madrid) Pag 1-159 Date: January 2020

9. Title: State of the art report on AD and biorefinery system levels design

Type: Report Entity: European Commission Pag 20-44 Date: 31 March 2021 https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/documents/downloadPublic?documentIds =080166e5db4cee55&appId=PPGMS

10. Title: CFD optimisation and analysis of existing AD and Biorefineries

Type: Report Entity: European Commission Pag 1-99 Date: 29 November 2021 https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/documents/downloadPublic?documentIds =080166e5e52d5093&appId=PPGMS

11. Title: Geometry and CFD results for AD-retrofit and TPB-up-scaling Report

Type: Report Entity: European Commission Pag 1-88 Date: 7 February 2023

Workshops

1. Workshop name: Lean Manufacturing Workshop

Date: 12 of April 2013 Place: Hermosillo, Mexico. Entity: University of Sonora Duration: 3 hours

Conferences

1. 13th International Simposium on Engineering Axis 2013 Proyecta

Participation: Assistant Date: 9 to 12 of April 2013 Place: Hermosillo, Mexico. Entity: University of Sonora

- 1st International Congress on Embedded Software and Mechatronics Participation: Assistant Date: 30 of October to 1 of November 2014 Place: Juriquilla, Mexico.
 - Entity: Mexican Association of Embedded Software
- 14th National Congress of the Mexican Association of Mechatronics AC Participation: Organizing Committee Date: 15 to 17 of October 2015 Place: Juriquilla, Mexico. Entity: Mexican Association of Mechatronics AC
- 4. Circular@WUR: "Living within planetary boundaries" Participation: Presenter (poster) Poster Title: Development of a Model for the Implementation of the Circular Economy in Desert Coastal Regions Date: 11 to 13 de April 2022 Place: Wageningen, Netherlands. Entity: Wageningen University & Research
- 5. 30th European Biomass Conference and Exhibition (EUBCE2022) Participation: Presenter (poster) Poster Title: Modelling Study on the Co-Digestion of Nopal Cladodes with Farm Manures Date: 9 to 12 de May 2022 Place: Online Entity: ETA Florence Renewable Energies
- Biorefine Conference: "The role of biorefineries in European agriculture " Participation: Presenter (poster) Poster Title: Modelling And Characterization Of Internal Loop Air Lift Bioreactor Configurations Through Computational Fluid Dynamics Date: 30 to 31 May 2022

Place: Ghent, Belgium.
Entity: Gent University and Biorefine Cluster
25th Conference on Process Integration for Energy Saving and Pollution Reduction – (PRES'22)
Participation: Presenter (oral presentation)
Title: Modelling and Design of Optimal Internal Loop Air-Lift Reactor Configurations
Through Computational Fluid Dynamics
Date: 5 to 8 September 2022
Place: Bol, Croatia.
1st International Conference On Energy, Environment & Digital Transition (E2DT)
Participation: Presenter (oral presentation)
Title: Anaerobic Digestion as a Carbon Capture, Storage, and Utilization Technology
Date: 24 to 26 October 2022

- Place: Milan, Italia.
- 9. I Congreso Internacional de Biotecnología Ambiental y Economía Circular, Lima, Peru. Participation: Presenter (Keynote Speaker)
 Title: Aplicaciones Y Desarrollo De La Economía Circular
 Date: 6 to 7 December 2022
 Place: Cesar Vallejo University in Lima, Peru y online.
- Universidad de Sonora, Departamento de Ingeniería Industrial Participation: Presenter (Keynote Speaker) Title: Diseño, Fabricación, Ensamble Y Sincronización De Un Sistema Mecánico Para La Inspección Tomográfica Por Ultrasonido Date: 14 March 2023 Place: Universidad de Sonora in Hermosillo, Mexico.
- 11. 7th Minisymposium Verfahrenstechnik and the 8th Partikelforum
 - Participation: Presenter (oral presentation)

Title: Modelling of Multi-Stage Internal Loop Air Lift Bioreactor Utilizing Computational Fluid Dynamics

Date: 13 April 2023

Place: University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna (BOKU) in Vienna, Austria.